

~~Disclaimer: This copy of the Financial Services Rule Book 2009 has been updated by the Financial Supervision Commission (“FSC”) for the convenience of users of this website to include subsequent amendments to the Rule Book. The FSC accepts no liability for the accuracy of this updating. The updated version of the Rule Book is intended for guidance only and the following original legislation should be consulted for legal purposes: SD 881/10 – Financial Services (Amendment) Rule Book 2010~~

Appendix C

Statutory Document No. ~~737/09, as amended by SD 881/10~~



FINANCIAL SERVICES ACT 2008

FINANCIAL SERVICES RULE BOOK ~~2009~~2011

Contents

PART 1 – INTRODUCTORY

- 1.1 Title and commencement
- 1.2 Interpretation
- 1.3 Application
- 1.4 Confirmation of oral notification
- 1.5 Commencement of regulated activities
- 1.6 Returns to be submitted in English
- 1.7 Revocations

PART 2 – FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND REPORTING

Chapter 1 – General requirements for all licenceholders except professional officers and those only licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3)

- 2.1 Application
- 2.2 Annual reporting date
- 2.3 Notification of inability to comply
- 2.4 Reporting currency
- 2.5 Responsibility for returns
- 2.6 Misleading financial returns
- 2.7 Electronic reporting

Price £10.50

- 2.8 Annual financial statements
- 2.9 Annual financial return
- 2.10 Accounting standards
- 2.11 Accounts of parent and holding companies, ~~or~~ trusts or foundations
Chapter 2 – General requirements for all licenceholders incorporated in the Island
- 2.12 Application
- 2.13 Change of annual reporting date
- 2.14 Accounting records
- 2.15 Accounts of subsidiary and associated companies
- Chapter 3 – General requirements for all licenceholders incorporated outside the Island*
- 2.16 Application
- 2.17 Change of annual reporting date
- 2.18 Accounting records
- 2.19 Contents of annual financial return
Chapter 4 – Specific requirements for deposit takers incorporated in the Island
- 2.20 Application
- 2.21 Share capital
- 2.22 Charges
- 2.23 Capital resources
- 2.24 Deposit taking returns
- 2.25 Contents of annual financial return
- 2.26 Publication of annual financial statements
Chapter 5 – Specific requirements for deposit-takers incorporated outside the Island
- 2.27 Application
- 2.28 Deposit taking returns
- 2.29 Publication of annual financial statements
Chapter 6 – Specific requirements for incorporated investment businesses and CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers
- 2.30 Application
- 2.31 Solvency
- 2.32 Failure to comply with obligations
- 2.33 Financial commitments
- 2.34 Claims

2.35 Charges

Chapter 7 — Specific requirements for investment businesses, ~~and~~ CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers incorporated in the Island

2.36 Application

2.37 Financial resources requirements

2.38 Procedures and controls

2.39 Notification of actual or potential breach

2.40 Contents of annual financial return

Chapter 8 — Specific requirements for investment businesses, ~~and~~ CIS service providers ~~and e-money issuers~~ incorporated in the Island (except financial advisers and promoters)

2.41 Application

2.42 Interim financial returns

Chapter 9 — Specific requirements for stockbrokers incorporated in the Island

2.43 Application

2.44 Counterparty risk requirement (CRR)

Chapter 10 — Specific requirements for certain advisers and promoters, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers incorporated in the Island

2.45 Application

2.46 Monitoring of financial resources requirements

Chapter 11- Specific requirements for payment institutions and e-money issuers incorporated in the Island

2.47 Application

2.48 Turnover and financial resources

PART 3 — CLIENT MONEY, ~~AND~~ TRUST MONEY AND RELEVANT FUNDS

Chapter 1 — General requirements for investment business, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers (except professional officers) ~~and e-money issuers~~

3.1 Application

3.2 Interpretation: general

3.3 Meaning of "client money", ~~and~~ "trust money" ~~and "e-money float"~~

3.4 Meaning of "client bank account" and related expressions

3.5 General restriction on holding client money or trust money

3.6 Duty to hold client money separately

- 3.7 Client money information sheet
 - 3.8 Notification of receipt of client money in certain cases
 - 3.9 Account to be specified in cheques etc.
 - 3.10 Operation of client bank account
 - 3.11 Records to be kept by licenceholder
 - 3.12 Accounting for and use of client money
 - 3.13 Reconciliation
 - 3.14 Interest on client money
 - 3.15 Client money held on trust
 - 3.16 Pooling
 - 3.16A Default of bank — specified client bank accounts
 - 3.16B Default of bank — client free money accounts
 - 3.16C Default of bank — client settlement account
 - 3.17 Money held in overseas bank accounts
 - 3.18 No withdrawal in case of default
 - 3.19 Displacement of general law
- Chapter 2 — Specific client money requirements for investment business*
- 3.20 Application
 - 3.21 Accounts for margined transactions
 - 3.21A Client money requirement
 - 3.21B General transactions
 - 3.21C Equity balance
 - 3.21D Margined transaction requirement
 - 3.21E Reduced client money requirement option
 - 3.22 Accounts for client free money and settlement money
- Chapter 3 — Specific client money requirements for CIS service providers*
- 3.23 Application
 - 3.24 Subscription and redemption accounts
- Chapter 4 — Trust money requirements for trust service providers*
- 3.25 Application
 - 3.26 Duty to hold trust money separately
 - 3.27 Operation of trust bank account
 - 3.28 Accounting for and use of trust money

3.29 Reconciliation

Chapter 5 – Specific requirements for payment institutions and e-money issuers

3.30 Application

3.31 Interpretation

~~3.3132~~ Duty to ~~hold e-money float separately~~safeguard relevant funds

~~3.3233~~ ~~Operation of bank account~~Segregation

~~3.3334~~ ~~Accounting for and use of e-money float~~Payment accounts and sums received for the execution of payment transactions

~~3.3435~~ ~~Reconciliation~~Accounting for and use of relevant funds

~~3.3536~~ ~~Operation of bank account~~Reconciliation

3.37 Operation of segregated payment account

3.38 Disclosure

PART 4 – CLIENTS' INVESTMENTS

Chapter 1 – General

4.1 Application to investment businesses

4.2 Application to CIS service providers

4.3 Interpretation

4.4 Records of transactions

Chapter 2 – Safe-custody services

4.5 Records of safe-custody investments

4.6 Use of custodians

4.7 Registrable investments

4.8 Reconciliation of investments and title documents

4.9 Periodical statements

4.10 Borrowing from a client

4.11 Loans of investments

4.12 Investments etc. held as collateral

Chapter 3 – Safekeeping of title documents

4.13 Safekeeping of clients' title documents

4.14 Safekeeping by other persons

PART 5 – AUDIT

Chapter 1 – General requirements for licenceholders incorporated in the Island

5.1 Application

5.2 Appointment of auditors

- 5.3 Suitability of auditor
- 5.4 Requirements for auditors
- 5.5 Engagement letter
- 5.6 Audit of annual financial statements
- 5.7 Notification
- 5.8 Management letter
- 5.9 Rights of auditor
- 5.10 Contents of audit reports
- 5.11 Meaning of 'auditor' for purposes of section 17 of Act

Chapter 2 – General requirements for licenceholders incorporated outside the Island

- 5.12 Application
- 5.13 Appointment of auditors
- 5.14 Management letter

Chapter 3 – Specific requirements for all deposit takers

- 5.15 Application
- 5.16 Auditor's letter regarding returns

Chapter 4 – Specific requirements for deposit takers incorporated in the Island

- 5.17 Application
- 5.18 Auditor's letter - additional requirements

Chapter 5 – Specific requirements for all incorporated investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers

- 5.19 Application
- 5.20 Auditor's letter

Chapter 6 – Specific requirements for investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers incorporated in the Island

- 5.21 Application
- 5.22 Auditor's letter – additional requirements

PART 6 – CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

Chapter 1 – General requirements for all licenceholders

- 6.1 Application
- 6.2 Skill, care and diligence
- 6.3 Responsible behaviour in dealings by officers etc.
- 6.4 Responsible behaviour

- 6.5 Introductions to overseas branches etc.
- 6.6 Action likely to bring Island into disrepute
- 6.7 Integrity and fair dealing
- 6.8 Informed decisions
- 6.9 Independence
- 6.10 Gifts and other benefits
- 6.11 Remuneration
- 6.12 Conflicts of interest — general
- 6.13 Advertisements — general
- 6.14 Reference to licensing
- 6.15 ~~Details~~display of licence

Chapter 2 — General requirements for deposit takers

- 6.16 Application
- 6.17 Reference to compensation scheme (and other protection arrangements) in advertisements
- 6.17A Reference to group ownership

Chapter 3 — General requirements for all investment businesses

- 6.18 Application
- 6.18A Execution only and limited advice
- 6.19 Recommendations which may benefit licenceholder
- 6.20 Churning
- 6.21 Valuation of investments which are not marketable
- 6.22 Front running
- 6.23 Fairness in allocation
- 6.24 Distribution of transactions among clients
- 6.25 Skill, care and diligence
- 6.26 Prompt and timely execution
- 6.27 Best execution
- 6.28 Fairness with research or analysis
- 6.29 Knowledge of client
- 6.30 Suitability
- 6.31 Life policies and collective investment schemes
- 6.32 Restriction on authority conferred by product companies
- 6.33 Dealings by employees on own account

- 6.34 Disclosure and information
- 6.35 Understanding of risk
- 6.36 Disclosure of product particulars
- 6.37 Disclosure of conflicts of interest
- 6.38 General need for client agreement or terms of business
- 6.39 Retail and other investors
- 6.40 Contents of client agreement or terms of business— general
- 6.41 Contents of client agreement with retail investor
- 6.42 Discretionary management agreement
- 6.43 Compliance with client agreement
- 6.44 Periodical information
- 6.45 Penalty on termination
- 6.46 Risk warning – futures, options and contracts for differences
- 6.47 Contracts to be on-exchange
- 6.48 Liability in respect of margins
- 6.49 Contract note etc

Chapter 4 – Specific requirements for CIS service providers

- 6.50 Application and interpretation
- 6.51 Interests of scheme to be paramount
- 6.52 Observance of terms of scheme particulars
- 6.53 Valuation of investments which are not marketable
- 6.54 Participants to be treated fairly
- 6.55 Material interests
- 6.56 Forecasts of future income
- 6.57 Information to be supplied by tied agents
- 6.58 Requirement for written functionary agreement
- 6.59 Services for overseas schemes
- 6.60 Contract note etc
- 6.61 This rule has been moved to 6.75

Chapter 5 – General requirements for all corporate service and trust service providers (except professional officers), payment institutions and e-money issuers

- 6.62 Application
- 6.63 Client agreement or terms of business

Chapter 6 — Specific requirements for corporate service providers (except professional officers)

- 6.64 Application
- 6.65 Nominee shareholders or members
- 6.66 Resignation of licenceholder
- 6.67 Compliance by clients

Chapter 7 — Specific requirements for trust service providers (except professional officers)

- 6.68 Application
- 6.69 Resignation of licenceholder

Chapter 8 — Specific requirements for payment institutions and e-money issuers

- 6.70 Application
- 6.71 ~~E-money~~ Agents
- 6.72 Issue and rRedemption of e-money
- 6.73 ~~Agents~~ Prohibition of interest in respect of e-money

Chapter 9 — General requirements for all investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers (except professional officers) and ~~e-money issuer~~ those licensed to carry on any activity of Class 8

- 6.74 Application
- 6.75 Provision of statistical information

PART 7 — ADMINISTRATION

- 7.1 Application
- 7.2 Change of name or address
- 7.2A Registration of business name
- 7.3 Changes in capital structure
- 7.3A Re-registration and redomiciliation
- 7.4 Changes in ownership
- 7.5 Acquisition etc. of business
- 7.6 Sale or disposal of business
- 7.7 Acquisition of shares of company
- 7.7A Options over capital of company
- 7.8 Subsidiaries etc.
- 7.9 New appointments and departures from office
- 7.9A Appointments in exceptional circumstances
- 7.9B References

- 7.10 Staff disciplinary action
- 7.11 Disqualification as a director etc.
- 7.12 Service of notice etc.
- 7.13 Criminal proceedings and convictions
- 7.14 Surrender of licence
- 7.15 Cessation of regulated activities
- 7.16 Bankruptcy, winding up, etc.
- 7.17 Voluntary winding up
- 7.18 Legal proceedings – deposit takers
- 7.19 Legal proceedings – investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers
- 7.20 Criminal proceedings against client – corporate and trust service providers
- 7.21 Notification of default – deposit takers

PART 8 – RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Chapter 1 – General requirements

- 8.1 Application
- 8.2 Interpretation
- 8.3 Corporate governance
- 8.4 Management controls
- 8.5 Compliance with obligations
- 8.5A Continuing professional development ("CPD")
- 8.6 Risk management
- 8.7 Conflicts of interest policy
- 8.8 Conflicts of interest register
- 8.9 Business plan
- 8.9A Contractual arrangements for management and administration
- 8.10 Changes to activities, services or products
- 8.11 Business resumption and contingency arrangements
- 8.12 Business continuity
- 8.13 Delegation of function, outsourcing or inward-outsourcing
- 8.14 Breaches of regulatory requirements
- 8.15 Fraud or dishonesty

- 8.16 Investigation of member's conduct by professional body
- 8.17 Matters to be notified – general
- 8.18 Compliance officer and money laundering reporting officer/countering the financing terrorism officer
- 8.19 Functions of compliance officer
- 8.20 Isle of Man resident directors
- 8.21 Isle of Man resident officers
- 8.22 Absence of Isle of Man resident officers
- 8.23 Company secretary
- 8.24 Systems and controls for record keeping
- 8.25 Clients' records
- 8.26 Records kept by third parties
- 8.27 Relations with regulators
- 8.28 Compliance returns
- 8.29 Complaints

Chapter 2 – Specific requirements for all deposit takers

- 8.30 Application
- 8.31 Risk management policies

Chapter 3 – Specific requirements for deposit takers incorporated in the Island

- 8.32 Application
- 8.33 Corporate governance
- 8.34 Credit risk policy
- 8.35 Large exposures policy
- 8.36 Large exposure management
- 8.37 Calculation of exposures
- 8.38 Exempt exposures
- 8.39 Arrears and provisions policy for bad and doubtful debts
- 8.40 Liquidity policy
- 8.41 Liquidity management
- 8.42 Foreign exchange risk
- 8.43 Interest rate risk
- 8.44 Annual review of certain policies
- 8.45 Capital charge for operational risk

Chapter 4 – Specific requirements for deposit takers incorporated outside the Island

- 8.46 Application
- 8.47 Credit risk policy
- 8.48 Large exposures
- 8.49 Arrears and provisions policy for bad and doubtful debts
- 8.50 Liquidity policy
- 8.51 Liquidity management
- 8.52 Foreign exchange risk
- 8.53 Interest rate risk

Chapter 5 – Specific requirements for investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers (except professional officers) and e-money issuers

- 8.54 Professional indemnity insurance
- 8.55 Retention of client records
- 8.56 Inspection of records
- 8.57 Pricing errors
- 8.57A Notification of suspension or liquidation of a scheme
- 8.58 Provision of officers

PART 9 – PROFESSIONAL OFFICERS

- 9.1 Application
- 9.2 Interpretation
- 9.3 Relations with regulators
- 9.4 Skill, care and responsible behaviour
- 9.5 Action likely to bring the Island into disrepute
- 9.6 Independence
- 9.7 Advertisements - general
- 9.8 Reference to licensing
- 9.9 ~~Details~~isplay of licence
- 9.10 Business agreement
- 9.11 Client money
- 9.12 Business governance and controls
- 9.13 ~~Internal controls~~This rule has been merged with rule 9.12
- 9.14 This rule has been deleted
- 9.15 Compliance

- 9.16 Business Plan
- 9.17 Change of name or address
- 9.18 Annual reporting date
- 9.19 Compliance returns
- 9.20 Provision of statistical information
- 9.21 Appointment of alternate directors
- 9.22 ~~Introductions to overseas businesses etc~~ This rule has been deleted
- 9.23 Risk management
- 9.24 Systems and controls for record keeping
- 9.25 Conflicts of interest
- 9.26 Complaints
- 9.27 Business resumption and contingency arrangements
- 9.28 Professional insurance
- 9.29 Breaches of regulatory requirements
- 9.30 Matters to be notified - general
- 9.31 Surrender of licence
- 9.32 Cessation of regulated activities
- 9.33 Resignation of professional officer as a director
- 9.34 Resignation of professional officer as trustee, protector or enforcer
- 9.35 Investigation of members conduct by professional body
- 9.36 Disqualification as a director etc.
- 9.37 Notice of action etc
- 9.38 Legal proceedings
- 9.39 Criminal proceedings and convictions
- 9.40 Bankruptcy, ~~winding up,~~ etc
- 9.41 Fraud or ~~dishonesty~~ serious mismanagement

Schedule 1.1 – Interpretation

Schedule 2.1 – Deposit Taking Returns

Schedule 2.2 – Minimum Share Capital Requirement etc.

Schedule 2.3 – Financial Resources Statement

Schedule 2.4 — Calculation of Counterparty Risk Requirement

Schedule 3.1 — Client Money Information Sheet

Schedule 6.1 — Personal account notice

Schedule 6.2 — Risk disclosure statement

Schedule 8.1 — Annual compliance return for all licenceholders except professional officers

Schedule 9.1 — Annual compliance return for professional officers

~~Schedule 10—Revocations~~

FINANCIAL SERVICES ACT 2008

FINANCIAL SERVICES RULE BOOK ~~2009~~2011

Approved by Tynwald ~~17 November 2011~~09

Coming into operation 1st January 201~~2~~0

The Financial Supervision Commission, after carrying out the consultations required by section 44(5) of the Financial Services Act 2008¹, makes this Rule Book under section 18 of, and Schedule 3 to, that Act.

PART 1 – INTRODUCTORY

1.1 Title and commencement

This is the Financial Services Rule Book 20~~11~~09 and it comes into operation on 1st January 201~~2~~0.

1.2 Interpretation

- (1) In this Rule Book—
"the Act" means the Financial Services Act 2008;
"the Order" means the Regulated Activities Order 20~~11~~09²;
- (2) References in this Rule Book to—
 - (a) a class of regulated activities are to regulated activities of a class specified in Schedule 1 to the Order;
 - (b) a numbered class, or to a numbered paragraph of such a class, are to the class of regulated activities so numbered in Schedule 1 to the Order, or to the paragraph so numbered of that class, as the case may be.
- (3) Other expressions in this Rule Book have the meanings given by Schedule 1.1.
- (4) Any note in a Schedule to this Rule Book shall be construed as part of that Schedule.

¹ 2008 c.8

² SD ~~738/09~~

1.3 Application

- (1) This Rule Book applies to every licenceholder from 1st January ~~2010~~2012.
- (2) Subject to paragraph 1, where a provision of this Rule Book is stated to apply to a licenceholder licensed to carry on regulated activities of a specified description, that provision applies –
 - (a) except where otherwise expressly provided;
 - (b) only so far as applicable;
 - (c) only in relation to regulated activities of that description; and
 - (d) in the case of a licenceholder incorporated in a country or territory outside the Island, only in relation to regulated activities carried on in or from the Island.
- (3) Requirements in this Rule Book are in addition to those under other legislation, including companies legislation, and compliance with other legislation will not of itself satisfy the requirements in this Rule Book.

1.4 Confirmation of oral notification

Where a licenceholder–

- (a) is required by any provision of this Rule Book to notify the Commission of any matter, and
- (b) notifies the Commission orally of that matter,

that requirement shall not be taken to have been complied with unless the notification is confirmed in writing within 24 hours after it is given.

1.5 Commencement of regulated activities

Where a licenceholder has not commenced regulated activities within four months of the date of grant of its licence, it must notify the Commission of this fact within 10 business days after the end of the four month period.

1.6 Returns to be submitted in English

Where a licenceholder is required to submit returns or supply information to the Commission, such returns or information must be submitted in English.

1.67 Revocations

The Financial Services Rule Book 2009³ and the Financial Services (Amendment) Rule Book 2010⁴ are ~~legislation specified in Schedule 10~~ is revoked.

MADE ~~15th October 2009~~

Commissioner

Chief Executive

³ SD737/09

⁴ SD881/10

PART 2 – FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND REPORTING

*Chapter 1 – General requirements for all licenceholders
except professional officers and those only licensed to carry on activities
falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3)*

2.1 Application

- (1) With the exception of rule 2.2 ~~This Chapter applies to all licenceholders other than~~ does not apply to -
- (a) those who are only ~~also~~ licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3); and
 - (b) individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of—
 - (i) paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company); and
 - (ii) paragraph (2) ~~or~~ (5) or (6) of Class 5 (acting as trustee ~~or~~ protector or enforcer).
- (2) Subject to paragraph (1) Rule 2.2.2 ~~Rule 2.2.2~~ applies to all licenceholders except those in paragraph 1(b).
- (3) This rule has been revoked.

Formatted: F

2.2 Annual reporting date

A licenceholder must notify the Commission of its annual reporting date.

2.3 Notification of inability to comply

A licenceholder must notify the Commission immediately where it has reason to believe that—

- (a) it will be unable to make a financial return; or
- (b) it will be unable to comply, or to demonstrate compliance, with any provision of this Part as a result of a failure in accounting systems.

2.4 Reporting currency

Any financial return made by a licenceholder must be expressed in sterling, unless the licenceholder has obtained the Commission's prior approval to report in another currency.

2.5 Responsibility for returns

Any person who is a responsible officer or an Isle of Man resident officer in relation to a licenceholder is responsible for the completeness and accuracy of any financial return made to the Commission by or in respect of the licenceholder.

2.6 Misleading financial returns

A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it has reason to believe that any financial return previously made by it to the Commission was or has become misleading in any material respect.

2.7 Electronic reporting

- (1) A financial return must be made to the Commission—
 - (a) by such method of electronic communication as the Commission may reasonably require, or
 - (b) such other method of communication as the Commission may approve.
- (2) Paragraph (1) does not apply to—
 - (a) a licenceholder's annual financial return referred to in rule ~~2.92.9~~; or
 - (b) any annual accounts of a parent company, holding company, subsidiary or associated company referred to in rule ~~2.112.11~~ or ~~2.152.15~~.
- (3) In paragraph (1) "electronic communication" has the same meaning as in the Electronic Transactions Act 2000.

2.8 Annual financial statements

- (1) References in this Part to the annual financial statements of—
 - (a) a licenceholder,
 - (b) a company, [trust or foundation](#) of which a licenceholder is a subsidiary, or
 - (c) a subsidiary or associated company of a licenceholder,shall be construed in accordance with this rule.
- (2) Subject to paragraph (3), the annual financial statements of a person referred to in paragraph (1) comprise one or more statements in monetary terms of the results of the transactions of—

- (a) that person, or
 - (b) if the Commission so directs, that person and its subsidiaries,
over a year ending on its annual reporting date.
- (3) Those statements—
- (a) must include—
 - (i) a balance sheet as at that date, and
 - (ii) a profit and loss account or income statement for that year;
of that person, or that person and its subsidiaries, as the case may be;
 - (b) may relate to a period other than a year where permitted by rule 2.92.9(3); and
 - (c) must be prepared according to—
 - (i) the standards required by the law of the country or territory in which that person is incorporated, if that law requires them to comply with accounting standards;
 - (ii) otherwise, the standards referred to in rule 2.102.10.

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

2.9 Annual financial return

- (1) A licenceholder must provide to the Commission an annual financial return as soon as it is available, and in any case, within 4 months of the licenceholder's annual reporting date.
- (2) The annual financial return must comprise—
 - (a) (i) for Class 1 licenceholders incorporated outside the Island, the licenceholder's ~~unconsolidated~~ audited annual financial statements ~~for the period to which the return relates; or~~
 - (ii) for all other licenceholders, the licenceholder's unconsolidated audited annual financial statements,
for the period to which the return relates, and
- (b) such other statements (if any) as are required by the following provisions of this Part.

- (3) The period to which the annual financial return relates must be the year ending on the licenceholder's annual reporting date, unless—
 - (a) it is the licenceholder's first annual financial return, in which case the period shall be the period (not being more than 18 months) beginning with the date the licenceholder began trading and ending on its annual reporting date; or
 - (b) the licenceholder's annual reporting date has changed since the previous annual financial return, in which case the period shall be such period (not being more than 18 months) beginning on a previous annual reporting date and ending on the new annual reporting date.
- (4) The annual financial statements provided under paragraph (2)(a) must be originals signed by the auditor or a copy of such originals.
- (5) Where the licenceholder is licensed to carry on Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4) regulated activity, the balance sheet must account for relevant funds held in segregated payment accounts separately from any operating funds that it holds.

2.10 Accounting standards

Except where otherwise provided, any financial return which is required by this Rule Book to be submitted to the Commission must be prepared in accordance with either—

- (a) any applicable Financial Reporting Standards issued or adopted from time to time by the Accounting Standards Board in the United Kingdom;
- (b) the Statement of Recommended Practice; or
- (c) any International Financial Reporting Standards published from time to time by the International Accounting Standards Board.

2.11 Accounts of parent and holding companies, ~~or~~ trusts or foundations

- (1) Where a licenceholder is a subsidiary of another company ("the parent company") or is owned directly or ultimately by a trust or foundation, it must provide to the Commission the audited annual financial statements of—
 - (a) the parent company; and

- (b) any company which is a holding company of the parent company; or
 - (c) the trust or foundation,
as soon as they become available, and in any case, within 6 months of the licenceholder's annual reporting date.
- (2) Those statements must be audited—
- (a) in accordance with the law of the country or territory in which the parent company or holding company (as the case may be), trust or foundation is incorporated or established, if they are required by that law to be audited;
 - (b) otherwise, as if they were the annual financial statements of the licenceholder.
- (3) The statements provided under paragraph (1) must be originals signed-verified by the auditor or a copy of such originals.

Chapter 2 – General requirements for all licenceholders incorporated in the Island

2.12 Application

- (1) This Chapter ~~does not~~ applies y to all licenceholders incorporated in the Island.
- (2) ~~Subject-Despite~~ paragraph (1), rule 2.153 does not applies to all licenceholders which are incorporated in the Island. those who are only licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3).
- (3) This rule has been revoked.

2.13 Change of annual reporting date

A licenceholder may not change its annual reporting date without the prior consent in writing of the Commission.

2.14 Accounting records

- (1) A licenceholder must keep such accounting records in the Island as are necessary accurately to show at any time—
 - (a) the financial position of the licenceholder's business, and
 - (b) whether the licenceholder complies with any applicable provisions of this Part relating to its financial resources.

- (2) A licenceholder must preserve its accounting records for at least 6 years beginning with the date on which they are made.
- (3) Where a licence is surrendered or revoked, the licenceholder must preserve its accounting records for at least 6 years beginning with the date of surrender or revocation.
- (4) A licenceholder must notify the Commission of the method of storage and location of any records required by this rule to be preserved at least 20 business days prior to the surrender of its licence.
- (5) The requirements of this rule are without prejudice to the requirements of any other statutory provision.

2.15 Accounts of subsidiary and associated companies

- (1) A licenceholder's annual financial return must include (in addition to the audited annual financial statements mentioned in rule ~~2.92.9~~(2)(a)) the latest audited annual financial statements of—
 - (a) any subsidiary of the licenceholder, and
 - (b) any associated company of the licenceholder,except a company which the licenceholder's auditor is satisfied has not traded in the financial year in question.
- (2) Those financial statements must be audited—
 - (a) in accordance with the law of the country or territory in which the subsidiary or associated company (as the case may be) is incorporated, if they are required by that law to be audited;
 - (b) otherwise, as if they were the annual financial return of the licenceholder.
- (3) The financial statements provided under paragraph (1) must be originals signed by the auditor or a copy of such originals.
- (4) In this rule—

"subsidiary" does not include a shelf company;

"shelf company" means a company which —

 - (a) has been formed and maintained by a licenceholder in the course of regulated activities falling within Class 4 or Class 5 with the intention that it should at some time be transferred to a client, and

Formatted: F

- (b) has not carried on any activity.

Chapter 3— General requirements for all licenceholders incorporated outside the Island

2.16 Application

- (1) This Chapter ~~does not apply~~ to ~~any~~ licenceholders ~~incorporated outside the Island. in relation to activities falling within Class 8.~~
- (2) ~~Despite~~Subject to paragraph (1), ~~this rule 2.19 does not Chapter apply to those who are only licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3). ies to all licenceholders which are incorporated outside the Island.~~

2.17 Change of annual reporting date

Without prejudice to rule ~~2.22.2~~, a licenceholder must notify the Commission before changing its annual reporting date.

Formatted: F

2.18 Accounting records

- (1) A licenceholder must keep such accounting records in the Island as are necessary accurately to show its operations in or from the Island at any time.
- (2) A licenceholder must preserve its accounting records for at least 6 years beginning with the date on which they are made.
- (3) Where a licence is surrendered or revoked, the licenceholder must preserve its accounting records for at least 6 years beginning with the date of surrender or revocation.
- (4) A licenceholder must notify the Commission of the method of storage and location of any records required by this rule to be preserved at least 20 business days prior to the surrender of its licence.
- (5) The requirements of this rule are without prejudice to the requirements of any other statutory provision.

2.19 Contents of annual financial return

A licenceholder's annual financial return must include (in addition to the annual financial statements mentioned in rule ~~2.92.9~~(2)(a)) a detailed profit and loss account in respect of its operations in or from the Island.

Formatted: F

Chapter 4 – Specific requirements for deposit takers incorporated in the Island

2.20 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1 which are incorporated in the Island.

2.21 Share capital

The paid-up share capital of a licenceholder must not be less than £3,500,000 sterling or its equivalent in another currency.

2.22 Charges

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission before—
 - (a) creating any charge on any of its assets, or
 - (b) entering into an agreement by virtue of which such a charge may be created.
- (2) A notification under paragraph (1) must be made—
 - (a) if practicable, not less than 20 business days before the charge is created or the agreement is entered into, as the case may be; or
 - (b) otherwise, as soon as practicable.

2.23 Capital resources

- (1) A licenceholder must by its directors—
 - (a) establish and maintain an internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business, and
 - (b) review that process annually.
- (2) A licenceholder must not at any time permit its risk-asset ratio to fall below the minimum risk-asset ratio.
- (3) A licenceholder must immediately notify the Commission if at any time it has reason to believe that its risk-asset ratio is or may fall below the minimum risk-asset ratio.
- (4) A licenceholder must by its directors—
 - (a) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the requirements of paragraph (3), and
 - (b) review those procedures annually.

- (5) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with details of—
 - (a) its internal capital adequacy assessment process,
 - (b) the procedures referred to in paragraph (4)(a), and
 - (c) any substantial amendment of it or them,within 20 business days of the approval by the directors of the process, procedures or amendment.
- (6) In this rule, in relation to a licenceholder, "minimum risk-asset ratio" means—
 - (a) such risk-asset ratio as the Commission may direct in the case of that licenceholder;
 - (b) where no such direction is given, 8 per cent.

2.24 Deposit taking returns

- (1) The licenceholder must prepare the following deposit taking returns ("set of deposit taking returns") as at each quarter end—
 - Form SR-1A Balance Sheet Assets, Liabilities and Off Balance Sheet Items return
 - Form SR-1B Credit Risk return
 - Form SR-1C Operational Risk return
 - Form SR-2A Capital, Current Period's Profit and Loss, Provisions and Non-performing Assets return
 - Form SR-2B Large Exposures Reporting return
 - Form SR-2C Risk Asset Ratio and Memorandum Items return
 - Form SR-3A Liquidity Risk return
 - Form SR-3B Interest Rate Risk return
 - Form SR-4 Market Risk (FX and gold, commodities) and Settlement Risk return.
- (2) The licenceholder must prepare an additional set of deposit taking returns as at its annual accounting date if this does not fall on a quarter-end.
- (3) The licenceholder must submit every set of deposit taking returns prepared under paragraph (1) or (2) to the Commission within one month of the date to which it relates.
- (4) The deposit taking returns must contain the information specified in Schedule 2.1.

2.25 Contents of annual financial return

(1) A licenceholder's annual financial return must include (in addition to the annual financial statements mentioned in rule ~~2.92.9~~(2)(a))—

- (a) a statement detailing the calculation of its large exposures capital base as at its annual reporting date;
- (b) a detailed profit and loss account relating to its own transactions (if not included in the annual financial statements); and
- (c) a statement providing a reconciliation of all material differences between—
 - (i) the set of deposit taking returns as at its annual reporting date, and
 - (ii) the balance sheet and profit and loss account.

(2) The ~~balance sheet~~annual financial statements mentioned in rule ~~2.92.9~~(2)(a) must include in the notes to those financial statements or have annexed to it—

(a) an analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity date in ~~the following~~ time bands, separately identifying deposit liabilities and placings with deposit takers;—

From	less than
Sight	8 days
8 days	1 month
1 month	3 months
3 months	6 months
6 months	12 months
12 months	3 years
3 years	5 years
5 years	—

- (b) the gross amount of all loans and advances due from intra-group companies;
- (c) the gross amount of all loans and advances due from, and guarantee commitments entered into on behalf of:-
 - (i) shareholders; and

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

- (ii) directors and managers;
 - (d) in respect of large exposures otherwise than to deposit takers, the number and total value of exposures which individually exceed 10% of the total of the large exposures capital base, loans to related parties being aggregated.
- (3) The profit and loss account mentioned in rule 2.9(2)(b) must include (or have annexed to it) statements of—
- (a) total income for the year;
 - (b) interest income and expenditure; and
 - (c) the effect on the profit and loss account of provisions for bad and doubtful debts, separately identifying amounts charged against the current year's income for amounts written off and provisions and any credit for releases of existing provisions, recoveries etc.

2.26 Publication of annual financial statements

- (1) Within 4 months of its annual reporting date, a licenceholder must—
- (a) make its audited annual financial statements available for public inspection in the Island;
 - (b) display a notice in its registered office and all other offices in the Island stating that—
 - (i) a copy of its latest audited balance sheet together with the last auditor's report (as it appears in the audited annual financial statements) may be inspected by any person on demand, and
 - (ii) copies are available to be taken away;
 - (c) make its annual financial statements available for public inspection on its website. If the licenceholder does not have a website, the annual financial statements must be made available on the most appropriate website of the group.
- (2) In addition to the annual financial statements referred to in paragraph 1(a), a licenceholder may make abridged financial statements available for inspection.
- (3) The annual financial statements in paragraph 1(c) may take the form of abridged financial statements.

- (4) Any abridged statements made available under paragraphs (2) or (3) must contain the following information as a minimum –
- (a) a Balance Sheet identifying separately –
- Liabilities
- Paid up element of issued share capital
 - Revenue reserves
 - Subordinated loans
 - Deposit liabilities
 - All other liabilities
 - Total liabilities
- Assets
- Money market assets, differentiating between intra-group and others
 - Loans
 - Investments
 - Intangible assets
 - Fixed assets
 - All other assets
 - Total assets
- (b) a note of any contingent liabilities;
- (c) the names of the directors and secretary;
- (d) the immediate and ultimate holding company of the licenceholder;
- (e) any subsidiaries of the licenceholder;
- (f) the registered office;
- (g) the auditor's report;
- (h) a note that a copy of the full audited financial statements is available upon request (specifying any fee that will be charged).

Chapter 5 – Specific requirements for deposit takers incorporated outside the Island

2.27 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1 which are incorporated outside the Island.

2.28 Deposit taking returns

- (1) The licenceholder must prepare the following deposit-taking returns (“set of deposit-taking returns”) as at each quarter end—
 - Form SR-1A Balance Sheet Assets, Liabilities and Off Balance Sheet Items return
 - Form SR-2A Capital, Current Period’s Profit and Loss, Provisions and Non-performing Assets return (the licenceholder shall not complete the section on capital)
 - Form SR-2B Large Exposures Reporting return
 - Form SR-2C Risk Asset Ratio and Memorandum Items return (the licenceholder shall not complete the section on risk-asset ratio)
 - Form SR-3A Liquidity Risk return
- (2) The licenceholder must prepare an additional set of deposit taking returns as at its annual accounting date if this does not fall on a quarter-end.
- (3) The licenceholder must submit every set of deposit taking returns prepared under paragraph (1) or (2) to the Commission within one month of the date to which it relates.
- (4) The deposit taking returns must contain the information specified in Schedule 2.1.

2.29 Publication of annual financial statements

- (1) Within 4 months of its annual reporting date, the licenceholder must—
 - (a) make its audited annual financial statements available for public inspection in the Island;
 - (b) display a notice in all its offices in the Island stating that—

- (i) a copy of the latest audited balance sheet of the licenceholder together with the last auditor's report (as it appears in the audited annual financial statements) may be inspected by any person on demand, and
 - (ii) copies are available to be taken away;
 - (c) make its annual financial statements available for public inspection on its website. If the licenceholder does not have a website, the annual financial statements must be made available on the most appropriate website of the group.
- (2) In addition to the financial statements referred to in paragraph 1(a), a licenceholder may make abridged financial statements available for public inspection.
 - (3) The annual financial statements in paragraph 1(c) may take the form of abridged financial statements.
 - (4) Paragraph (4) of rule ~~2.262-26~~ applies to abridged statements made available under paragraphs (2) and (3).

Formatted: F

Chapter 6 – Specific requirements for incorporated investment businesses and CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers

2.30 Application

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2) this Chapter applies to all incorporated licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5, Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4) other than those who are also licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 1.
- (2) Rules 2.31 and 2.32 apply to incorporated licenceholders who are only licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3).

~~This Chapter applies to all incorporated licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5 or Class 6 other than those who are also licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 1.~~

2.31 Solvency

A licenceholder must ensure that at all times it is able to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

2.32 Failure to comply with obligations

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it has reason to believe that it will be unable to make a payment to a creditor on the date that the payment is due.
- (2) For the purpose of this rule—
 - (a) a payment under a contract is due on the date on which it is payable in accordance with the terms of the contract;
 - (b) a payment under a transaction subject to the rules of an exchange or clearing house is due on the date on which it is payable under those rules.

2.33 Financial commitments

- (1) A licenceholder must not give any guarantee, indemnity or other commitment (other than one entered into in the ordinary course of its business) without the consent of the Commission.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware that any guarantee, indemnity or other commitment given by the licenceholder may result in a claim notifiable under rule 2.342.34.
- (3) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of —
 - (a) any guarantee, indemnity or other commitment given in respect of the licenceholder by another member of the licenceholder's group in favour of an exchange;
 - (b) any contingent liability incurred by the licenceholder which might affect its ability to meet any of the requirements referred to in rule 2.372.37; and
 - (c) any change in information previously notified under paragraph (2) or this paragraph.

2.34 Claims

A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of any claim made in writing against the licenceholder where any amount claimed or disputed is likely to exceed the lower of—

- (a) £10,000; or
- (b) where applicable, 10% of the licenceholder's minimum net tangible asset requirement (specified in column 6 of Schedule 2.2).

2.35 Charges

- (1) A licenceholder must not without the consent of the Commission—
 - (a) create any charge on any of its assets, or
 - (b) enter into an agreement by virtue of which such a charge may be created.
- (2) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) notify the Commission as soon as a charge (other than one created with the consent of the Commission) has been registered against the licenceholder; and
 - (b) at the same time state whether the charge has an adverse impact on its financial resources.
- (3) For the avoidance of doubt, references in this rule to assets of a licenceholder do not include property held by the licenceholder as trustee of an express trust.

Chapter 7— Specific requirements for investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers incorporated in the Island

2.36 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5, ~~or Class 6~~ Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4) which are incorporated in the Island, other than those who are also licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 1.

2.37 Financial resources requirements

- (1) A licenceholder licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within a class, and the paragraphs of a class, specified in columns 1 and 2 of Schedule 2.2 must at all times comply with the following requirements—
 - (a) its issued share capital (including any paid-up share premium) must not be less than the corresponding amount specified as its minimum share capital requirement in column 5 of Schedule 2.2;
 - (b) its net tangible assets (calculated in accordance with Part A of Schedule 2.3) must not be less than the corresponding amount specified as its minimum net tangible asset requirement in column 6 of Schedule 2.2;

- (c) it must maintain liquid capital of an amount calculated in accordance with Part D of Schedule 2.3;
 - (d) Where the licenceholder is licensed to carry on Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4) regulated activity, relevant funds must not be included in the calculation of financial resources;
 - (e) Where the licenceholder is licensed to carry on Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4) regulated activity, any restricted funds may be included in the calculation of financial resources.
- (2) The requirements referred to in paragraph (1)(a) and (b) are subject to any qualification or exception specified in column 4 of Schedule 2.2.
- (3) Where the licenceholder carries on 2 or more regulated activities in respect of which different amounts are specified or calculated as mentioned in paragraph (1)(a), (b) or (c), the requirement in question shall be taken as relating to the highest amount so specified.

2.38 Procedures and controls

A licenceholder must maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the requirements of rule 2.372-37.

2.39 Notification of actual or potential breach

- (1) A licenceholder must immediately notify the Commission if at any time it has reason to believe that its net tangible assets—
- (a) are or may fall below the amount referred to in rule 2.372-37(1)(b); or
 - (b) without prejudice to sub-paragraph (a), are or may fall below 110% of that amount.
- (2) A licenceholder must immediately notify the Commission if at any time it has reason to believe that its liquid capital—
- (a) is or may fall below the amount referred to in rule 2.372-37(1)(c); or
 - (b) without prejudice to sub-paragraph (a), is or may fall below 110% of that amount.
- (3) When giving a notification under paragraph (1) or (2) the licenceholder must also provide the Commission with—
- (a) a full explanation of the circumstances, and

- (b) details of the steps that the licenceholder is taking or has taken to prevent a breach of rule ~~2.372.37~~ occurring or to remedy the breach, as the case may be.

2.40 Contents of annual financial return

- (1) A licenceholder's annual financial return must include (in addition to the annual financial statements mentioned in rule ~~2.92.9~~(2)(a))—

- (a) a financial resources statement which has been reviewed and verified by the auditor; and
- (b) where the profit and loss account included in the annual financial statements is not sufficient to verify the calculations in the statement referred to in sub-paragraph (a), a detailed unconsolidated profit and loss account of the licenceholder;
- (c) where there are differences between the statements referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) and whichever of the following is applicable —
 - (i) the interim financial returns required by rule ~~2.422.42~~, or
 - (ii) the calculations referred to in rule ~~2.462.46(b)~~,
a reconciliation identifying those differences and the reasons for them.

- (2) The statement referred to in paragraph (1)(a) must be prepared in accordance with Schedule 2.3.

Chapter 8 — Specific requirements for investment businesses ~~and~~ CIS service providers ~~and e-money issuers~~ incorporated in the Island (except financial advisers and promoters)

2.41 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2 ~~and~~ Class 3 ~~and~~ ~~Class 6~~ which are incorporated in the Island, other than—

- (a) those who are also licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 1, and
- (b) those licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of —

- (i) paragraphs (3) and (7) of Class 2 (advising on investments), and
- (ii) paragraph (8) of Class 3 (acting as promoter of collective investment scheme).

2.42 Interim financial returns

- (1) A licenceholder licensed to carry on activities only falling within paragraphs (3) and (6) of Class 2 (investment adviser to retirement benefit schemes) must prepare an unaudited interim financial return as at the end of the period 6 months after each annual reporting date and as at the annual reporting date.
- (2) Subject to paragraph (1), a licenceholder must prepare an unaudited interim financial return as at the end of each quarter.
- (3) The licenceholder must provide an interim financial return prepared under paragraphs (1) or (2) to the Commission as soon as it becomes available, and in any case, within one month after the end of the period to which it relates.
- (4) An interim financial return must comprise a statement in monetary terms of the results of the licenceholder's transactions over the period to which it relates, including—
 - (a) an unconsolidated balance sheet which shows the state of affairs of the licenceholder as at the end of the period to which it relates; and
 - (b) an unconsolidated, cumulative profit and loss account which shows the profit or loss of the licenceholder for the financial year to date; and
 - (c) a financial resources statement.
- (5) The statement referred to in paragraph (4)(c) must be prepared in accordance with Schedule 2.3, with any necessary modifications.
- (6) An interim financial return must be in sufficient detail to verify the calculations required by rule ~~2.372-37~~.

Chapter 9 – Specific requirements for stockbrokers incorporated in the Island

2.43 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on all the regulated activities falling within paragraphs (1) to (6) of Class 2 which

are incorporated in the Island, other than those who are also licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 1.

2.44 Counterparty risk requirement (CRR)

The calculation (as part of the financial resources requirements) of the licenceholder's liquid capital referred to in rule ~~2.372.37~~(1)(c) must include an item representing the risk that counterparties to transactions to which it is party could default before final settlement, calculated in accordance with Schedule 2.4.

Formatted: F

Chapter 10 – Specific requirements for certain advisers and promoters, corporate service ~~providers~~ and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers incorporated in the Island

2.45 Application

- (1) This Chapter applies to all licenceholders which are incorporated in the Island and are licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within the following paragraphs of Class 2—
 - (a) paragraphs (3) and (6) of Class 2 (investment adviser to retirement benefits schemes), or
 - (b) paragraphs (3) and (7) of Class 2 (financial adviser),
other than those who are also licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 1.
- (2) This Chapter also applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling with paragraph (8) of Class 3 (acting as promoter of collective investment scheme).
- (3) This Chapter also applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 4 or Class 5 which are incorporated in the Island, other than those who are also licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 1.
- (4) This Chapter also applies to all licenceholders which are incorporated in the Island and are licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within the following paragraphs of Class 8 –
 - (a) paragraph (1)(a) of Class 8 (payment services as a principal); and
 - (b) paragraph (4) of Class 8 (e-money issuer),
other than those who are also licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 1.

2.46 Monitoring of financial resources requirements

A licenceholder must –

- (a) evidence and document compliance with the requirements of rule ~~2.372-37~~ at least once in each quarter, and
- (b) if so required by the Commission, provide it with evidence of the calculations required for that purpose.

Formatted: Fo

Chapter 11 – Specific requirements for payment institutions and e-money issuers incorporated in the Island

2.47 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4) which are incorporated in the Island.

2.48 Turnover and financial resources

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission within 5 business days of its turnover reaching a new band requiring additional share capital and net tangible assets as specified in Schedule 2.2.
- (2) A licenceholder must confirm its compliance with the higher requirement within 20 business days of the notification in paragraph (1).

PART 3 – CLIENT MONEY, TRUST MONEY, ~~AND E-MONEY~~
~~FLOAT~~ AND RELEVANT FUNDS

*Chapter 1 – General requirements for investment business, CIS service,
corporate service and trust service providers (except professional officers);*
payment institutions and e-money issuers

3.1 Application

- (1) Where this Part applies to a licenceholder licensed to carry on an activity falling within Class 3 it does so with any necessary modifications, as if references to a client were references to a participant in such a scheme.
- (2) This Part does not apply to individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of—
 - (a) paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company); and
 - (b) paragraph (2), (5) or ~~(65)~~ of Class 5 (acting as trustee, ~~or~~ protector or enforcer).
- (3) This chapter applies to licenceholders licensed to carry on an activity falling within Class 2, Class 3, Class 4 or Class 5. ~~or Class 68(2).~~

3.2 Interpretation: general

- (1) In this Part —

"client" includes a client of the licenceholder and extends to a corporate trustee;

"client bank account", "general client bank account", "specified client bank account", "client free money account" and "client settlement account" have the meanings given by rule 3.4;

"client money" has the meaning given by rule 3.3;

~~"e-money float" has the meaning given by rule 3.3;~~

"money" means—

 - (a) legal tender in the Island or elsewhere, or
 - (b) anything which may be directly converted into legal tender,

and includes notes and coin, cheques, drafts and other bills of exchange, and funds held in electronic form;

"recognised bank" means an institution which is—

- (a) licensed by the Commission to carry on a regulated activity falling within Class 1;
- (b) a bank that is licensed under The Banking Supervision (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 1994 as amended or is registered under The Banking Business (Jersey) Law, 1991;
- (c) a bank which is supervised by the central bank or other banking regulator of a member state of the OECD;
- (d) a credit institution established in an EEA state and duly authorised by the relevant home state regulator;
- (e) a bank supervised by the South African Reserve Bank;
or
- (f) any other bank that—
 - (i) is subject to regulation by a national banking regulator;
 - (ii) is required to provide audited accounts annually;
 - (iii) has minimum net assets of £5 million (or its equivalent in any other currency at the relevant time) and has a surplus revenue over expenditure for the last 2 financial years; and
 - (iv) has an annual audit report which is not materially qualified;

and any reference in this Part to a bank is to a recognised bank;

"relevant agreement" means any agreement the making or performance of which by either party constitutes a regulated activity to which this Part applies;

"trust money" has the meaning given by rule 3.3.

3.3 Meaning of "client money" ~~and~~ "trust money" ~~and~~ "e-money float"

- (1) In this Rule Book—
 - (a) "client money" means money which, for the purpose or in the course of a regulated activity to which this Part applies, a licenceholder —
 - (i) holds or receives on behalf of a client; or
 - (ii) owes to a client;
 - (b) "trust money" means money, forming part or all of the assets of a trust, which, for the purpose or in the course of a regulated activity to which this Part applies, a licenceholder holds or receives as, or as agent or nominee

of, the trustee of that trust. Trust money held in a client bank account is client money.

~~;~~ and

~~(c) "e-money float" means the running balance of money held by an e-money issuer which represents payments for the issue of electronic value minus the amount of electronic value that has been redeemed and which is segregated from any account held by the e-money issuer which does not hold such monies.~~

(2) Where, for the purpose or in the course of a regulated activity to which this Part applies and which is carried on or to be carried on for a client, a licenceholder holds or receives (in the Island or elsewhere) money which is not immediately due and payable to the licenceholder for its own account, for the purpose of this rule it holds or receives that money on behalf of the client.

(3) Without prejudice to paragraph (2), where—

(a) a relevant agreement is in force between a licenceholder and a client, or

(b) the licenceholder expects to enter into a relevant agreement with or for a client,

and the licenceholder, or an agent on its behalf, holds or receives (in the Island or elsewhere) any money—

(i) which is not immediately due and payable on demand to the licenceholder for its own account; or

(ii) which, although so due and payable, is held or received in respect of any obligation of the licenceholder under the agreement which has not yet been performed,

for the purpose of this rule the licenceholder holds or receives that money on behalf of the client.

(4) For the purpose of this rule a licenceholder owes money to a client where it is due and payable to the client by the licenceholder or an agent on its behalf, whether demanded or not.

(5) Money ceases to be, or never becomes, client money if it is paid—

(a) to the client; or

- (b) into a bank or other account in the name of the client (not being an account which is also in the name of the licenceholder); or
- (c) otherwise at the direction of the client.

3.4 Meaning of "client bank account" and related expressions

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), in this Part—

"client bank account", in relation to a licenceholder, means an account held by the licenceholder at a recognised bank which is—

- (a) specially created by the licenceholder for the purpose of holding client money, and
- (b) segregated from any account holding money which is not client money;

"general client bank account" means a client bank account other than a specified client bank account which includes in its title the words "client account" or an acceptable abbreviation as detailed in rule 3.10;

"specified client bank account" means a client bank account—

- (a) where the specific bank has been—
 - (i) chosen by one or more clients and this choice is documented in writing; or
 - (ii) chosen by the licenceholder for one or more clients and the name of the bank together with the fact that the account is a specified client bank account has been notified by the licenceholder to the client(s) in writing;

and which holds, and is intended to hold, client money of that client or those clients and of no other client;

- (b) which is segregated from any account holding money which is not client money of that client or those clients; and
- (c) which includes in its title the words "specified client account" or an acceptable abbreviation as detailed in rule 3.10 ;

"client free money account" means a client bank account of a Class 2 licenceholder which is used solely for holding the free

money of its clients pending future investment (“clients’ free money”)-

- (a) where the specific bank has been —
 - (i) chosen by one or more clients and this is documented in writing; or
 - (ii) chosen by the licenceholder for one or more clients and the name of the bank has been notified by the licenceholder to the client(s) in writing;

and which holds, and is intended to hold, client money of that client or those clients and of no other client; and

- (b) which is segregated from any account holding money which is not client money of that client or those clients; and
- (c) which includes in its title the words “client free money account” or acceptable abbreviation as detailed in rule 3.10 ;

“client settlement account” means a client bank account of a Class 2 licenceholder which is used solely to hold the net balance required for the settlement of transactions for clients (“clients’ settlement money”) and which includes in its title the words “client settlement account” or acceptable abbreviation as detailed in rule 3.10 ;

"subscription and/or redemption account" means one or more specified client bank accounts which is segregated from any account holding money which is not held in respect of the sale or redemption, as the case may be, of units in—

- (a) the scheme in question, or
- (b) another scheme managed or administered by the same person; and

which includes in its title the words “client subscription and/or redemption account” or acceptable abbreviation as detailed in rule 3.10;

"trust bank account" means a bank account held by the trustee of a specified trust which—

- (a) holds, and is intended to hold, trust money of that trust (and no other money), and

- (b) is segregated from any account holding money which is not trust money of that trust.
- (2) An account is not a client bank account if—
 - (a) in the event of a failure of the licenceholder, it may be combined with any other account; or
 - (b) there is any right of set-off or counterclaim against it in respect of any debt owed by the licenceholder.

3.5 General restriction on holding client money or trust money

- (1) A licenceholder must not hold or receive client money or trust money except in accordance with the following provisions of this Part.
- (2) This rule applies to a branch of a licenceholder in a country or territory outside the Island except—
 - (a) the United Kingdom; or
 - (b) a country or territory which the Commission has notified to the licenceholder for the purpose of this rule as a country offering equivalent protection,as it applies to an establishment of the licenceholder within the Island.

3.6 Duty to hold client money separately

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), a licenceholder must pay all client money into either—
 - (a) a client bank account, or
 - (b) a bank account in the name of the client.
- (2) If a licenceholder is requested by a client to do so, it must pay client money of that client into a specified client bank account or inform the client that such accounts are not operated by the licenceholder.
- (3) Client money must be held on trust for the clients entitled to it.
- (4) Paragraphs (1) to (3) do not apply where—
 - (a) the licenceholder pays client money to, or by the written direction of, the client entitled to it; or
 - (b) client money is held or received in respect of a relevant agreement which is governed by a law other than the law of the Island, in which case the licenceholder must warn

the client in writing that his money may not be protected as effectively as it would be if those paragraphs applied.

3.7 Client money information sheet

- (1) This rule does not apply in relation to activities falling within Class 3.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide a client with a Client Money Information Sheet containing the information specified in Schedule 3.1 prior to accepting any client money for that client.
- (3) A licenceholder must retain evidence to show that it has complied with paragraph (2).

3.8 Notification of receipt of client money in certain cases

- (1) A licenceholder who receives client money in circumstances in which it is not authorised by the terms of its licence to receive such money must immediately pay the money into a client bank account.
- (2) The licenceholder must also, on the date of receipt or the next working day, notify the Commission of the facts, including—
 - (a) the reason for the receipt of the money,
 - (b) the action taken, and
 - (c) the arrangements for paying the client money out of the client bank account.

3.9 Account to be specified in cheques etc.

- (1) This rule applies where money—
 - (a) is or is to be paid to a licenceholder, and
 - (b) on receipt by the licenceholder is or will be client money.
- (2) The licenceholder must advise any person by whom the money is or is to be paid to make the relevant cheque or other instrument payable to either—
 - (a) the client entitled to the money, or
 - (b) a payee designated as follows—
 - (i) "[licenceholder] – client account"; or
 - (ii) "[licenceholder] – specified client account - [name of client(s)]";

- (c) in the case of an account in a country or territory outside the Island, a payee designated by such description in an official language of that country or territory as is equivalent to the appropriate wording in sub-paragraph (b).

3.10 Operation of client bank account

- (1) The title of the client bank account must include—
 - (a) the words "client account" (or "client a/c"); and
 - (b) where the account is a specified client bank account the word "specified", "spec.", "ref" or "re", together with the name or designation of the client; or
 - (c) where the account holds clients' free money or clients' settlement monies, the words "free money" or "frmony" or "settlement" or "sttlmt", as the case may be; or
 - (d) where the account is a client subscription and/or redemption account, the words "cl sub a/c"; "clred a/c " or "cl sub/red a/c", as the case may be; or
 - (e) in the case of an account in a country or territory outside the Island, such description in an official language of that country or territory as is equivalent to those words and abbreviations.
- (2) In the case of a specified client bank account or client free money account where the bank has been chosen by the licenceholder, the name of the bank together with the fact that the account is a specified client bank account must be notified to the client(s) within 5 business days of the account opening.
- (3) Subject to paragraph (4), the bank at which the account is held must acknowledge to the licenceholder in writing that —
 - (a) it understands that all money standing to the credit of all client bank accounts maintained by the licenceholder is held by the licenceholder as trustee and that the bank is not entitled to combine the account with any other account or to exercise any right of set-off or counterclaim against money in that account in respect of any debt owed to it by the licenceholder;
 - (b) interest earned on each such account will be credited to the account or to an account of the same type;
 - (c) the title of each such account—

- (i) is in the form requested by the licenceholder, and
- (ii) sufficiently distinguishes the account from any other account containing money belonging to the licenceholder;

and the licenceholder must supply, or arrange for the bank to supply, the Commission with a copy of the acknowledgement.

- (4) In the case of an account in a country or territory outside the Island, the licenceholder must either —
 - (a) ensure that the account is protected by segregation under trust or otherwise by statutory or other regulation, as effectively as it would be if held in a client bank account in the Island, or
 - (b) warn the client in writing that his money may not be protected as effectively as it would be if it were so held.
- (5) Except in the case of an account referred to in rule 3.22, the licenceholder must not allow a client bank account to become overdrawn.
- (6) Subject to rule 3.26, the licenceholder must not pay money which is not client money, or permit such money to be paid, into a client bank account unless it is required —
 - (a) to open or maintain the account; or
 - (b) to restore an amount withdrawn in error from the account.
- (7) If money paid to the licenceholder contains both client money and money which is not client money, the licenceholder must—
 - (a) pay the money into a client bank account, and
 - (b) as soon as the funds are cleared and the amount which is not client money is ascertained, withdraw that amount from the account.
- (8) The licenceholder must not withdraw money from a client bank account unless—
 - (a) it is not client money;
 - (b) it is properly required for payment to or on behalf of a client; or
 - (c) it is properly transferred to another client bank account or into a bank account in the client's own name.

- (9) The licenceholder must not withdraw for its own account any interest earned on a client bank account which is due to a client under rule 3.14.
- (10) The licenceholder must not withdraw money for or towards payment of its own fees or commission unless—
 - (a) the withdrawal is in accordance with the terms of a relevant agreement; or
 - (b) the amount is agreed by the client or finally determined by a court or arbitrator.

3.11 Records to be kept by licenceholder

- (1) The licenceholder must keep proper records of client money received, paid or held by it.
- (2) The records must in particular contain—
 - (a) a record of all receipts and payments, explaining their nature;
 - (b) entries from day to day of all receipts and payments, including interest if applicable;
 - (c) an up-to-date record of the balances on—
 - (i) all client bank accounts,
 - (ii) all accounts of the licenceholder with brokers and other persons (other than recognised banks) in which money is held which, if it were held by the licenceholder, would be client money; and
 - (iii) the licenceholder's ledger accounts relating to client money received, paid or held by it; and
 - (d) such further details as are reasonably necessary to demonstrate compliance with the requirements of this Part.
- (3) The records must identify the client on behalf of whom any client money is received, paid or held.
- (4) Where appropriate, the records must also—
 - (a) disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time, the details of transactions in respect of which client money is received, paid or held; and
 - (b) facilitate a full audit trail of money in and out of accounts referred to in paragraph (2)(c)(i) and (ii).

- (5) A licenceholder must preserve any records referred to in this rule for at least 6 years.

3.12 Accounting for and use of client money

- (1) A licenceholder must account properly and promptly for client money.
- (2) In particular, the licenceholder must ensure that—
 - (a) client money and other money do not become intermingled (except in accordance with rule ~~3.103.10~~(6) and (7));
 - (b) it can at all times be sure how much client money stands to the credit of each client; and
 - (c) money belonging to one client is not used for another (except in the case of an account maintained under rules 3.21A, 3.21B, 3.21C, 3.21D and 3.21E or 3.21(2)).

Formatted: Fo

3.13 Reconciliation

- (1) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) reconcile the balance on each client bank account, as recorded by the licenceholder, with the balance on that account as set out in the statement issued by the bank at which the account is held; and
 - (b) as at the same date used under sub-paragraph (a), reconcile the total of the balances on all client bank accounts (as recorded by the licenceholder) with the total of the corresponding credit balances in respect of each of its clients (as recorded by the licenceholder).
- (2) This rule has been revoked.
- (3) The reconciliation required by paragraph (1) must be carried out at least once a calendar month.
- (4) All client bank accounts must be reconciled to the same date.
- (5) A reconciliation under paragraph (1) must be checked by an individual other than the person by whom it was carried out.
- (6) The licenceholder must keep a record of every reconciliation under paragraph (1) and every check under paragraph (5).
- (7) The licenceholder must correct any discrepancies discovered on a reconciliation under paragraph (1) within 5 business days

unless, in the case of paragraph (1)(a), they arise solely as a result of normal timing differences.

- (8) The licenceholder must notify the Commission, with details, where it has not carried out or is not able to carry out the reconciliation required by paragraph (1).
- (9) The notification referred to in paragraph (8) must be made within 5 business days of the date that the reconciliation should have been undertaken.
- (10) The licenceholder must notify the Commission, with details, within 5 business days where it has completed the reconciliation required by paragraph (1) but—
 - (a) it is not able to correct a discrepancy; or
 - (b) more than 3 months after completion, a discrepancy has not been corrected.

3.14 Interest on client money

- (1) Where rule 6.38 or 6.63 (client agreement or terms of business) applies—
 - (a) a licenceholder must pay interest on client money ~~and e-money float~~ in accordance with the terms set out in the client agreement or terms of business referred to in that rule;
 - (b) if no interest on client money ~~or e-money float~~ is to be paid to the client, this must be clearly set out in the client agreement or terms of business.
- (2) Where rule ~~6.38-38~~ or 6.63 does not apply, a client must receive written disclosure of how interest earned on client money is to be treated.

Formatted: F

3.15 Client money held on trust

Client money held by a licenceholder is held on trust—

- (a) on the terms and for the purposes set out in this Part and, subject thereto, *pari passu* for the respective clients for whom it is received or held;
- (b) subject to sub-paragraph (a), *pari passu* in meeting any shortfall in valid claims by clients to client money (disregarding rules 3.16 to 3.17 for this purpose); and

- (c) after all valid claims under sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) have been met, for the licenceholder itself.

3.16 Pooling

- (1) For the purpose of rule 3.15(a), in determining the entitlement of clients to client money, all client money of any currency, even though held in more than one client bank account, shall be treated as pooled, in a single pool, except as provided in rules 3.16A, 3.16B, 3.16C and 3.17.
- (2) Where, at the time at which a default occurs, cheque or other payable order has been paid into a client bank account but has not been cleared, the amount of the order shall, when it is cleared, be pooled in accordance with this Chapter.
- (3) For the purpose of this rule and rules 3.16A to 3.18 a licenceholder or bank is in default where—
 - (a) a liquidator, receiver, administrator or trustee in bankruptcy has been appointed in respect of it;
 - (b) any equivalent procedure has occurred in respect of it in a country or territory outside the Island and the United Kingdom; or
 - (c) the Commission has directed that it shall be treated as in default for the purpose of this Chapter (in the case of a bank, either generally or in relation to the licenceholder in question).
- (4) Where a profit or loss is made in the conversion of foreign currency the profit or loss shall be attributed to the pool, rather than the individual clients affected.
- (5) Where monies are received from any compensation scheme in relation to a default, those monies must be treated in accordance with any entitlement of the compensation scheme in force at that time.
- (6) Where monies are received from a liquidator in relation to a default, those monies must be treated as pooled for the purposes of this rule and applied to the benefit of all clients affected by the default.

3.16A Default of bank — specified client bank accounts

- (1) This rule applies where client money held by a licenceholder is insufficient to pay the claims of all clients because a bank in which client money is held is in default.
- (2) Where client money is held in a specified client bank account at the bank in default—
 - (a) that money shall not be pooled with client money held in any other client bank account; and
 - (b) a client or clients to whose credit any amount stands in that account—
 - (i) shall be entitled to claim (pari passu if more than one) against the money in that account in respect of that amount; but
 - (ii) shall not be entitled to claim against any other client bank account (at that or any other bank) in respect of that amount.
- (3) Where client money is held in a specified client bank account at a bank other than the bank in default, that money shall not be pooled with client money held in any other client bank account (at that or any other bank).
- (4) Any previously opened account that was a “designated client bank account” under the Financial Services Rule Book 2008 shall be treated as a specified client bank account.

3.16B Default of a bank - client free money account

- (1) This rule applies where client money held by a licenceholder is insufficient to pay the claims of all clients because a bank in which client money is held is in default.
- (2) Where client money is held in a client free money account at the bank in default —
 - (a) that money shall only be pooled with client money held in any other client free money account at that or any other bank; and
 - (b) a client or clients to whose credit any amount stands in that account —
 - (i) shall be entitled to claim (pari passu if more than one) against the money in that account in respect of that amount; but

- (ii) shall not be entitled to claim against any other client bank account (at that or any other bank) in respect of that amount.

3.16C Default of a bank - client settlement account

- (1) This rule applies where client money held by a licenceholder is insufficient to pay the claims of all clients because a bank in which client money is held is in default.
- (2) Where client money is held in a client settlement account at the bank in default —
 - (a) that money shall only be pooled with client money held in any other client settlement account at that or any other bank; and
 - (b) a client or clients to whose credit any amount stands in that account —
 - (i) shall be entitled to claim (pari passu if more than one) against the money in that account in respect of that amount; but
 - (ii) shall not be entitled to claim against any other client bank account (at that or any other bank) in respect of that amount.

3.17 Money held in overseas bank accounts

- (1) Where client money held by a licenceholder is insufficient to pay the claims of all clients because a bank outside the Island and the United Kingdom in which client money is held does not recognise that money in the account is held in accordance with this Part —
 - (a) all client money held in the licenceholder's client bank accounts with that bank shall be pooled and made available to satisfy the claims of clients whose money was held or which should have been held in a client bank account with that bank; and
 - (b) that client money shall not be treated as pooled with client money held in the licenceholder's client bank account or accounts with any other bank.
- (2) Where client money held by a licenceholder is insufficient to pay the claims of all clients because a bank outside the Island and the United Kingdom in which client money is held is in default—

- (a) all client money held in the licenceholder's client bank accounts outside the Island and the United Kingdom with that bank shall be pooled and made available to satisfy the claims of clients whose money was held or which should have been held in a client bank account outside the Island and the United Kingdom with that bank; and
- (b) that client money shall not be treated as pooled with clients' money held in other client bank accounts of the licenceholder.

3.18 No withdrawal in case of default

- (1) In the case of default by—
 - (a) a licenceholder, or
 - (b) a bank at which a client bank account of the licenceholder is held,

no money may be withdrawn from any client bank account of the licenceholder without the consent of the Commission.

- (2) In the case of default by a bank, paragraph (1) does not apply to withdrawal from—
 - (a) a specified client bank account at another bank;
 - (b) a client bank account (other than a specified client bank account), where no such account is held at the bank which is in default.
- (3) Paragraph (1) does not apply to any step taken by the licenceholder in good faith which he reasonably believes will preserve or enhance the fund of client money available despite the default.

3.19 Displacement of general law

The duties of a licenceholder under this Part in relation to client money shall take the place of the corresponding duties which would be owed by it as a trustee under the general law, but without prejudice to the remedies available to clients.

Chapter 2 – Specific client money requirements for investment business

3.20 Application

This chapter applies to Class 2 licenceholders licensed as stockbrokers or discretionary portfolio managers.

3.21 Accounts for margined transactions

- (1) This rule applies only to licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2; and the foregoing provisions of this Part are subject to the provisions of this rule.
- (2) Where margined transactions are undertaken, a licenceholder must maintain a specified client bank account or accounts—
 - (a) specially created for the purpose of holding margined client money, and
 - (b) segregated from any account holding any other client money.
- (3) Subject to paragraph (4), a licenceholder must hold any margined client money in a client bank account referred to in paragraph (2), and no other money may be held in such an account.
- (4) When a licenceholder undertakes margined transactions with or for a client under the rules of an exchange and in the types of contracts traded on that exchange, the licenceholder may, instead of paying margined client money into a client bank account, pay it to the exchange or an intermediate broker to be credited to the licenceholder's client account with the exchange and to be dealt with in accordance with its rules and regulations.
- (5) The licenceholder may withdraw money from a client bank account referred to in paragraph (2) where it is properly payable to an exchange, an intermediate broker or the licenceholder's client account with an exchange.
- (6) A licenceholder must hold in such an account initial margins calculated in accordance with paragraph (7) on each client's positions (not on the overall net position across all clients).
- (7) For the purpose of paragraph (6) the initial margin to be held for any client at any time is the total amount which, under the rules of the relevant exchange, the licenceholder or intermediate broker would be required to deposit in cash or approved collateral as a fidelity deposit in respect of all that client's open positions in margined transactions at that time, irrespective of any unrealised profit or loss on such positions.
- (8) Where—

- (a) margins required by an exchange or intermediate broker in respect of any one client have not been received from the client, and
- (b) the licenceholder does not pay the required amount direct to the exchange or broker,

the licenceholder must itself pay the required amount into the relevant client bank account.

- (9) A licenceholder must ensure that, on each business day, A is not less than B where—

A = the total, as at the close of business on the immediately preceding business day, of—

- (a) the aggregate of the balances on all the licenceholder's client bank accounts referred to in paragraph (2);
- (b) the net aggregate of the licenceholder's equity balances with exchanges and with intermediate brokers; and
- (c) the value of approved collateral deposited with the licenceholder, whether held by it or by an intermediate broker;

B = the aggregate of the required contributions of all the licenceholder's clients as at the close of business on the immediately preceding business day.

- (10) In this rule—

a client's "equity balance" with a licenceholder at any time is the amount which—

- (a) the licenceholder would be liable to pay to the client, or
- (b) the client would be liable to pay to the licenceholder,

in respect of his margined transactions if each of his open positions were liquidated at the closing or settlement prices, and a licenceholder's "equity balance" with an exchange or with an intermediate broker has a corresponding meaning;

"margined client money" means client money held or received for the purpose or in the course of a margined transaction;

"margined transaction" means a transaction effected by a licenceholder with or for a client relating to an option, future or contract for differences under the terms of which the client will

or may be liable to make deposits in cash or collateral to ensure the performance of obligations which he may have to perform when the transaction falls to be completed or upon the earlier closing out of his position;

"option", "future" and "contract for differences" mean investments falling within paragraphs (g), (h) and (i) respectively of the definition of "investment" in Schedule 2 to the Regulated Activities Order 2009;

a client's "required contribution" is the greater of—

- (a) the amount of the client's initial margin at that time, calculated in accordance with paragraph (7); and
- (b) the aggregate of the client's equity balance at that time and the amount of the value of the approved collateral which the client has provided to the licenceholder.

3.21A Client money requirement

The client money requirement is either—

- (a) subject to rule 3.21E(1), the sum of, for all clients—
 - (i) the individual client balances calculated in accordance with rule 3.21B(1), excluding—
 - (A) individual client balances which are negative (i.e. debtors); and
 - (B) clients' equity balances; and
 - (ii) the total margined transaction requirement calculated in accordance with rule 3.21D(1); or
- (b) the sum of —
 - (i) for each client bank account—
 - (A) the amount which the licenceholder's records show as held on that account; and
 - (B) an amount which offsets each negative net amount which the licenceholder's records show attributed to that account for an individual client; and
 - (ii) the total margined transaction requirement calculated in accordance with rule 3.21D(1).

3.21B General transactions

- (1) The individual client balance for each client should be calculated in accordance with the following table.

Individual client balance calculation		
	Free money (no trades); and	A
	Sale proceeds due to the client:	
	(a) in respect of principal deals when the client has delivered the investments; or	B
	(b) in respect of agency deals, when either:	
	(i) the sale proceeds have been received by the licenceholder and the client has delivered the investments; or	C1
	(ii) the licenceholder holds the investments for the client; and	C2
	The cost of purchases:	
	(c) in respect of principal deals, paid for by the client but the licenceholder has not delivered the investments to the client; and	D
	(d) in respect of agency deals, paid for by the client when either:	
	(i) the licenceholder has not remitted the money to, or to the order of, the counterparty; or	E1
	(ii) the investments have been received by the licenceholder but have not been delivered to the client;	E2
Less		
	Money owed by the client in respect of unpaid purchases by or for the client if delivery of those investments has been made to the client; and	F
	Proceeds remitted to the client in respect of sales transactions by or for the client if the client has not delivered the investments.	G
Individual Client Balance "X" = (A+B+C1+C2+D+E1+E2)-F-G		X

- (2) A licenceholder should calculate the individual client balance using the contract value of any client purchases or sales.
- (3) A licenceholder may choose to segregate investments instead of the value identified in paragraph (1) (except E1) if it ensures that

the investments are held in such a manner that the licenceholder cannot use them for its own purposes.

- (4) Segregation in the context of paragraph (3) can take many forms, including the holding of a safe custody investment in a nominee name and the safekeeping of certificates evidencing title in a fire resistant safe.
- (5) In determining the client money requirement under rule 3.21A, a licenceholder need not include money held in accordance with rule 3.21E(3) (delivery versus payment transaction).
- (6) In determining the client money requirement under rule 3.21A, a licenceholder –
 - (a) should include dividends received and interest earned and allocated;
 - (b) may deduct outstanding fees, calls, rights and interest charges and other amounts owed by the client which are due and payable to the licenceholder;
 - (c) should take into account any client money arising from reconciliation discrepancies; and
 - (d) should include any unallocated client money.

3.21C Equity balance

A licenceholder's equity balance is the amount which the licenceholder would be liable to pay in respect of the licenceholder's margined transactions if each of the open positions of the licenceholder's clients was liquidated at the closing or settlement prices published by the relevant exchange or other appropriate pricing source and the licenceholder's account is closed.

3.21D Margined transaction requirement

- (1) The total margined transaction requirement is –
 - (a) the sum of each of the clients' equity balances which are positive; less
 - (b) the proportion of any individual negative client equity balance which is secured by appropriate collateral; and
 - (c) the net aggregation of the licenceholder's equity balance (negative balances being deducted from positive balances) on transaction accounts for customers with exchanges and counterparties.

- (2) To meet a shortfall that has arisen in respect of the requirement in rule 3.21A(a)(ii) or (b)(ii), a licenceholder may utilise its own appropriate collateral provided it is held on terms specifying when it is to be realised for the benefit of clients, it is clearly identifiable from the licenceholder's own property and the relevant terms are evidenced in writing by the licenceholder. In addition, the proceeds of the sale of that collateral should be paid into a client bank account.
- (3) If a licenceholder's total margined transaction requirement is negative, the licenceholder should treat it as zero for the purposes of calculating its client money requirement.
- (4) The terms "client money balance" and "licenceholder's equity balance" in rule 3.21C refer to cash values and do not include non-cash collateral or other investments held in respect of a margined transaction.

3.21E Reduced client money requirement option

- (1)
 - (a) When, in respect of a client, there is a positive individual client balance and a negative client equity balance, a licenceholder may offset the credit against the debit and hence have a reduced individual client balance in rule 3.21B(1) for that client.
 - (b) When, in respect of a client, there is a negative individual client balance and a positive client equity balance, a licenceholder may offset the credit against the debit and hence have a reduced individual client equity balance in rule 3.21D(1) for that client.
- (2) The effect of paragraph (1) is to allow a licenceholder to offset, on a client by client basis, a negative amount with a positive amount arising out of the calculations in rules 3.21B(1) and 3.21D(1), and, by so doing, reduce the amount the licenceholder is required to segregate.
- (3) Money need not be treated as client money in respect of a delivery versus payment transaction through a commercial settlement system if it is intended that either:
 - (a) in respect of a client's purchase, money from a client will be due to the licenceholder within one business day upon the fulfilment of a delivery obligation; or
 - (b) in respect of a client's sale, money is due to the client within one business day following the client's fulfilment of a delivery obligation,

unless the delivery or payment by the licenceholder does not occur by the close of business on the third business day following the date of payment or delivery of the investments by the client.

3.22 Accounts for clients' free money and settlement money

- (1) A licenceholder may not operate a client settlement account —
 - (a) without the consent of the Commission, or
 - (b) otherwise than in accordance with such conditions as the Commission may impose.
- (2) For the avoidance of doubt, a licenceholder may operate a client free money account without the consent of the Commission.

Chapter 3 – Specific client money requirements for CIS service providers

3.23 Application

This chapter applies only to licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 3.

3.24 Subscription and redemption accounts

Where a licenceholder holds money in respect of the sale or redemption of units in a collective investment scheme, the money must be held in a subscription account and/or a redemption account, as the case may be.

Chapter 4 – Specific trust money requirements for trust service providers

3.25 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 5 in relation to such activities carried on in or from the Island.

3.26 Duty to hold trust money separately

A licenceholder must pay trust money into either —

- (a) a trust bank account, or
- (b) if circumstances make it impractical to set up a separate account for the trust in question, a client bank account.

3.27 Operation of trust bank account

- (1) The title of a trust bank account must clearly —

- (a) show that it is held by the trustee in his capacity as trustee, and
 - (b) identify the trust to which it relates.
- (2) The requirement of paragraph (1)(a) can be met by using the term "as trustee of", and should include the word "trust", "foundation", "settlement", "charity" or similar words, abbreviations or language in the account title, to indicate that the account is held on behalf of a trust.

3.28 Accounting for and use of trust money

- (1) A licenceholder must account properly and promptly for trust money.
- (2) In particular, the licenceholder must ensure that—
 - (a) trust money and other money do not become intermingled (except in accordance with rule 3.26(b)); and
 - (b) it can at all times be sure how much trust money stands to the credit of each trust.
- (3) Rules ~~3.103-10~~ to ~~3.143-14~~ apply to trust money paid into a client account in accordance with rule 3.26(b) as they apply to client money with the substitution, for references to a client, of references to the trust concerned or to the trustees of that trust, as the case may require.

3.29 Reconciliation

- (1) A licenceholder must, at least once a month, or at such other intervals as the trustee may direct, reconcile the balance on each trust bank account, as recorded by the licenceholder, with the balance on that account as set out in the statement issued by the bank at which the account is held.
- (2) A reconciliation under paragraph (1) must be checked by an individual other than the person by whom it was carried out.
- (3) The licenceholder must keep a record of every reconciliation under paragraph (1) and every check under paragraph (2).
- (4) The licenceholder must correct any discrepancies discovered on a reconciliation under paragraph (1) within 5 business days unless they arise solely as a result of normal timing differences.
- (5) The licenceholder must notify the Commission, with details, within 5 business days where—

- (a) it has not carried out or is not able to carry out the reconciliation required by paragraph (1), or
- (b) it has completed the reconciliation but—
 - (i) is not able to correct any discrepancy, or
 - (ii) more than 3 months after completion, a discrepancy has not been corrected.

Chapter 5 – Specific requirements for payment institutions and e-money issuers

3.30 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class ~~6–8(2)(a) or 8(4) in~~ relation to such activities carried on in or from the Island.

3.31 Interpretation

In this Rule Book, “relevant funds” comprise the following:

(1) Subject to paragraph (2) –

(a) sums received in exchange for electronic money that has been issued;

(b) sums received from, or for the benefit of, a payment service user for the execution of a payment transaction; and

(c) sums received from a payment service provider for the execution of a payment transaction on behalf of a payment service user.

(2) Where –

(a) only a portion of the sums referred to in paragraph (1) (a) to (c) is to be used for the execution of a payment transaction (with the remainder being used for non-payment services); and

(b) the precise portion attributable to the execution of the payment transaction is variable or unknown in advance, the relevant funds are such amount as may be reasonably estimated, on the basis of historical data and to the satisfaction of the Commission, to be representative of the portion attributable to the execution of the payment transaction; and in this Chapter –

“recognised bank” has the same meaning as in rule 3.2 apart from that bank, where used for the relevant funds of a payment institution or issuer of electronic money, may not be a member of the same group as the payment institution or issuer of electronic money.

3.32 Duty to safeguard relevant funds

Where the relevant funds in respect of a payment transaction exceed £50, the licenceholder must safeguard such funds in accordance with rule 3.33.

3.33 Segregation

- (1) A licenceholder must keep relevant funds segregated from any other funds that it holds.
- (2) Where a licenceholder continues to hold the relevant funds at the end of the business day following the day on which they were received it must place them in a segregated payment account that it holds with a recognised bank.
- (3) A segregated payment account in which relevant funds are placed under paragraph (2) must—
 - (a) be named in such a way as to show that it is an account which is held for the purpose of safeguarding relevant funds in accordance with this rule; and
 - (b) be used only for holding those funds and any monies required to open or maintain the account (“restricted funds”).
- (4) No person other than the licenceholder may have any interest in or right over the relevant funds placed in a segregated payment account in accordance with paragraph (2) except as provided by this rule.
- (5) A licenceholder must keep a record of—
 - (a) any relevant funds segregated in accordance with paragraph (1); and
 - (b) any relevant funds placed in an account in accordance with paragraph (2).
- (6) A licenceholder must maintain organisational arrangements sufficient to minimise the risk of the loss or diminution of relevant funds through fraud, misuse, negligence or poor administration.

Duty to hold e-money float separately

~~A licenceholder must pay the running balance of money which represents payments for the issue of electronic value minus the amount of electronic value that has been redeemed in an account which is segregated from any account held by the licenceholder which does not hold such money.~~

3.342 Payment accounts and sums received for the execution of payment transactions

Any segregated payment account held by a [licenceholder](#), and any sums received for the execution of payment transactions, must be used only in relation to payment transactions.

Operation of bank account

- ~~(1) — The title of the bank account must clearly show that the money is held for the benefit of e-money purchasers.~~
- ~~(2) — The requirement of paragraph (1) can be met by using the term "re e-money float", or similar words, abbreviations or language in the account title, to indicate that the account is held separately from any other account.~~

3.35 Accounting for and use of relevant funds

- (1) A [licenceholder](#) must account properly and promptly for relevant funds.
- (2) In particular, a [licenceholder](#) must ensure that—
 - (a) relevant funds and other money do not become intermingled (except in accordance with paragraphs (3) and (4));
 - (b) it can at all times be sure how much money stands to the credit of each payment service user and [electronic money holder](#); and
 - (c) money belonging to one payment service user or [electronic money holder](#) is not used for another.
- (3) Subject to paragraph (2), a [licenceholder](#) must not pay money which is not relevant funds, or permit such money to be paid, into a [segregated](#) payment account unless it is required—
 - (a) to open or maintain the account ("restricted funds"); or

- (b) to restore an amount withdrawn in error from the account.
- (4) If money paid to a licenceholder contains both relevant funds and money which is not relevant funds, the licenceholder must—

 - (a) pay the money into a segregated payment account, and
 - (b) as soon as the funds are cleared and the amount which is not relevant funds is ascertained, withdraw that amount from the account.
- (5) The licenceholder must not withdraw money from a segregated payment account unless —

 - (a) it is not relevant funds;
 - (b) it is properly required for payment to or on behalf of an payment service user;
 - (c) it is properly transferred to another bank account holding relevant funds or into a bank account in the payment service user's or electronic money holder's own name; or
 - (d) it is restricted funds.
- (6) The licenceholder must not withdraw for its own account any interest earned on a segregated payment account which is due to a payment service user.
- (7) The licenceholder must not withdraw money for or towards payment of its own fees or commission unless—

 - (a) the withdrawal is in accordance with the terms of a relevant agreement; or
 - (b) the amount is agreed by the payment service user or electronic money holder or finally determined by a court or arbitrator.
- (8) The licenceholder must not allow a segregated payment account holding relevant funds to become overdrawn.
- (9) The licenceholder must not grant credit from relevant funds.

Accounting for and use of e-money float

- ~~(1) A licenceholder must account properly and promptly for money held in the e-money float.~~
- ~~(2) In particular, the licenceholder must ensure that—~~
 - ~~(a) money held in the e-money float and other money does not become intermingled; and~~
 - ~~(b) it can at all times be certain how much money stands to the credit for each e-money purchaser.~~

3.36 Reconciliation

- ~~(1) A licenceholder must, on a daily basis, reconcile the balance held on each segregated payment account, as recorded by the licenceholder, with the balance on that account as set out in the statement issued by the bank at which the account is held.~~
- ~~(2) A reconciliation under paragraph (1) must be checked by an individual other than the person by whom it was carried out.~~
- ~~(3) A licenceholder must keep a record of every reconciliation under paragraph (1) and every check under paragraph (2).~~
- ~~(4) A licenceholder must correct any discrepancies discovered on a reconciliation under paragraph (1) within 5 business days unless they arise solely as a result of normal timing differences.~~
- ~~(5) A licenceholder must notify the Commission, with details, within 5 business days where—~~
 - ~~(a) it has not carried out or is not able to carry out the reconciliation required by paragraph (1); or~~
 - ~~(b) it has completed the reconciliation but—~~
 - ~~(i) is not able to correct any discrepancy; or~~
 - ~~(ii) more than 3 months after completion, a discrepancy has not been corrected.~~
- ~~(1) A licenceholder must, on a daily basis, reconcile the balance held on each e-money float bank account, as recorded by the licenceholder, with the balance on that account as set out in the statement issued by the bank at which the account is held.~~
- ~~(2) A reconciliation under paragraph (1) must be checked by an individual other than the person by whom it was carried out.~~

- ~~(3) The licenceholder must keep a record of every reconciliation under paragraph (1) and every check under paragraph (2).~~
- ~~(4) The licenceholder must correct any discrepancies discovered on a reconciliation under paragraph (1) within 5 business days unless they arise solely as a result of normal timing differences.~~
- ~~(5) The licenceholder must notify the Commission, with details, within 5 business days where—~~
 - ~~(a) it has not carried out or is not able to carry out the reconciliation required by paragraph (1); or~~
 - ~~(b) it has completed the reconciliation but—~~
 - ~~(i) is not able to correct any discrepancy; or~~
 - ~~(ii) more than 3 months after completion, a discrepancy has not been corrected.~~

3.37 Operation of segregated payment account

- (1) The bank at which the account is held must acknowledge to the licenceholder in writing that —
 - (a) it understands that, with the exception of any restricted funds, all money standing to the credit of all segregated payment accounts maintained by the licenceholder is held by the licenceholder as trustee and that the bank is not entitled to combine the account with any other account or to exercise any right of set-off or counterclaim against money in that account in respect of any debt owed to it by the licenceholder;
 - (b) interest earned on each such account will be credited to the account or to an account of the same type;
 - (c) the title of each such account—
 - (i) is in the form requested by the licenceholder, and
 - (ii) sufficiently distinguishes the account from any other account containing money belonging to the licenceholder;
- and the licenceholder must supply, or arrange for the bank to supply, the Commission with a copy of the acknowledgement.

3.38 Disclosure

The licenceholder must notify the payment service user, or e-money holder in writing that any sums received do not constitute deposits as

defined in Regulated Activities Order 2011 and are not be covered by any compensation scheme.

PART 4 – CLIENTS' INVESTMENTS

Chapter 1 – General

4.1 Application to investment businesses

This Part applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2 in relation to such activities carried on in or from the Island.

4.2 Application to CIS service providers

This Part applies to a licenceholder licensed to carry on an activity falling within paragraph (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (11) or (12) of Class 3 in relation to such activities carried on in or from the Island as it applies to a licenceholder referred to in rule ~~4.14.1~~, with any necessary modifications, as if –

- (a) references to a client were references to a collective investment scheme, or to a participant in such a scheme, as the case may require (but so that each such scheme shall be treated as a separate client);
- (b) references to a client's investments were to investments which are assets of such a scheme;
- (c) references to safe-custody services were to those activities, so far as they relate to the custody of assets of such a scheme; and
- (d) references to an eligible custodian were to a licenceholder licensed to carry on an activity falling within paragraph (3), (4) or (5) of Class 3.

4.3 Interpretation

- (1) In this Part—

"eligible custodian" means (subject to rule ~~4.24.2(d)~~)—

- (a) a licenceholder licensed to carry on safe-custody services;
- (b) the licenceholder's own custodian; or
- (c) a person carrying on business in a country or territory outside the Island—
 - (i) whose business includes the provision of services which, if carried on in the Island, would be safe-custody services, and

- (ii) who the licenceholder reasonably believes is subject to regulation and supervision in relation to those services by a regulatory body or agency of government in that country;

"investment" means any of the following (as defined in the Order)—

- (a) a share;
- (b) a debenture;
- (c) a government security;
- (d) a warrant;
- (e) a certificate representing securities;
- (f) a unit in a collective investment scheme, including a share in, or security of, an open-ended investment company;

"registrable investment" means an investment the title to which is entered in a register;

"safe-custody services" means (subject to rule ~~4.24.2~~(c)) services consisting of regulated activities falling within paragraph (5) of Class 2 (safeguarding and administering investments under a contractual relationship);

"title document" means—

- (a) a share certificate or stock certificate; and
- (b) any other document which is evidence of title to an investment.

(2) In this Part references to documents in the possession or under the control of a licenceholder include documents which—

- (a) are in the possession or under the control of the licenceholder's own custodian, or
- (b) at the request of the licenceholder are in the possession or under the control of any other eligible custodian.

(3) In this Part a reference to a licenceholder's own custodian is to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the licenceholder which—

- (a) carries on no other business than providing safe-custody services, and
- (b) acts only in accordance with the directions or instructions of the licenceholder.

Formatted: F

4.4 Records of transactions

- (1) A licenceholder must maintain records containing entries of all purchases and sales of, and other transactions relating to, an investment which the licenceholder undertakes on behalf of a client, including—
 - (a) the nature and amount of the investment;
 - (b) the identity of the client;
 - (c) the nature of the transaction;
 - (d) the time and date of the transaction; and
 - (e) the identity of any intermediary who handled the transaction.
- (2) The records referred to in paragraph (1) must enable investments to which they relate to be traced into and out of brokerage accounts.
- (3) A licenceholder must preserve any records referred to in this rule for at least 6 years.

Chapter 2 — Safe-custody services

4.5 Records of safe-custody investments

- (1) A licenceholder must maintain such records as are necessary to identify —
 - (a) every investment in relation to which it provides safe-custody services,
 - (b) the client to whom that investment belongs; and
 - (c) where the title to the investment is in documentary form, the location of every title document relating to the investment;
 - (d) where the title to the investment is in electronic form, the form and location of any record of the title;
 - (e) where the investment is a registrable investment, the registrar and the person in whose name it is registered.
- (2) Where an investment referred to in paragraph (1)(a), or a title document relating to such an investment, is held for the licenceholder by an eligible custodian, the licenceholder must—

- (a) maintain such records as are necessary to enable it to ascertain which custodian is holding the investment or document, and
 - (b) ensure that the custodian maintains the records referred to in paragraph (1) in relation to the investment or document.
- (3) A licenceholder must preserve any records referred to in this rule for at least 6 years.

4.6 Use of custodians

- (1) A licenceholder must not—
 - (a) recommend to a client that a person other than the licenceholder undertake safe-custody services for the client, or
 - (b) procure the client's agreement to such a person so acting; unless that person is an eligible custodian.
- (2) Where a licenceholder arranges for any safe-custody services to be provided by the licenceholder's own custodian, the licenceholder must ensure that the custodian complies with rules [4.74.7](#) to [4.144.14](#).
- (3) Where a licenceholder arranges for any safe-custody services to be provided by an eligible custodian other than the licenceholder's own custodian, the licenceholder must comply with paragraphs (4) and (5).
- (4) The licenceholder must—
 - (a) exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence in the selection of the custodian, and
 - (b) must, so long as the arrangement is in force, satisfy itself that the custodian continues to be suitable (including obtaining confirmation that it continues to be an eligible custodian).
- (5) The licenceholder must also ensure that the custodian has acknowledged in writing to the licenceholder that—
 - (a) it will not have or claim any right to sell or pledge the client's investment or any lien or right of retention over any title document relating to it;

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

- (b) it will not part with possession of any such title document otherwise than to the licenceholder or on the licenceholder's instructions;
- (c) it will hold any such document so that it is readily apparent that the investment to which it relates does not belong to the custodian, the licenceholder or an associate of the licenceholder or custodian; and
- (d) it will, not less than once every 6 months and at other times on the request of the licenceholder, prepare and deliver to the licenceholder a statement, made up as at a date specified by the licenceholder (being a date not earlier than 4 weeks before the statement is delivered), specifying in relation to each description of investment—
 - (i) the investments held by the custodian for the licenceholder;
 - (ii) the title documents relating to those investments which are held by the custodian; and
 - (iii) in the case of registrable investments, the amount so held in each different name or designation;
- (e) it will not arrange for any safe-custody services to be provided on its behalf by any person other than an eligible custodian.

4.7 Registrable investments

- (1) Where a licenceholder provides safe-custody services relating to a registrable investment of a client, it must arrange that the investment is registered—
 - (a) in the name of the client, or
 - (b) with the consent of the client, in the name of an eligible custodian.
- (2) Where the licenceholder's own investment and a client's investment are registered in the same name, the licenceholder must—
 - (a) ensure that the client's investment is registered in a designated account different from the account in which the licenceholder's investment is registered; and

- (b) where appropriate, hold separate certificates evidencing the title to the licenceholder's own investment and the title to the client's investment.

4.8 Reconciliation of investments and title documents

- (1) A licenceholder which provides safe-custody services in relation to a client's investments must—
 - (a) reconcile its books and records at 2 dates during every year, not more than 8 months nor less than 4 months apart; and
 - (b) correct, within 5 business days, any discrepancies which are revealed.
- (2) The reconciliation referred to in paragraph (1) must comprise the following steps in respect of the client's investments—
 - (a) the physical counting and inspection of all title documents relating to the investments which are in the possession or under the control of the licenceholder, or a check of the electronic records referred to in rule [4.54.5\(1\)\(d\)](#) and relating to the investments, as the case may require; and
 - (b) a check of all records maintained by the licenceholder under rule [4.54.5](#) against those title documents or electronic records;
 - (c) obtaining a written statement (in the form specified in rule [4.64.6\(5\)\(d\)](#)) from any custodian other than the licenceholder's own custodian of the investments held by it on behalf of the licenceholder.
- (3) A licenceholder must carry out the reconciliation required by paragraph (1) not later than the end of 3 months from the date at which the count or check referred to in paragraph (2)(a) was carried out.
- (4) In carrying out the reconciliation the licenceholder must—
 - (a) in every case, reconcile the results with its own records in respect of each client;
 - (b) in the case of a registrable investment, reconcile any discrepancy revealed by (a) above with the records of the registrar of the investment; and

Formatted: Fo

Formatted: Fo

Formatted: Fo

- (c) in the case of documents held by a custodian other than the licenceholder's own custodian, reconcile the statement received with the licenceholder's own records in respect of each client.
- (5) The licenceholder must—
 - (a) ensure that the counting and reconciliation of title documents required by this rule are—
 - (i) carried out, or observed and reviewed, by persons who are not responsible for the origination or maintenance of the licenceholder's records, and
 - (ii) supervised by a responsible officer; and
 - (b) retain for at least 6 years all working papers which have been created to assist in the reconciliation.
- (6) The reconciliation may be undertaken by either—
 - (a) the total check method (see paragraph (7)), or
 - (b) with the consent of the Commission, the rolling stock check method (see paragraph (8)).
- (7) The total check method requires the steps referred to in paragraph (2) to be taken in respect of all the client's investments.
- (8) The rolling stock check method requires the steps referred to in paragraph (2) to be taken in respect of the client's investments of a particular description, so that those steps are taken in respect of all the client's investments on a rolling basis within every period of 6 months.
- (9) The Commission shall not consent to the use of the rolling stock check method unless it is satisfied, on the basis of a report from the licenceholder's auditors, that the licenceholder has in place a system of internal control which is adequate to ensure as far as reasonably practicable that an up-to-date record is maintained of all clients' investments in respect of which the licenceholder provides safe-custody services.
- (10) The licenceholder must notify the Commission within 5 business days, with details, where—
 - (a) it has not carried out or is not able to carry out the reconciliation required by paragraph (1), or
 - (b) it has completed the reconciliation but—

- (i) is not able to correct any discrepancy, or
- (ii) more than 3 months after completion, a discrepancy has not been corrected.

4.9 Periodical statements

- (1) Unless expressly instructed to the contrary in writing by the client, a licenceholder must, every 6 months or, if the client's holding is unchanged, every year, provide to each client for whom it provides safe-custody services a statement of the investments to which those services relate.
- (2) A statement under paragraph (1) must ~~—~~
 - ~~(a) — be provided to the client within 6 weeks of the date as at which it is made; and~~
 - ~~(b) — distinguish between investments held —~~
 - ~~(i) — by the licenceholder;~~
 - ~~(ii) — by the licenceholder's own custodian; and~~
 - ~~(iii) — by an eligible custodian other than the licenceholder or the licenceholder's own custodian.~~
- (3) Where the licenceholder provides safe-custody services in respect of that client's investments and also manages that client's investments, the statement must also distinguish between —
 - (a) investments in respect of which it provides safe-custody services and which it manages, and
 - (b) investments in respect of which it provides safe-custody services but which it does not manage.
- (4) The references in paragraph (3) to managing investments are to carrying on an activity falling within paragraph (4) of Class 2 in relation to those investments.
- (5) The licenceholder must immediately notify the Commission, with details, where it has not provided or is not able to provide a statement to a client within the time required by paragraph (2)(a).

4.10 Borrowing from a client

A licenceholder must not borrow, or permit any director or employee or a relative or associate of a director or employee of the licenceholder to borrow, any investment from a client.

4.11 Loans of investments

- (1) A licenceholder must not lend a client's investment, or any title document relating to a client's investment, to any person unless—
 - (a) the Commission has given its prior written consent to the lending of clients' investments by the licenceholder;
 - (b) the client —
 - (i) has been made aware of any effect of the transaction on his interests,
 - (ii) has been recommended to seek advice on his rights in relation to the investment and his tax position, and
 - (iii) has expressly agreed in writing to the loan;
 - (c) the terms of the loan are set out in—
 - (i) a written agreement between the licenceholder and the client; and
 - (ii) a written agreement between the licenceholder and the borrower; and
 - (d) the loan is authorised in writing by a key person approved for the purpose by the directors of the licenceholder.
- (2) Where a licenceholder lends such an investment or document to any person, it must maintain a record stating—
 - (a) a description (including the amount and value) of the investment;
 - (b) the nature of the transaction or other purpose for which the loan is made;
 - (c) the remuneration (if any) payable to the licenceholder in respect of the transaction;
 - (d) the remuneration payable to the client in respect of the transaction;
 - (e) the identity of the borrower;
 - (f) the nature and value of any security provided by the borrower; and
 - (g) in the case of a title document—

- (i) a description of the document;
 - (ii) the date when the document left the possession or control of the licenceholder;
 - (iii) whether the borrower confirmed receipt of the document; and
 - (iv) the date when it came back into the possession or control of the licenceholder.
- (3) While any loan is outstanding, the licenceholder must keep under review—
- (a) the level of exposure of the parties to the transaction,
 - (b) the risk of default by the borrower,
 - (c) the value of any security referred to in paragraph (2)(f), and
 - (d) any effect of the transaction on the interests of the client (in particular the matters referred to in paragraph (1)(b)(i)).

4.12 Investments etc. held as collateral

- (1) For the purpose of this rule a licenceholder holds a client's investment, or a title document relating to a client's investment, as collateral if with the written consent of the client he holds it as security for money which is due or may become due to the licenceholder from the client or any other person.
- (2) Where a licenceholder holds a client's investments, or title documents relating to a client's investments, some (but not all) of which are held as collateral, the investments or documents which are held as collateral must be identified in the licenceholder's records as so held and distinguished from those which are not so held.
- (3) The licenceholder must not, without the prior written consent of the client, return to the client an investment or title document other than the original investment or title document held as collateral; but this paragraph does not preclude the licenceholder returning the collateral in the form of cash where the investment matures.
- (4) The licenceholder must not, without the prior written consent of the client, use an investment or title document held as collateral for the purpose of security for—

- (a) the licenceholder's own obligations; or
- (b) the obligations of another customer or person.

Chapter 3 – Safekeeping of title documents

4.13 Safekeeping of clients' title documents

- (1) Where a title document relating to a client's investment is in the possession or under the control of a licenceholder, it must—
 - (a) maintain a record of the location of the document;
 - (b) take all proper steps to preserve the document, taking no less care of it than it ought to take if the document related to its own investment; and
 - (c) continue to comply with sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) until the document is delivered to the client or, on the instruction of the client, to another person (other than the licenceholder's own custodian).
- (2) In particular—
 - (a) the licenceholder must not part with possession of the document to any person other than the client except—
 - (i) on the client's instructions,
 - (ii) in accordance with the terms of any written agreement with the client; or
 - (iii) pursuant to a requirement of a court of competent jurisdiction or other lawful demand;
 - (b) the document shall be held so that it is readily apparent that the investment to which it relates does not belong to the licenceholder or to an associate of the licenceholder;
 - (c) the document must be segregated from title documents relating to investments of persons other than that client;
 - (d) a bearer document must be kept in locked custody with 2 or more keys or combination locks (or both) required to enter any particular stronghold, each key or combination to be held or controlled by a separate individual; and
 - (e) the licenceholder must maintain a system of internal control over access to the document.

4.14 Safekeeping by other persons

- (1) A licenceholder may not, without the consent in writing of the client, arrange for a title document relating to a client's investment to be kept by a person other than the licenceholder.
- (2) Where a licenceholder arranges for a title document relating to a client's investment to be kept by a person other than the licenceholder, the licenceholder must ensure that that person complies with the requirements of rule ~~4.134.13~~ as though—
 - (a) those rules applied to that person; and
 - (b) the references to the licenceholder were references to that person.

Formatted: F

PART 5 – AUDIT

Chapter 1 – General requirements for licenceholders incorporated in the Island

5.1 Application

- (1) This Chapter does not apply to any licenceholder ~~in relation to activities falling within Class 8 that is only licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3).~~
- (2) Subject to paragraph (1), this Chapter applies to all licenceholders incorporated in the Island.

5.2 Appointment of auditors

- (1) A licenceholder must have at all times an auditor that is qualified, and is not ineligible, to act as such.
- (2) For the purpose of this rule, a person is qualified to act as an auditor of a licenceholder if it—
 - (a) is a member of, and holds a current practising certificate issued by, one or more of the following bodies —
 - (i) the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales;
 - (ii) the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland;
 - (iii) the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland;
or
 - (iv) the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
 - (b) has a permanent place of business on the Island;
 - (c) is covered by an appropriate level of professional indemnity insurance suitable to the licenceholder being audited; and
 - (d) in the case of a licenceholder which is a company, he is not disqualified for appointment as auditor of the licenceholder by section 14D of the Companies Act 1982.

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (c) above, if the licenceholder is incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 and the auditor has capped liability, the liability must not be capped below the appropriate level.

- (3) For the purpose of this rule, a person is ineligible to act as an auditor of a licenceholder if—

- (a) in the case of an individual, he is—
 - (i) a director, partner, controller, officer, tied agent or employee of the licenceholder;
 - (ii) a partner of, or in the employment of, any person falling within (i) above; or
 - (iii) a close relative of any person falling within (i) above;
 - (iv) not treated as independent of the licenceholder under any code of ethics issued from time to time by the body of accountants of which he is a member; or
 - (v) declared by the Commission to be ineligible to act as an auditor of the licenceholder, of any description of licenceholders which includes the licenceholder or of licenceholders generally;
- (b) in the case of a firm—
 - (i) it is declared by the Commission to be ineligible to act as an auditor of the licenceholder, of any description of licenceholders which includes the licenceholder or of licenceholders generally; or
 - (ii) the principal directly responsible in the firm for the audit of the licenceholder falls within subparagraph (a)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v).
- (4) For the purpose of paragraph (3)—
 - (a) an individual is not to be treated as an officer or employee of a licenceholder by reason only of being auditor of that licenceholder;
 - (b) "close relative", in relation to an individual, means a spouse, parent, step-parent, brother, sister, half-brother, half-sister, child or step-child, or a person, whether or not of the opposite sex, living with the individual in a relationship similar to that of husband and wife.

5.3 Suitability of auditor

- (1) Before appointing a person as its auditor, a licenceholder must ensure that that person is qualified, and is not ineligible, to act as such.

- (2) A licenceholder must on request provide the Commission with evidence of the resources, knowledge, experience and competence of—
 - (a) its auditor, or
 - (b) any person whom it intends to appoint as its auditor.
- (3) If the Commission reasonably believes that a person—
 - (a) does not have sufficient resources, knowledge, experience and competence to perform the duties of the auditor of the licenceholder under this Part, or
 - (b) is otherwise incapable of performing those duties, or
 - (c) is otherwise unsuitable to be the auditor of the licenceholder,the Commission may declare that that person is ineligible to act as auditor of the licenceholder.

5.4 Requirements for auditors

- (1) Where the same firm carries out the internal and external audits of a licenceholder, different partners or directors must be responsible for these audits.
- (2) In this rule—

"external audit" means any audit of the licenceholder for the purpose of this Part, Part I of the Companies Act 1982 or any other statutory provision;

"internal audit" means any audit of the licenceholder carried out by it or at its request, except an external audit.

5.5 Engagement letter

- (1) Before the commencement of the appointment of an auditor, a licenceholder must obtain from the auditor an engagement letter—
 - (a) containing an undertaking by the auditor to provide the licenceholder and the Commission with the reports and letters required by this Part;
 - (b) defining clearly the extent of the rights and duties of the auditor; and
 - (c) signed and accepted in writing by or on behalf of both the licenceholder and the auditor.

- (2) For the purpose of this Part a licenceholder is not to be treated as having an auditor unless an engagement letter complying with paragraph (1) has been obtained and is still in force.
- (3) A licenceholder must provide a copy of the engagement letter to the Commission on request.

5.6 Audit of annual financial statements

- (1) A licenceholder must require that its annual financial statements are audited by its auditor in accordance with—
 - (a) the International Standards on Auditing issued from time to time by the International Auditing Practices Committee, or
 - (b) the International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued from time to time by the Auditing Standards Board in the United Kingdom.
- (2) The licenceholder must submit its audited annual financial statements to the Commission not later than 4 months after its annual reporting date.

5.7 Notification

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission immediately on—
 - (a) the appointment of an auditor, and
 - (b) the removal or resignation of an auditor, and the reasons for it.
- (2) Where an auditor resigns or is removed by the licenceholder or is not reappointed at the end of his term in office, the licenceholder must provide to the Commission or arrange for the provision of a statement signed by the auditor stating either—
 - (a) that there are no circumstances connected with his ceasing to hold office which the auditor considers should be brought to the attention of the Commission; or
 - (b) the circumstances connected with his ceasing to hold office which are required to be reported to the Commission under section 17 of the Act.
- (3) A licenceholder must notify the Commission immediately where—

- (a) its auditor has qualified his report or has included an emphasis of matter paragraph in relation to the annual financial statements of the licenceholder, or
- (b) it has reason to believe that its auditor is likely to qualify or include an emphasis of matter paragraph in relation to that report.

5.8 Management letter

- (1) A licenceholder must –
 - (a) provide the Commission with a copy of any management letter (or equivalent) which –
 - (i) the licenceholder receives from its auditor in respect of the audit of its annual financial statement, and
 - (ii) contains any recommendations to the licenceholder to remedy any weakness in its systems and internal controls of the licenceholder; and
 - (b) inform the Commission whether the licenceholder has implemented or is implementing those recommendations, and if not, its reasons for not doing so.
- (2) Where the licenceholder receives no management letter (or equivalent) from its auditor, it must provide the Commission with a copy of an auditor's letter confirming that no such management letter (or equivalent) has been or will be issued.
- (3) The licenceholder must comply with the requirements of paragraphs (1) and (2) not later than 4 months after its annual reporting date.

5.9 Rights of auditor

- (1) A licenceholder must afford its auditor –
 - (a) the right of access at all times to its accounting and any other records relevant to the auditor's duties, and
 - (b) the right to obtain from the officers, controllers and managers of the licenceholder such information and explanations as the auditor may consider necessary in the performance of his duties.
- (2) A licenceholder must permit and require his auditor to provide to the Commission such information and opinions as the

Commission requests, being information or opinions relevant to the functions of the Commission.

5.10 Contents of audit reports

- (1) The auditor's report on the annual financial statements of a licenceholder must report by exception on any failure to keep proper accounting records during the financial year to which the statements relate.
- (2) Where the licenceholder is part of a group subject to a group audit, the auditor's report must be signed by the Isle of Man office of the auditor.

5.11 Meaning of 'auditor' for purposes of section 17 of Act

The auditor of a permitted person for the purpose of section 17 of the Act (reports to Commission) is—

- (a) in the case of a licenceholder, any person appointed as its auditor in accordance with Chapter 1 of Part 5;
- (b) in any other case, any person by whom the accounts of or relating to the permitted person are audited (whether for the purposes of the Companies Act 1982 or otherwise); and
- (c) in any case, any accountant (not being an employee of the permitted person) who is in any way concerned in the keeping of the accounting records, or the preparation or audit of the accounts, of or relating to the permitted person.

Chapter 2— General requirements for licenceholders incorporated outside the Island

5.12 Application

- (1) This Chapter does not apply to any ~~licenceholder~~ ~~liceneeholder~~ ~~in relation to activities falling within Class 8.~~ that is only licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3).
- (2) Subject to paragraph (1), this Chapter applies to all licenceholders which are incorporated outside the Island.

5.13 Appointment of auditors

- (1) A licenceholder must have at all times an auditor who is qualified, and is not ineligible, to act as such.
- (2) For the purpose of this rule, a person is qualified, and is not ineligible, to act as an auditor of a licenceholder if, and only if,

he complies with whichever of the following conditions is applicable—

- (a) where the licenceholder is required to have an auditor by the law of the country or territory in which it is incorporated, he is qualified under that law to act as an auditor of the licenceholder; or
 - (b) where the licenceholder is not required to have an auditor by that law, he is qualified, and is not ineligible, under rule ~~5.25-2~~ (except paragraph (2)(c)) to act as an auditor of a licenceholder incorporated in the Island.
- (3) A licenceholder must notify the Commission forthwith of—
- (a) the appointment of an auditor, and
 - (b) the removal or resignation of an auditor, and the reasons for it.
- (4) Where the licenceholder is not required to have an auditor by the law of the country or territory in which it is incorporated, rules ~~5.45-4, 5.55-5, 5.75-7, 5.95-9~~ and ~~5.105-10~~ apply as if the licenceholder were incorporated in the Island.

5.14 Management letter

- (1) A licenceholder must—
- (a) provide the Commission with a copy of any management letter (or equivalent) which, in respect of operations in the Isle of Man—
 - (i) the licenceholder receives from its auditor in respect of the audit of any of its annual financial statements, and
 - (ii) contains any recommendations to the licenceholder to remedy any weakness in its systems and internal controls of the licenceholder; and
 - (b) inform the Commission whether the licenceholder has implemented or is implementing those recommendations, and if not, its reasons for not doing so.
- (2) Where the licenceholder receives no such management letter (or equivalent) from its auditor, it must provide the Commission with a copy of the auditor's letter confirming that no such management letter (or equivalent) has been or will be issued.

- (3) The licenceholder must comply with the requirements of paragraphs (1) and (2) not later than 4 months after its annual reporting date.

Chapter 3 – Specific requirements for all deposit takers

5.15 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1.

5.16 Auditor’s letter regarding returns

- (1) In connection with the audit of a licenceholder's annual financial statements, the licenceholder must ensure that the auditor—
 - (a) verifies one quarter’s set of deposit-taking returns, as submitted to the Commission during that period in accordance with rule ~~2.242-24~~ or ~~2.282-28~~, against the licenceholder's accounting records, and
 - (b) details his findings in writing to the licenceholder.
- (2) The set of returns selected for the purpose of paragraph (1) must not be for a quarter the end of which coincides with the licenceholder’s annual reporting date.
- (3) The licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the auditor’s letter under paragraph (1)(b).
- (4) Where the auditor’s letter under paragraph (1)(b) identifies exceptions, the licenceholder must provide the Commission with its written comments on the exceptions when it submits the auditor’s letter to the Commission.
- (5) The licenceholder must comply with the requirements of paragraphs (3) and (4) not later than 4 months after its annual reporting date.

Chapter 4 – Specific requirements for deposit takers incorporated in the Island

5.17 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1 which are incorporated in the Island.

5.18 Auditor’s letter – additional requirements

- (1) In addition to the information required by paragraph 1(b) of rule 5.16 and in connection with the audit of a licenceholder's

Formatted: F
Formatted: F

annual financial statements for any accounting period, the licenceholder must provide the Commission with a letter from its auditor confirming that to the best of the auditor's knowledge and belief it has in that period complied with—

- (a) rule ~~2.142-14~~ (retention of accounting records),
- (b) rule ~~2.222-22~~ (charges on assets), and
- (c) rule ~~2.232-23~~ (capital resources).

- (2) The licenceholder must comply with the requirements of paragraph (1) not later than 4 months after the end of the period in question.

Chapter 5 — Specific requirements for all incorporated investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers

5.19 Application

This Chapter applies to all incorporated licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5, ~~or Class 6~~ Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4).

5.20 Auditor 's letter

- (1) The licenceholder must provide the Commission with a letter from its auditor which must—
 - (a) be addressed to the Commission; and
 - (b) state whether in the auditor's opinion—
 - (i) any general or specific requirements of Part 2 applicable to the annual financial statements are complied with;
 - (ii) the licenceholder has maintained throughout the period to which the statements relate systems adequate to enable it to comply with Parts 3 and 4 (as applicable) and whether it complied with those Parts at the balance sheet date; and
 - (iii) reconciliations of clients' money, relevant funds and clients' investments (as applicable) have been performed in accordance with Parts 3 and 4.
- (2) The licenceholder must comply with the requirements of paragraph (1) not later than 4 months after the end of the period in question.

- (3) Where the licenceholder is also licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1, the opinions required by paragraph (1)(b)(ii) and (iii) need only be included if the licenceholder holds clients' money, relevant funds or clients' investments. Where the licenceholder does not hold clients' money, relevant funds or clients' investments, these opinions must be replaced with a statement to this effect.

Chapter 6— Specific requirements for investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, payment institutions and e-money issuers incorporated in the Island

5.21 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5 ~~or Class 6~~, Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4), which are incorporated in the Island unless the licenceholders are also licensed to carry on regulated activities within Class 1.

5.22 Auditor's letter – additional requirements

In addition to the information required by rule 5.20, the licenceholder must provide the Commission with a letter from its auditor confirming that, in the auditor's opinion—

- (a) the reconciliation required by rule ~~2.402.40~~(1)(c) has been prepared in accordance with that rule; and
- (b) the licenceholder's financial resources have been properly calculated in accordance with rule 2.37.

Formatted: F

PART 6 – CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

Chapter 1 – General requirements for all licenceholders

6.1 Application

- (1) This Chapter does not apply to any ~~licenceholder in relation to~~
~~(a) — its activities falling within Class 8, or~~
~~(b) — licenceholders that are individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of —~~

~~(ai)~~ paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company); and

~~(bii)~~ paragraph (2), ~~(5)~~ or ~~(65)~~ of Class 5 (acting as trustee, protector or ~~enforcer~~~~protector~~).

~~(2) — Rules 6.4, 6.5, 6.8, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 6.12, 6.13, 6.14 and 6.15 do not apply to any licenceholder that is only licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3).~~

~~(32)~~ Subject to paragraphs (1) ~~and (2)~~, this Chapter applies to all licenceholders.

6.2 Skill, care and diligence

A licenceholder must act with due skill, care and diligence in carrying on regulated activities.

6.3 Responsible behaviour in dealings by officers etc.

A licenceholder must have procedures for ensuring that, where any regulated activity is carried on by any of its officers or employees, the officer or employee —

- (a) does so openly and fairly,
- (b) complies with any applicable law or regulations relating to that activity in the country or territory in which it is carried on,
- (c) so far as possible, avoids any conflict of interest;
- (d) so far as any conflict of interest cannot be avoided, discloses the conflict to the licenceholder and any client concerned; and
- (e) discloses to the licenceholder and any client concerned any private benefit to the officer or employee.

6.4 Responsible behaviour

- (1) A licenceholder must have procedures for requiring those seeking to obtain business on its behalf—
 - (a) to do so in a way which is clear, fair and not misleading;
 - (b) to avoid any undue pressure, and
 - (c) to make clear the purpose or purposes of the contact at the initial point of communication; and
 - (d) to identify themselves and the licenceholder that they represent to clients and potential clients by providing contact information in writing.
- (2) This rule has been revoked.
- (3) The licenceholder must not communicate with a person at an unsocial hour, unless the person has previously agreed to such a communication.
- (4) For the purpose of paragraph (3), "unsocial hour" means—
 - (a) any time on a Sunday, Good Friday or Christmas Day;
 - (b) before 9.00 am or after 9.00 pm on any other day;
 - (c) any other day or any other time—
 - (i) where the licenceholder knows that the person concerned does not wish to be called on that day or at that time, or
 - (ii) where the licenceholder has reason to believe that the person concerned would not wish to be called on that day or at that time (for example, because of religious observance or working patterns).

6.5 Introductions to overseas branches etc.

- (1) A licenceholder who introduces a client to an overseas financial business must—
 - (a) disclose to the client that the business will not be regulated under the Act, and
 - (b) inform the client of the system of regulation of financial services applying to the business in the country or territory where it is located.
- (2) In this rule "overseas financial business" means a person carrying on, in a country or territory outside the Island, an

activity which would be a regulated activity if it were carried on in the Island.

6.6 Action likely to bring Island into disrepute

- (1) A licenceholder must not carry on business of such a kind or in such a way as may be likely to bring the Island into disrepute or damage its standing as a financial centre.
- (2) A licenceholder must not maintain anonymous or fictitious accounts or business relationships.
- (3) If a licenceholder maintains a numbered account it must—
 - (a) identify, and verify the identity of, the customer, and
 - (b) maintain the account in such a way as to comply fully with the requirements of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Code 2010.⁵ and Prevention of Terrorist Financing Code 2011⁶ or any successor.

6.7 Integrity and fair dealing

- (1) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) observe high standards of integrity and fair dealing in carrying on regulated activities, and
 - (b) comply with any applicable code or standard which is imposed or endorsed by—
 - (i) any professional body of which the licenceholder is a member;
 - (ii) any exchange on which the licenceholder does business; or
 - (iii) the Commission where a code or standard has been specified in writing to the licenceholder for the purpose of this rule.
- (2) Rules ~~6.86-8~~ to ~~6.126-12~~ are without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (1).

6.8 Informed decisions

A licenceholder must—

⁵ SD 508/10

⁶ SD 503/11

- (a) take all reasonable steps to enable its clients to take informed decisions relating to their business with the licenceholder, and
- (b) avoid misleading or deceptive representations or practices.

6.9 Independence

- (1) A licenceholder—
 - (a) must not claim that it is independent or impartial if it is not, and
 - (b) must ensure that any claim it makes as to its independence or impartiality adequately includes any limitation which there may be on either.
- (2) Without prejudice to paragraph (1), a licenceholder must not represent itself as acting independently if it has any relationship or arrangement with any other person which—
 - (a) brings any distortion into the way in which it conducts its business with a client; or
 - (b) results in an advantage to the licenceholder, or a disadvantage to the client, in any business done with that person.

6.10 Gifts and other benefits

A licenceholder must not—

- (a) offer or receive, or
 - (b) permit any employee or agent to offer or receive,
- any gift or other direct or indirect benefit, if to do so might adversely influence the giving of advice by, or the exercise of discretion on the part of, the licenceholder.

6.11 Remuneration

A licenceholder's remuneration must be related to—

- (a) the disclosed relationship between the licenceholder and the client, and
- (b) the services provided by the licenceholder to the client.

6.12 Conflicts of interest — general

- (1) Where a conflict of interest arises—
 - (a) between the licenceholder or any relevant person and its clients, or

- (b) between one client and another,
in the course of carrying on any regulated activities, the licenceholder must promptly notify each of the clients concerned of that fact.
- (2) For the avoidance of doubt, any borrowing by the licenceholder or a relevant person from a client amounts to a conflict of interest.
- (3) This rule is without prejudice to rules 8.78.7 and 8.88.8.

6.13 Advertisements – general

- (1) A licenceholder must not publish or cause or permit to be published—
 - (a) any advertisement for a product or service which does not contain a fair and accurate indication of the product or service;
 - (b) any advertisement which hides, diminishes or obscures important statements or warnings;
 - (c) any advertisement which might damage the reputation of the Island; or
 - (d) any advertisement which makes a prediction or forecast of future income which—
 - (i) is not based on and consistent with present conditions, or
 - (ii) does not include a warning that past performance is not an indicator of future performance.

(2) Where a licenceholder is licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4), it must not publish or cause or permit to be published any advertisement which refers to these regulated activities unless the advertisement states in a prominent position that such activities do not constitute deposit taking activities and they are not protected by a compensation scheme.

6.14 Reference to licensing

- (1) A licenceholder must not publish or cause or permit to be published any advertisement (other than an advertisement which does not mention or relate to a regulated activity) which does not—

- (a) state in a prominent position that the licenceholder is licensed by the Commission; and
 - (b) state the business name of the licenceholder and its principal business address in the Island.
- (2) A licenceholder must in all correspondence and other documents issued or published by it (including business cards, emails, websites, terms of business and client agreements) state in a prominent position that it is licensed by the Commission.
- (3) Subject to paragraphs (4) and (6), the statement under paragraph (1)(a) or (2) must be in the following form –
"Licensed by the Financial Supervision Commission of the Isle of Man".
- (4) The statement may use the term "Isle of Man Financial Supervision Commission" instead of "Financial Supervision Commission of the Isle of Man".
- (5) This rule does not apply to—
 - (a) cheques, cheque books or paying in books;
 - (b) bank statements, deposit confirmations or foreign exchange confirmations;
 - (c) cheque guarantee, charge, debit or credit cards or cards of a similar nature; or
 - (d) radio advertisements.
- (6) Existing stocks of stationery which contain a statement that was compliant with rule 6.14 of the Financial Services Rule Book 2008 may be used until those stocks are depleted.

6.15 ~~Details~~isplay of licence

- (1) ~~A licenceholder must prominently display the first page, or a copy of the first page, of its licence in its principal place of business in the Island. This rule has been deleted.~~
- (2) A licenceholder must provide to any client on request—
 - (a) information regarding the conditions attached to its licence, and
 - (b) details of any exception or modification of any rule applicable to it.

Chapter 2— General requirements for deposit takers

6.16 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1.

6.17 Reference to compensation scheme (and other protection arrangements) in advertisements

- (1) A licenceholder must not publish or cause or permit to be published any advertisement which states or implies that any deposits or interest will be guaranteed, secured, insured or the subject of any form of protection (other than that provided by regulations under section 25 of the Act) unless it states—
 - (a) the form of the protection;
 - (b) the extent of the protection; and
 - (c) the full name of the person who will be liable to meet any claim by the depositor by virtue of the arrangements conferring the protection.
- (2) A licenceholder which is not a participant in a scheme established by regulations under section 25 of the Act must not publish or cause or permit to be published any advertisement which refers to its deposit taking business or contains an invitation to make deposits unless it states in a prominent position that the licenceholder is not a participant in that scheme.

6.17A Reference to group ownership

In any literature and advertising material that invites the making of deposits a licenceholder must disclose the relationship between it and the wider group of which it is a part, including information relating to the financial standing of the licenceholder and the group.

Chapter 3 — General requirements for all investment businesses

6.18 Application

- (1) This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2.
- (2) Subject to paragraph (1), when a licenceholder is acting on an execution only basis, rules 6.19, 6.28, 6.29, 6.30, 6.31, 6.34, 6.35, 6.36 and 6.41 do not apply.

- (3) Subject to paragraph (1), where a licenceholder is undertaking activities on a limited advice basis only, rules 6.30 and 6.35 apply only in relation to the extent of the information provided.

6.18A Execution only and limited advice

- (1) When a licenceholder is undertaking activities on an execution only basis, the licenceholder must confirm the execution only status in writing before arranging a deal, pointing out the consequent reduction of investor protection to the client.
- (2) When a licenceholder is undertaking activities on a limited advice basis, the licenceholder must confirm the limited advice status in writing before giving advice or arranging a deal, pointing out the consequent reduction of investor protection to the client.

6.19 Recommendations which may benefit licenceholder

- (1) A licenceholder must not recommend to a retail investor a transaction if the recommendation is motivated largely by a benefit which it may bring to the licenceholder, unless the transaction is demonstrably to the client's advantage.
- (2) In this rule "benefit" includes a volume override (that is, an extra commission for generating additional trades).

6.20 Churning

A licenceholder must not effect transactions with unnecessary frequency or in excessive size with or for a client for whom the licenceholder exercises discretion as to the management of the client's investments.

6.21 Valuation of investments which are not marketable

- (1) This rule applies where a licenceholder manages investments on behalf of a client and the amount of any remuneration of the licenceholder is dependent upon the value of any such investments.
- (2) The valuation of any investment which is not readily marketable, or for which information for determining their current value may not be available, must be on the basis of an arm's length valuation which has been—
 - (a) prepared by or confirmed as an arm's length valuation by an independent and competent person; or

- (b) agreed expressly with the client at the time that the management agreement is signed.

6.22 Front running

A licenceholder must not enter, or permit any person associated with the licenceholder to enter, into an investment transaction ahead of a client, if that client ought to have priority.

6.23 Fairness in allocation

Where, on an allocation of stock or other investments, there is not enough to go round, the licenceholder must always—

- (a) allocate what it has fairly and uniformly, and
- (b) put itself last unless its participation in the transaction enabled every participant to get a better deal.

6.24 Distribution of transactions among clients

A licenceholder must not allocate or transfer to any client any deal (or part of a deal) in an investment which it entered into as principal unless—

- (a) the allocation or transfer was unconditionally decided upon in principle before the deal was done, or
- (b) the investment has improved in value since the deal, the licenceholder is satisfied that the investment is suitable for the client and the client obtains the benefit of best execution and of the improvement in value.

6.25 Skill, care and diligence

Rules ~~6.266.26~~ to ~~6.326.32~~ are without prejudice to rule ~~6.26.2~~.

6.26 Prompt and timely execution

- (1) A licenceholder must act promptly in accordance with its instructions, unless—
 - (a) it has been given a discretion as to timing, and
 - (b) it uses that discretion in an alert and sensible way.
- (2) Instructions and decisions to buy or sell must be recorded as soon as taken, with the date and, whenever possible, the time.

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

6.27 Best execution

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), a licenceholder must not transact business for a client on worse terms than it would expect to obtain for itself, allowing for the size of the transaction.
- (2) Where a licenceholder effects a transaction through—
 - (a) another licenceholder, or
 - (b) a person authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority in the United Kingdom,it may rely upon that person to obtain best execution provided that the client has accepted those arrangements in writing.

6.28 Fairness with research or analysis

A licenceholder must not—

- (a) deal for itself or any person associated with it ahead of the distribution of its own or an associate's research or analysis and with advance knowledge of anything that might possibly be price sensitive in it; or
- (b) distribute research or analysis containing recommendations from which a licenceholder expects to benefit (including by way of past or future principal transactions, or because of a material interest) unless the anticipated source of benefit is disclosed; or
- (c) otherwise behave unfairly in the way in which it acts upon its own or an associate's research or analysis.

6.29 Knowledge of client

- (1) A licenceholder must find out enough about a retail investor's personal and financial circumstances, investment objectives, attitude to risk and time horizons to enable it to act properly for him in investment matters.
- (2) Where a licenceholder is licensed to carry on ~~only~~ activities falling within paragraphs (3) ~~and~~/or (7) of Class 2 ~~and is acting in the capacity of ("a financial adviser")~~, it must –
 - (a) complete a fact-find which must be signed by the client;
 - (b) provide a copy of the signed fact-find to the client; and
 - (c) retain a copy of the signed fact-find on the client's file.
- (3) The fact-find should be updated prior to a licenceholder undertaking new business for a client and the steps in paragraph

2 (a), (b) and (c) must be repeated during subsequent business transactions.

6.30 Suitability

- (1) A licenceholder must ensure —
 - (a) in making recommendations to a client,
 - (b) in exercising discretion, and
 - (c) in advising about the client's instructions,having taken reasonable steps to inform itself of what is available on the market—
 - (i) that any transaction is not unsuitable for the client, and
 - (ii) if he is a retail investor, that it is positively suitable for him.
- (2) A licenceholder must ensure that a retail investor is only recommended products suitable for their circumstances (including attitude to risk, age and state of health).

6.31 Life policies and collective investment schemes

- (1) This rule applies to the following investments—
 - (a) a life policy;
 - (b) units in a collective investment scheme.
- (2) A licenceholder must not—
 - (a) recommend to any client, or
 - (b) effect on behalf of a client,the acquisition of an investment to which this rule applies unless it is satisfied—
 - (i) that it will be suitable for the client, and
 - (ii) that it does not compare unfavourably with competing products.
- (3) A licenceholder must not—
 - (a) recommend to any client, or
 - (b) effect on behalf of a client,a switch of investments to which this rule applies unless it—
 - (i) reasonably believes that the switch will be to the client's advantage, and

- (ii) can demonstrate to the Commission, if required, the basis of that belief.
- (4) Instructions and decisions to acquire or switch an investment to which this rule applies must be recorded as soon as taken, with the date and, whenever possible, the time.

6.32 Restriction on authority conferred by product companies

A licenceholder must prohibit by the terms of employment or contract its employees and tied agents who are authorised to canvass for business from canvassing for or advising about life policies or collective investment schemes other than its own.

6.33 Dealings by employees on own account

- (1) This rule applies where—
- (a) an employee of a licenceholder is permitted to deal on his own account, and
 - (b) a conflict of interest may arise in relation to such dealings.
- (2) The licenceholder must ensure that—
- (a) the employee is given a written notice (a “personal account notice”) complying with Schedule 6.1; and
 - (b) the employee gives the licenceholder a written undertaking to observe the requirements of the notice.
- (3) The licenceholder must establish and maintain compliance procedures and appropriate arrangements to mitigate the potential for conflicts of interest in relation to such dealings.

6.34 Disclosure and information

- (1) A licenceholder must take all reasonable steps to ensure that a retail investor is given sufficient information which he is able to understand to enable him to make balanced and informed investment decisions.
- (2) The client must be given sufficient time to consider recommendations made prior to the arrangement of any deals.
- (3) A copy of the research undertaken and the rationale for the advice must be retained on the client’s file.
- (4) Where a licenceholder is licensed to carry on only activities falling within paragraphs (3) or (7) of Class 2 (“a financial adviser”), prior to the arrangement of any deals, the client must

be provided with a comprehensive reasons why letter which contains a full explanation of the benefits and risks of any recommendation.

The reasons why letter must –

- (a) be tailored to the client's situation;
- (b) be in plain, jargon-free English;
- (c) include –
 - (i) a summary of the client's financial position, including any limitations of information provided by the client;
 - (ii) a balanced rationale for the recommendations made, including details of the recommended products' characteristics and risks, and why those products are suitable for the particular client;
 - (iii) product literature or illustrations where available;
 - (iv) details as to whether each products has a cooling off period, and where there is no cooling off period, a statement informing the client of the risk of losing a substantial amount of their investment if they change their mind and decide, after starting the investment, not to continue with it;
 - (v) a cost benefit analysis of any switches or surrenders, or gearing and why these are in the best interests of the client; and
 - (vi) whether an annual review will or will not be undertaken on the investments.

A copy of the research undertaken, product selection process and the reasons why letter must be retained on the client's file.

(5) Where the licenceholder will receive any commission or other remuneration, payment or benefit howsoever arising as a result of the transaction being undertaken or service being provided, the licenceholder must disclose that sum (or the formula for its calculation if the amount is unknown, together with a clear and simple example of the calculation) to the client prior to the transaction being undertaken or service being provided.

6.35 Understanding of risk

- (1) This rule applies where a client is a retail investor.
- (2) A licenceholder must not—
 - (a) recommend a transaction to the client, or
 - (b) exercise discretion for the client in the management of investments,unless it has taken reasonable steps—
 - (i) to ascertain the nature and level of the risk which the client is willing to accept, and
 - (ii) to enable him to understand the nature and level of the risks involved.
- (3) Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (2), a licenceholder must not—
 - (a) advise the client to deal, or deal with or for him, in unregulated collective investment schemes, futures, options, contracts for differences or warrants, unless it has arranged for the client to receive, and the client has by returning a signed copy shown that he has understood, a risk disclosure statement in the form specified in —
 - (i) Part 1 of Schedule 6.2, in the case of dealings in unregulated collective investment schemes;
 - (ii) Part 2 of Schedule 6.2, in the case of dealings in futures, options or contracts for differences; or
 - (iii) Part 3 of Schedule 6.2, in the case of dealings in warrants; or
 - (b) advise him to buy or effect in the exercise of discretion any purchase of an illiquid investment, unless it has—
 - (i) informed the client of the nature and extent of the risks involved in such investments, including any difficulties in determining their value, and
 - (ii) obtained his written consent.

6.36 Disclosure of product particulars

- (1) A licenceholder must ensure that, before or immediately after a recommendation is made by it or on its behalf to acquire an investment to which rule ~~6.316.31~~ applies, and before a

commitment is made to acquire the investment, a retail investor is given or sent a statement, prepared by the licenceholder or the product ~~provider~~company, which informs him of—

- (a) details of the investment,
 - (b) premiums or other amounts payable then and in the future,
 - (c) the factors relevant to the ultimate value of the investment or benefits payable under it,
 - (d) the consequences of not keeping up the payments, and
 - (e) any surrender or transfer value.
- (2) This rule does not apply where the licenceholder is acting under the terms of a discretionary management agreement.

6.37 Disclosure of conflicts of interest

- (1) Any borrowing from a client must be disclosed to the client.
- (2) Without prejudice to paragraph (1), where the conflicts of interest policy referred to in rule ~~8.78.7~~ is not sufficient to ensure, with reasonable confidence, that risks of damage to the interests of its clients will be prevented, a licenceholder must clearly disclose the general nature or sources, or both, of conflicts of interest to the client before carrying on any activity on its behalf.
- (3) The disclosure required by paragraph (1) or (2) must—
 - (a) be in writing, and
 - (b) include sufficient detail, taking into account the nature of the client, to enable him to take an informed decision with respect to the activity in the context of which the conflict of interest arises.

Formatted: F

6.38 General need for client agreement or terms of business

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), a licenceholder must not carry on any regulated activity for a client unless either—
 - (a) it has entered into a written agreement (a "client agreement") with the client, signed by the client, relating to the services it provides, or
 - (b) in the case of an activity falling within paragraphs (3) or (7) of Class 2, it has provided the client with a written

terms of business, a copy of which has been signed by the client.

- (2) No client agreement or terms of business are required for—
 - (a) the issue of any tipsheet, broker's circular or similar publication;
 - (b) transactions not involving undue risk which are made while negotiations leading to a client agreement are taking place; and
 - (c) transactions made solely to complete outstanding obligations after an agreement has expired or been brought to an end.
- (3) A licenceholder must retain a signed copy of the client agreement or terms of business on file.
- (4) In rules ~~6.396.39~~ to 6.43 and 6.45 references to a client agreement include, where applicable, references to terms of business.

Formatted: F

6.39 Retail and other investors

- (1) A licenceholder shall treat a client who is an individual as a retail investor unless—
 - (a) the licenceholder has undertaken an adequate assessment of the client's expertise, experience and knowledge which gives a reasonable assurance that the client is capable of understanding the risks involved in making his own investment decisions,
 - (b) the licenceholder has informed him in writing that the level of protection afforded to him is lower than that offered to a retail investor, and
 - (c) the client agreement with the client states that he is not a retail investor.
- (2) A licenceholder shall treat a client who is not an individual as a retail investor if—
 - (a) the client has requested the licenceholder in writing to treat it as a retail investor, or
 - (b) the client agreement with the client states that it is a retail investor.
- (3) Where the licenceholder is undertaking a transaction for a client on an execution only basis the client shall not be treated as a retail investor.

6.40 Contents of client agreement or terms of business — general

- (1) A client agreement or terms of business must—
 - (a) set out the basis on which the licenceholder is to provide its services;
 - (b) provide information on all relevant facts relating to the licenceholder's remuneration (including the remuneration of any intermediary which is payable by the client) attributable to the services provided; and
 - (c) state that the licenceholder is regulated by the Commission in the conduct of regulated activities.
- (2) A client agreement or terms of business must state that -
 - (a) the client may request details of the amount of remuneration being received by the licenceholder;
 - (b) the client has the right to request details of any relevant educational and professional qualifications, and the experience and track record, of—
 - (i) the licenceholder; and
 - (ii) any employee of the licenceholder directly engaged in providing services to the client;
 - (c) the licenceholder will not advise a client to use the services of another person who is an associate of the licenceholder without disclosing that relationship;
 - (d) where the licenceholder is a tied agent of the institution by which a financial product recommended to the client is marketed, disclose that relationship; and
 - (e) where applicable, state how interest received on client money is to be dealt with, in accordance with rule ~~3.143-14~~, and the arrangements for crediting interest to the client bank account.

Formatted: F

6.41 Contents of client agreement with retail investor

- (1) A client agreement with a retail investor should be easy to understand, not likely to be misunderstood and not deprive the client of any rights which he would have had if the agreement or terms had not existed. It must include terms relating to the following matters, so far as applicable—

- (a) the nature of the services to be provided by the licenceholder under it, including, where appropriate, the client's investment objectives and any restrictions on investments or markets in which funds may be invested;
 - (b) in respect of any fees payable by the client to the licenceholder—
 - (i) the basis of calculation;
 - (ii) the notice required for any increase of fees;
 - (iii) the method of payment (e.g. deduction or billing);
 - (iv) the frequency of payment; and
 - (v) whether or not any fees payable are to supplement or be abated by any remuneration receivable by the licenceholder in connection with transactions effected by the licenceholder with or for the client;
 - (c) this rule has been revoked;
 - (d) the manner in which the instructions may be given by the client for any transaction;
 - (e) the arrangements for handling and accounting for client money, specifying how the money is at all times separated from the licenceholder's money;
 - (f) the arrangements for registration and identification of ownership and safe custody of documents of title and the name of any nominee company used;
 - (g) the client's right to inspect copies of contract notes, vouchers and entries in books or electronic recording media relating to the clients' transactions, together with a statement that such records will be maintained for 6 years from the date of the transaction;
 - (h) arrangements for bringing the agreement to an end, which must include the right for the client to terminate the agreement on immediate written notice; and
 - (i) a statement that a summary of the licenceholder's conflicts of interest policy under rule ~~8.78.7~~ will be made available on request.
- (2) Where a licenceholder is effecting margined transactions on behalf of a retail investor, the agreement must include—

- (a) a warning that the licenceholder in certain circumstances may be required to obtain additional money from the client by way of margin;
 - (b) where the licenceholder intends to effect contracts which are not traded on and under an exchange, the specific authority of the client to do so;
 - (c) a statement of when a deposit or margin (including the initial and variation margin) may be required and the licenceholder's rights on failure to pay;
 - (d) a warning that failure to meet margin calls may lead to closing out without reference;
 - (e) a statement of the circumstances in which it might be possible for a licenceholder to close out without reference to the client.
- (3) The terms of the client agreement relating to any fees payable by the client to the licenceholder must detail—
- (a) the basis of calculation;
 - (b) the notice required for any increase of fees which should not be less than one month;
 - (c) the method of payment (e.g. deduction from income or capital belonging to a client or billing);
 - (d) the frequency of payment; and
 - (e) whether or not any fees payable are to supplement or be abated by any remuneration receivable by the licenceholder in connection with transactions effected by the licenceholder with or for the client.
- (4) This paragraph is without prejudice to rule [6.406-40](#).

Formatted: F

6.42 Discretionary management agreement

- (1) Where a licenceholder is to exercise discretion for a retail investor in the management of investments, the client agreement must include statements as to—
- (a) whether or not there is any restriction on—
 - (i) the categories of investment in which the fund may be invested, or

- (ii) the amount or the proportion of the fund which may be invested in any category of investment or in any one investment;
and, if so, what the restriction is;
 - (b) the frequency with which the client is to be supplied with a statement of the money and investments held and a valuation of them, and what the basis of valuation is to be;
 - (c) if the agreement is to include a measure of portfolio performance, the basis on which that performance is to be measured;
 - (d) whether hedging or borrowing powers are to be used, the nature of such powers and limits upon their use;
 - (e) whether the licenceholder may lend investments to or borrow investments from third parties or charge investments to secure borrowings, how such powers are to be exercised and the limits placed upon them;
- (2) The licenceholder must, at the time that the client agreement is signed or as soon as practicable thereafter, provide the client with a statement showing the initial composition of the investments and their initial value (so far as it can be ascertained).
- (3) Where investment is contemplated in areas involving higher risk investments on behalf of a retail investor, including—
- (a) writing of options and doing business in futures and contracts for differences;
 - (b) other margined transactions;
 - (c) illiquid investments; and
 - (d) participation in underwriting securities,
- the agreement must specifically state whether such transactions are permitted and any limits on the category of investment or on the financial commitment involved.

6.43 Compliance with client agreement

A licenceholder must comply with the terms of the client agreement in all dealings with or on behalf of a client.

6.44 Periodical information

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), a licenceholder which is managing investments for a client must normally account to him at least once in every 6 months as to the investment performance of the portfolio, stating —
 - (a) the current valuations,
 - (b) a suitable comparison with the movement of the market, and
 - (c) any changes in the composition of the investments.
- (2) A client may expressly waive the requirement for a biannual report in favour of an annual report, but before he does so the licenceholder must make the client aware that he is entitled to receive information every 6 months.

6.45 Penalty on termination

Where the client is a retail investor, the client agreement may provide for an additional payment to be made to the licenceholder upon the termination of the agreement, but this must be clearly disclosed in the client agreement.

6.46 Risk warning – futures, options and contracts for differences

- (1) A licenceholder must ensure, before it enters into any transaction in futures, options and contracts for differences with or for a retail investor, that the investor receives, signs and returns to the licenceholder a risk disclosure statement in the form set out in Schedule 6.2.
- (2) This rule does not apply where the licenceholder is acting under the terms of a discretionary management agreement.

6.47 Contracts to be on-exchange

- (1) A licenceholder must not undertake a margined transaction on behalf of a client through another person unless that person is either—
 - (a) another licenceholder licensed to carry on that activity; or
 - (b) an overseas person authorised in the country or territory in which it carries on business to undertake such transactions who is required to hold clients' money received in relation to such transactions in a segregated

bank account for that purpose and in his books to credit the client accordingly.

- (2) The licenceholder must take steps to ensure that the client's money is treated as client money by the person referred to in paragraph (1)(a) or (b).
- (3) A licenceholder must not, without the express permission of the client, undertake a margined transaction for a retail investor in a contract which is not traded on an exchange.

6.48 Liability in respect of margins

- (1) In relation to margined transactions a licenceholder must—
 - (a) keep daily track of the amount of margin or other requirements which must be paid for each client;
 - (b) ensure that any margin payable is required to be deposited in advance in cash or approved collateral,
 - (c) ensure that any deposit on a limited liability transaction is deposited promptly and in cash,
 - (d) ensure that margin, whenever properly required to be paid, is deposited in cash or approved collateral;
 - (e) make the client aware of the consequences of not paying a margin.
- (2) Where a licenceholder is effecting margined transactions as a discretionary portfolio manager or stockbroker, it must ascertain from—
 - (a) the person referred to in rule ~~6.476.47~~(1)(a) or (b), or
 - (b) the exchange on which the contract is traded,whether or not the licenceholder is responsible for the fulfilment of its clients' obligations.
- (3) If there is a shortfall on a margined transaction, the licenceholder must make up the difference until it obtains more cash or collateral from its client.
- (4) Where a licenceholder lends money to a client to make up such a shortfall, it must properly record the loan in its accounts.
- (5) In this rule "limited liability transaction" means a margined transaction effected by a licenceholder with a client, the terms of which provide that the maximum liability of the client in respect

Formatted: F

of the transaction shall be limited to an amount determined before the transaction is effected

6.49 Contract note etc

- (1) After a transaction has been carried out for a client, a licenceholder must send or cause to be sent to the client or to his order promptly a statement of the transaction.
- (2) Paragraph (1) does not apply where—
 - (a) the licenceholder reasonably believes that another licenceholder or the product ~~provider~~company will send such a note to the client;
 - (b) the transaction is effected with a market counterparty (unless otherwise required by contract or custom);
 - (c) the transaction relates to a life policy; or
 - (d) the client has made a specific request in writing, separate from any other agreement, that statements must not be sent to him and has not revoked the request.
- (3) Paragraph (1) does not apply where the transaction is part of a series of linked transactions, but the licenceholder must send or cause to be sent to the client or to his order a statement of the transactions—
 - (a) on completion of the series, or
 - (b) at appropriate intervals not more than 3 months apart;
- (4) Paragraph (1) does not apply where—
 - (a) the transaction involves a third party who has failed to provide information required of him; or
 - (b) a transaction involves the conversion of one currency into another and that conversion has not been made;in which case the licenceholder must send or cause to be sent to the client or to his order a statement of the essential features of the transaction as soon as practicable.
- (5) A statement required by paragraph (1), (3) or (4) must specify the essential features of the transaction including—
 - (a) the name and address of the licenceholder;
 - (b) the client's designation and account number;
 - (c) the date of the transaction;

- (d) a description of the investment and size of transaction;
 - (e) the nature of the transaction and unit price (and whether forward or historic price);
 - (f) the total cost;
 - (g) the amount of remuneration of the licenceholder;
 - (h) the amount of fees, taxes or duties;
 - (i) the settlement date;
 - (j) if the transaction involves converting one currency into another, the exchange rate.
- (6) Where—
- (a) the transaction relates to units in a collective investment scheme, and
 - (b) deductions for charges and expenses are not made uniformly throughout the life of an investment but are loaded disproportionately on the early years,
- the amount of any deductions must be expressed either in cash terms or as a percentage of the unit price.
- (7) Upon exercise of an option, the following items must be included in the statement required by paragraph (1), (3) or (4)—
- (a) the profit or loss to the client arising out of the exercise of the option; and
 - (b) the fees, commissions and expenses payable by the client, if any, in connection with the transaction.

Chapter 4 – Specific requirements for CIS service providers

6.50 Application and interpretation

- (1) This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 3.
- (2) In this Chapter "relevant scheme" means a collective investment scheme for which a licenceholder provides services which are regulated activities falling within Class 3.

6.51 Interests of scheme to be paramount

- (1) Where a licenceholder carries on any activity relating to a relevant scheme, the interests of the scheme must be the licenceholder's paramount consideration.

- (2) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) where practicable, avoid any conflict of interest arising in relation to a relevant scheme; and
 - (b) where a conflict arises, address that conflict through internal rules of confidentiality by—
 - (i) declining to act,
 - (ii) disclosing the nature of the conflict to the governing body of the scheme, or
 - (iii) where appropriate, seeking that body's written confirmation that the licenceholder may continue to provide services to the scheme.
- (3) When entering into financial, banking or other transactions on behalf of a relevant scheme, the licenceholder must—
 - (a) act in the best interests of the scheme; and
 - (b) not effect such transactions with unnecessary frequency or in excessive size.
- (4) Where the licenceholder provides services in respect of more than one scheme, the licenceholder should ensure that all schemes are dealt with fairly and no scheme is given unfair advantage.

6.52 Observance of terms of scheme particulars

In relation to a relevant scheme, a licenceholder must take all reasonable steps to comply with every statement in the most recently published offering document, explanatory memorandum or other documentation describing how he will—

- (a) operate the scheme, and
- (b) comply with the duties imposed on him by or under the Act.

6.53 Valuation of investments which are not marketable

- (1) This rule—
 - (a) applies where the licenceholder has responsibility for the calculation of net asset valuations of a relevant scheme; but
 - (b) does not apply in relation to activities falling within paragraph (11) or (12) of Class 3.

- (2) The valuation of any investment which is not readily marketable, or for which information for determining their current value may not be available, must be either—
 - (a) calculated in line with the licenceholder's documented policies and procedures in relation to the valuation of schemes, or
 - (b) prepared by or confirmed as an arm's length valuation by an independent and competent person.
- (3) The licenceholder must ensure that the method of valuation under paragraph (2)(a) or (b) is appropriate.

6.54 Participants to be treated fairly

- (1) In carrying on its activities a licenceholder must ensure that—
 - (a) all participants in a relevant scheme are treated fairly in accordance with the terms of the scheme, and
 - (b) no participant is given unfair advantage or priority.
- (2) Where a licenceholder is in possession of information that may be material to the prospects of a relevant scheme, it must, subject to any legal requirements and any duty of confidentiality, ensure that all participants are treated fairly when communicating such information.
- (3) A licenceholder must not give itself, or permit any person associated with it to be given, an unfair advantage or priority.

6.55 Material interests

Subject to any legal requirements and any duty of confidentiality, the licenceholder should, within a reasonable time, notify the governing body of a relevant scheme of any matter—

- (a) of which it becomes aware, and
- (b) the disclosure of which might reasonably be expected to be in the material interests of the scheme.

6.56 Forecasts of future income

- (1) This rule does not apply in relation to activities falling within paragraph (11) or (12) of Class 3.
- (2) Where a licenceholder makes or publishes a prediction or forecast of future income from a relevant scheme, it must be based on and consistent with present conditions.

- (3) The licenceholder must be able to justify the prediction or forecast to the Commission if required to do so.

6.57 Information to be supplied by tied agents

A licenceholder must ensure that its tied agents, when communicating with a retail investor, adequately inform the investor about the licenceholder and the agent's relationship with it.

6.58 Requirement for written functionary agreement

A licenceholder must not carry on any regulated activity falling within Class 3 for any person (other than a participant) except in accordance with an agreement in writing which sets out the terms on which its services are to be provided.

6.59 Services for overseas schemes

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission within 10 business days—
 - (a) of entering into an agreement to provide services, and
 - (b) of ceasing to provide services,which are regulated activities falling within paragraphs (1) and (2) of Class 3 to any collective investment scheme established in a country or territory outside the Island.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission within 10 business days of any material changes to the information provided under (1).

6.60 Contract note etc

- (1) After a transaction has been carried out for a client, a licenceholder must send or cause to be sent to the client or to his order promptly a statement of the transaction.
- (2) Paragraph (1) does not apply where the transaction is part of a series of linked transactions, but the licenceholder must send or cause to be sent to the client or to his order a statement of the transactions—
 - (a) on completion of the series; or
 - (b) at appropriate intervals not more than 3 months apart.
- (3) A statement required by paragraph (1) or (2) must specify the essential features of the transaction including, if applicable,—
 - (a) the name and address of the licenceholder;

- (b) the client's designation and account number;
 - (c) the date of the transaction;
 - (d) a description of the investment and size of transaction;
 - (e) the nature of the transaction and unit price (and whether forward or historic price);
 - (f) the total cost;
 - (g) the amount of remuneration of the licenceholder;
 - (h) the amount of fees, taxes or duties;
 - (i) the settlement date;
 - (j) if the transaction involves converting one currency into another, the exchange rate.
- (4) Where—
- (a) the transaction relates to units in a collective investment scheme; and
 - (b) deductions for charges and expenses are not made uniformly throughout the life of an investment but are loaded disproportionately on the early years,
- the amount of any deductions must be expressed either in cash terms or as a percentage of the unit price.

6.61 This rule has been moved to 6.75.

Chapter 5—General requirements for all corporate service and trust service providers (except professional officers), payment institutions and e-money issuers

6.62 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 4, Class 5, ~~or Class 6,~~ Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4) except those who are individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of—

- (a) paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company); and
- (b) paragraph (2), (5) or (65) of Class 5 (acting as trustee, ~~or~~ protector or enforcer).

6.63 Client agreement or terms of business

- (1) A licenceholder must not carry on any regulated activity for a client unless either—

- (a) it has entered into a written agreement (a "client agreement") with the client relating to the services it provides, or
 - (b) it has notified the client in writing of its terms of business relating to those services.
- (2) A client agreement or terms of business must set out—
- (a) any fees to be charged or the basis of calculation of any fees to be charged, or both;
 - (b) the method by which such fees are to be collected (e.g. deduction from monies belonging to a client or billing);
 - (c) the method by which increases in fees are notified to the client;
 - (d) the conditions for the termination of services by the licenceholder, including, if applicable, the provisions for the refund of any fees due to the client as a result of the termination of services;
 - (e) how interest received on client money and ~~e-money float~~relevant funds is to be dealt with, in accordance with rule ~~3.143-14~~; and
 - (f) whether or not the licenceholder may receive remuneration from third parties in connection with a transaction effected by the licenceholder with or for the client and, where this is the case, the nature of the remuneration.
- (3) For licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within ~~Class 6 or Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4)~~ the client agreement or terms of business must also—
- (a) set out the base currency for monies held in any client bank account ~~or relevant funds segregated payment account~~;
 - (b) set out any applicable charges for converting money into another currency; ~~and~~
 - (c) clearly and prominently state the conditions of redemption; ~~and~~
 - ~~(d) contain a statement that any sums received do not constitute deposits~~ as defined in Regulated Activities Order 2011, and are not covered by any compensation scheme.

- (4) A licenceholder must retain—
 - (a) a copy of the client agreement ~~referred~~, signed by the client, or
 - (b) evidence of a notification under paragraph (1)(b).

Chapter 6 – Specific requirements for corporate service providers (except professional officers)

6.64 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 4 except those who are individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company).

6.65 Nominee shareholders or members

Where a licenceholder acts or arranges for another person to act as a nominee shareholder or nominee member of a company, the licenceholder must—

- (a) ensure that in all such cases a written nominee agreement or such other trust instrument as may be appropriate exists; and
- (b) retain a copy of the agreement or instrument in its records.

6.66 Resignation of licenceholder

- (1) If a licenceholder intends, without the consent of a client, to cease carrying on relevant activities for or on behalf of that client, it must notify in writing—
 - (a) the client, and
 - (b) where the client is a company, the directors, the shareholders and, if different, the beneficial owner of the client.
- (2) Where a licenceholder ceases to carry on regulated activities for or on behalf of a client company for any reason, it must—
 - (a) preserve the company's records in a readily realisable format until they are handed over to the company, another licenceholder or another person who is to provide those or similar services, and
 - (b) co-operate with the company, licenceholder or other person to ensure a smooth and timely transition.

- (3) Where—
- (a) a licenceholder ceases to carry on relevant activities for or on behalf of a client company, and
 - (b) the company is struck off the register under section 273 or dissolved under section 273A of the Companies Act 1931,
- the licenceholder must, ~~unless it hands over the company's records as mentioned in paragraph (2)(a),~~ retain those records for at least 13 years after the date a notice was published under section 273(5) or section 273A(8) of the Companies Act 1931.
- (4) Where—
- (a) a licenceholder ceases to carry on relevant activities for or on behalf of a client company which was incorporated under the Companies Act 2006, and
 - (b) the company is struck off the register under section 183 or dissolved under section 186 of the Companies Act 2006,
- the licenceholder must, ~~unless it hands over the company's records as mentioned in paragraph (2)(a),~~ retain those records for at least 18 years after the date a notice was published under section 183(4) of the Companies Act 2006.
- (5) Where –
- (a) a licenceholder ceases to carry on relevant activities for or on behalf of a foundation established under the Foundation Act 2011, and
 - (b) the foundation is wound up and dissolved,
- the licenceholder must retain those records for at least 10 years.
- (6) In this rule “relevant activities” means regulated activities falling within Class 4.

6.67 Compliance by clients

A licenceholder must take reasonable steps to ensure that any company or partnership for which it carries on any regulated activity complies with such statutory obligations as are applicable to that activity.

Chapter 7 – Specific requirements for trust service providers (except professional officers)

6.68 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 5 except those who are individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within paragraph (2), ~~(5)~~ or ~~(65)~~ of Class 5 (acting as trustee, ~~or~~ protector or enforcer).

6.69 Resignation of licenceholder

If a licenceholder ceases to carry on regulated activities in relation to a trust, or ceases to carry on the regulated activity of being an enforcer of a foundation established under the Foundations Act 2011⁷, it must take whatever steps are appropriate and necessary –

- (a) to facilitate the transfer of that business to another licenceholder or another person who is to provide those or similar services, and
- (b) to secure the appointment of a replacement trustee, protector or enforcer, as the case may be, and

and co-operate with the new trustee, protector or enforcer to ensure a smooth transition.

Chapter 8 – Specific requirements for payment institutions and e-money issuers

6.70 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class ~~68(2)(a)~~ or 8(4).

6.71 Agents

- (1) The licenceholder may not provide payment services through an agent unless the agent is-
 - (a) a payment institution licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(2); or
 - (b) an acceptable agent.
- (2) An agent must not be treated as acceptable until it has-
 - (a) been assessed as being acceptable by the licenceholder;
 - and

⁷ C??

(b) entered into written terms of business with that licenceholder.

(3) When assessing whether an agent is acceptable under paragraph (2) the licenceholder must satisfy itself that the agent-

(a) holds all necessary regulatory permissions in each jurisdiction in or from which it provides its services as agent; and

(b) can demonstrate appropriate competence in relation to this business.

(4) The licenceholder must ensure that any agents acting on its behalf inform payment service users of the agency arrangement.

(5) The licenceholder must notify the Commission, not less than 20 business day in advance, of the appointment of any new agencies or changes in existing agencies.

(6) An e-money issuer-

(a) may distribute or redeem electronic money through an agent;

(b) must not issue electronic money through a distributor, agent or any other entity acting on its behalf.

6.721 Issue and redemption of e-money

(1) An e-money issuer must-

(a) on receipt of funds, issue Any funds received by a licenceholder from a client must be exchanged for e-money without delay electronic money at par value; and-

(b) at the request of the electronic money holder, redeem-

(i) at any time; and

(ii) at par value,

the monetary value of the electronic money held.

(2) An e-money issuer must ensure-

(a) that the client agreement clearly and prominently states the conditions of redemption, including any fees relating to redemption; and

(b) that the electronic money holder is informed of those conditions before being bound by the client agreement.

6.72 Redemption of e-money

~~(1) A licenceholder must, if requested to do so, redeem any e-money it has issued if the request is from a person who lawfully holds the e-money.~~

~~(2) The licenceholder must redeem the e-money—~~

~~(i) within 5 business days of the day on which it received the request;~~

~~(ii) at par value;~~

~~(iii) free of charge, unless—~~

~~(A) the redemption is requested by the client before termination of the contract; or~~

~~(B) the redemption is requested more than one year after the date of termination of the contract;~~

~~but any such fees must be disclosed to the client in the client agreement issued in accordance with rule 6.63~~

6.73 Prohibition of interest in respect of e-money

An e-money issuer must not award—

(a) interest in respect of the holding of electronic money; or

(b) any other benefit related to the length of time during which an electronic money holder holds electronic money.

Agents

~~Licenceholders must not issue e-money through agents.~~

Chapter 9 – General requirements for all investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers (except professional officers), ~~and e-money issuers~~ and those licensed to carry on any activity of Class 8

6.74 **Application**

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5, ~~or Class 6 or Class 8~~ (including those also licensed to carry on Class 1 regulated activities) except those who are individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of—

(a) paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company); or

(b) paragraph (2), ~~(5)~~ or ~~(65)~~ of Class 5 (acting as trustee, ~~or~~ protector or enforcer).

6.75 Provision of statistical information

A licenceholder must provide to the Commission on a quarterly basis such statistical information relating to its activities as the Commission may require.

PART 7 — ADMINISTRATION

7.1 Application

- (1) This Part does not apply to any licenceholder-
- ~~(a) in relation to activities falling within Class 8; or~~
 - ~~(b)~~ who is an individual licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of
 - (i) paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company); or
 - (ii) paragraph (2), ~~(5)~~ or ~~(65)~~ of Class 5 (acting as trustee, ~~or~~ protector or enforcer).
- (2) Rules 7.3, 7.7, 7.7A, 7.8, 7.9A, 7.9B, 7.10, 7.16, 7.17 and 7.19 do not apply to any licenceholder that is only licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3).
- (32) Subject to paragraphs (1) and (2), this Part applies to all licenceholders.

7.2 Change of name or address

A licenceholder must notify the Commission, not less than 20 business days in advance, of a change in—

- (a) its name,
- (b) any business name under which it trades in the Island;
- (c) its principal place of business;
- (d) any permanent place of its business, normally open to the public, in the Island; or
- (e) its registered office.

7.2A Registration of business name

A licenceholder must notify the Commission, not less than 20 business days in advance of the registration of any business name, including the rationale for such registration.

7.3 Changes in capital structure

- (1) A licenceholder which is incorporated in the Island must not, without the consent of the Commission, take any step towards reducing or changing the nature of—
- (a) its issued share capital, or

- (b) its loan capital.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission not less than 20 business days before—
 - (a) increasing its issued share capital, or
 - (b) taking any step towards altering the rights or obligations of its shareholders or debenture holders.

7.3A Re-registration and redomiciliation

A licenceholder must not—

- (a) re-register as a company incorporated under the Companies Act 2006; or
 - (b) redomicile to another jurisdiction,
- without the prior consent of the Commission.

7.4 Changes in ownership

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission of—
 - (a) any transfer of 5% or more of its voting shares; or
 - (b) any other transfer of its voting shares which has a material effect on the immediate or ultimate control of the licenceholder.
- (2) A notification under paragraph (1) must be made—
 - (a) where the shares are quoted on an exchange, within 5 business days after the licenceholder becomes aware of the transfer;
 - (b) in all other cases, 20 business days before the transfer is registered.
- (3) A licenceholder must notify the Commission of—
 - (a) any change in the ownership structure between it and its ultimate parent company; or
 - (b) any material change in its ultimate ownership.
- (4) A notification under paragraph (3) must be made—
 - (a) if practicable, not less than 20 business days before the change takes place; or
 - (b) otherwise, as soon as practicable.

7.5 Acquisition etc. of business

- (1) This rule applies to the following transactions—
 - (a) a merger of the licenceholder’s business with another;
 - (b) a takeover or acquisition by the licenceholder of another business;
 - (c) a purchase by the licenceholder of the assets or liabilities of another business;
 - (d) the acquisition of a controlling interest, or any change in an existing controlling interest, in the licenceholder’s business.
- (2) A licenceholder which is licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 1 must not enter into a transaction to which this rule applies without the consent of the Commission.
- (3) A licenceholder, other than one mentioned in paragraph (2), must notify the Commission of any transaction to which this rule applies—
 - (a) if practicable, not less than 20 business days before the transaction takes place; or
 - (b) otherwise, as soon as practicable.
- (4) Where a licenceholder (“A”) is acquiring clients of another licenceholder (“B”), B must notify the clients of the proposed transfer and the options available to the client at least 20 business days in advance of the transfer.
- (5) Where a licenceholder has acquired clients from another licenceholder, it must-
 - (a) review those clients’ circumstances within 20 business days following the acquisition, or such other date as may be agreed with the Commission, to ensure that its obligations under Part 6 Conduct of Business are met; and
 - (b) issue new client agreements or terms of business whichever is appropriate.

7.6 Sale or disposal of business

A licenceholder must notify the Commission of the sale or disposal of, or an agreement to sell or dispose of, the whole or any part of the licenceholder’s business—

- (a) if practicable, not less than 20 business days before the transaction takes place; or
- (b) otherwise, as soon as practicable.

7.7 Acquisition of shares of company

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission before subscribing for or acquiring, or entering into a contract to subscribe for or acquire, 10% or more of the issued share capital of a company.
- (2) Paragraph (1) does not apply to a subscription for shares, undertaken in the course of regulated activities falling within Class 4 or Class 5, by a licenceholder licensed to carry on those activities or an officer or employee of such a licenceholder.
- (3) A notification under paragraph (1) must be given—
 - (a) if practicable, not less than 20 business days before the event; or
 - (b) otherwise, as soon as practicable.

7.7A Options over the capital of a company

A licenceholder must notify the Commission within 5 business days of becoming aware of any proposed pledge of, offer of options over or options granted in respect of any shares in the capital of the licenceholder.

7.8 Subsidiaries etc.

- (1) A licenceholder incorporated in the Island must not, without the consent of the Commission, acquire or establish a trading subsidiary, branch or representative office in the Island or elsewhere.
- (2) A licenceholder incorporated in the Island must notify the Commission within 20 business days of the formation, or the winding up, of a nominee company, corporate officer or corporate trustee, protector or enforcer.
- (3) A licenceholder incorporated in the Island must notify the Commission, not less than 20 business days in advance, of the closure, sale or winding up of a trading subsidiary, branch or representative office in the Island or elsewhere.
- (4) A licenceholder must not redomicile a subsidiary to another jurisdiction without the prior consent of the Commission.
- (5) In this rule—

"subsidiary" does not include a shelf company;

"shelf company" means a company which—

- (a) has been formed and maintained by a licenceholder in the course of regulated activities falling within Class 4 or Class 5 with the intention that it should at some time be transferred to a client, and
- (b) has not carried on any activity.

7.9 New appointments and departures from office

- (1) In relation to any licenceholder, this rule applies to the following offices and positions—
 - (a) Isle of Man resident officer;
 - (b) key person;
 - (c) compliance officer;
 - (d) money laundering reporting officer; and
 - (e) deputy money laundering reporting officer.
- (2) In relation to a licenceholder incorporated in the Island, this rule also applies to the following offices and positions—
 - (a) controller;
 - (b) director; and
 - (c) secretary.
- (3) Subject to rule 7.9A, a licenceholder must notify the Commission at least 20 business days in advance of—
 - (a) an appointment or intended appointment to any office or position to which this rule applies; and
 - (b) the title and responsibilities of the office or position.
- (4) A licenceholder must notify the Commission of any departure or intended departure from an office or position to which this rule applies, giving reason for departure, within 10 business days of the giving of notice or other event giving rise to the departure.
- (5) For the avoidance of doubt, references in this rule to an appointment include an appointment of an existing officer or employee of a licenceholder.

7.9A Appointments in exceptional circumstances

A licenceholder may appoint an individual (“the appointee”) to carry out the office and position of a person fulfilling the roles identified in rule 7.9(1) (“the officer”) without the notification required by rule 7.9 provided that the following conditions are met:

- (a) the absence of the officer is due to exceptional circumstances;
- (b) the role is not fulfilled by any one or more appointees for longer than 12 weeks in any rolling consecutive 12 month period;
- (c) the licenceholder notifies the Commission within 5 business days of the appointment of –
 - (i) the name of the appointee undertaking the role;
 - (ii) the title and responsibilities of the vacant office or position;
 - (iii) the exceptional circumstances giving rise to the appointment;
- (d) the licenceholder has assessed that the appointee has the relevant skills and experience to carry out the function. This assessment must be documented in writing and made available to the Commission on request;
- (e) the licenceholder’s responsible officers must provide adequate oversight of the appointee and the function while the appointee undertakes the role; and
- (f) the licenceholder notifies the Commission within 5 business days of the appointee ceasing to undertake the role.

7.9B References

- (1) If a licenceholder (A) -
 - (a) is considering appointing a person to perform any of the roles detailed in rule 7.9;
 - (b) requests another licenceholder (B), as a current or former employer of that person, for a reference or other information in connection with that appointment; and
 - (c) indicates to B the purpose of the request;

B must, as soon as reasonably practicable, provide to A all relevant facts of which it is aware.

- (2) When providing the information to A under paragraph (1), B must have regard to the purpose of the request and in particular to:
 - (a) any issues in relation to that person's fit and proper status;
 - (b) any relevant outstanding or upheld complaints against that person;
 - (c) any outstanding liabilities of that person from commission payments; and
 - (d) if relevant, the persistency of any policies sold by that person.

7.10 Staff disciplinary action

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission within 10 business days of the discovery of an event which may lead to a final warning being given to, or other serious disciplinary action being taken against, any of its employees.
- (2) A notification under paragraph (1) must specify the event but, except in the case of a key person, need not disclose the name of the employee.
- (3) A licenceholder must notify the Commission within 5 business days after it gives any final warning to, or takes any other serious disciplinary action against, any of its key persons, supplying full details of the action including copies of any notices or written warnings given by the licenceholder to the key person.
- (4) The licenceholder must provide the key person concerned with a copy of a notification under paragraph (3).
- (5) The requirements of paragraphs (1) to (3) have effect notwithstanding any agreement imposing an obligation of confidentiality.
- (6) For the purpose of this rule "serious disciplinary action" is to be interpreted in accordance with the licenceholder's internal human resources policy.

7.11 Disqualification as a director etc.

A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of any disqualification or any application for disqualification relating to the licenceholder or any of its key persons under—

- (a) sections 4, 5 or 9 of the Company Officers (Disqualification) Act 2009⁸, or
- (b) any equivalent provision having effect in a country or territory outside the Island.

7.12 Service of notice etc.

(1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of any action specified in paragraph (2) against—

- (a) the licenceholder,
- (b) an associated company of the licenceholder; or
- (c) any person for or on behalf of whom the licenceholder carries on any regulated activity.

(2) The actions referred to in paragraph (1) are—

- (a) the service of any notice under section 24 of the Criminal Justice Act 1990⁹;
- (b) the service of any summons or issue of any warrant under section 21 or section 22 of the Criminal Justice Act 1991¹⁰;
- (c) the making of any order or the issue of any warrant under section 52 or section 53 of the Drug Trafficking Act 1996¹¹;
- (d) the making of any order or the issue of any warrant under Schedule 5 to the Anti-Terrorism and Crime Act 2003¹²; or
- (e) the issue of a warrant under section 169 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2008¹³.

⁸ 2009 c.4

⁹ 1990 c.1

¹⁰ 1991 c.25

¹¹ 1996 c.3

¹² 2003 c.6

¹³ 2008 c.13

- (3) A licenceholder authorised to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 3, Class 4 or Class 5 must also notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of any action specified in paragraph (2) against any person for or on behalf of whom the licenceholder has previously carried on any regulated activity up to 6 years after ceasing to provide services to that person.

7.13 Criminal proceedings and convictions

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of the bringing of any criminal proceedings against, or the conviction of,—
 - (a) the licenceholder or any associated company, or
 - (b) any officer or employee of the licenceholder or any associated company,for an offence to which this rule applies.
- (2) This rule applies to—
 - (a) an offence which is or, if committed in the Island, would be triable on information;
 - (b) an offence relating to a regulated activity or an activity which, if carried on in the Island, would be a regulated activity;
 - (c) an offence under the Companies Acts 1931 to 2004 or the Companies Act 2006, or any legislation having similar effect in any country or territory outside the Island;
 - (d) an offence relating to the formation, management or administration of companies in any country or territory;
 - (e) an offence under the Purpose Trusts Act 1996 or any legislation having similar effect in any country or territory outside the Island of Man;
 - (f) an offence relating to trusts in any country or territory;
 - (g) an offence relating to insolvency; or
 - (h) an offence involving fraud or dishonesty;
 - (i) an offence under the Foundations Act 2011 or any legislation having similar effect in any country or territory outside the Island.

- (3) Nothing in this rule requires a licenceholder to disclose any matter subject to legal professional privilege.

7.14 Surrender of licence

- (1) Where a licenceholder intends voluntarily to surrender its licence, it must notify the Commission of—
 - (a) its intention to do so, and
 - (b) the arrangements it proposes to make to dispose of its business.
- (2) A notification under paragraph (1) must be given not less than 30 business days before the surrender of the licence.
- (3) If the requisite amount of notice under paragraph (2) is not given, the surrender will not take effect until 30 business days after the notice was received by the Commission.

7.15 Cessation of regulated activities

- (1) Where a licenceholder intends voluntarily to cease carrying on a regulated activity of any description, it must notify the Commission of—
 - (a) its intention to do so, and
 - (b) the arrangements it proposes to make to for the safeguarding of its clients' deposits or other assets.
- (2) A notification under paragraph (1) must be given—
 - (a) if practicable, not less than 20 business days before the event; or
 - (b) otherwise, as soon as practicable.

7.16 Bankruptcy, winding up, etc.

A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of any of the following (whether occurring in the Island or elsewhere)—

- (a) the commencement of proceedings for the winding up of the licenceholder or a wholly-owned subsidiary of the licenceholder;
- (b) the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, provisional liquidator, administrator or trustee in bankruptcy of the licenceholder or a wholly-owned subsidiary of the licenceholder;

- (c) the making of any composition or arrangement with creditors of the licenceholder or a wholly-owned subsidiary of the licenceholder;
- (d) where the licenceholder is a partnership or unincorporated association—
 - (i) an application to dissolve the partnership or association, or
 - (ii) the commencement of proceedings for the bankruptcy of a partner;
- (e) where the licenceholder is an individual, the commencement of proceedings for the bankruptcy of the licenceholder;
- (f) the appointment of an inspector by a statutory or other regulatory authority to investigate the affairs of the licenceholder or a wholly-owned subsidiary of the licenceholder.

7.17 Voluntary winding up

- (1) This rule applies to a licenceholder incorporated in the Island and any wholly-owned subsidiaries of the licenceholder.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission of the intention of its directors to make a declaration of solvency in accordance with section 218 of the Companies Act 1931 not less than 5 business days before the declaration is signed.

7.18 Legal proceedings — deposit takers

- (1) This rule applies to licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of any actual or intended legal proceedings taken by or against it where the amount claimed or disputed is likely to exceed—
 - (a) £500,000 sterling or its equivalent in another currency, or
 - (b) in the case of a licenceholder incorporated in the Island, 5% of the licenceholder's large exposures capital base,whichever is the lower.
- (3) Nothing in this rule requires a licenceholder to disclose any matter subject to legal professional privilege.

7.19 Legal proceedings – investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers, ~~and~~ e-money issuers and payment institutions

- (1) This rule applies to licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5, ~~or Class 6 or Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4)~~ (except licenceholders to which rule ~~7.187-18~~ applies) and any wholly-owned subsidiaries.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of any actual or intended legal proceedings taken or to be taken by or against it or any wholly-owned subsidiary where the amount claimed or disputed is likely to exceed—
 - (a) £100,000 sterling or its equivalent in another currency; or
 - (b) in the case of a licenceholder incorporated in the Island, 10% of the licenceholder's minimum net tangible asset requirement,whichever is the lower.
- (3) Nothing in this rule requires a licenceholder to disclose any matter subject to legal professional privilege.

Formatted: F

7.20 Criminal proceedings against client – corporate service and trust service providers

- (1) This rule applies to licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 4 or Class 5.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission and, where possible, provide a brief summary of the case, as soon as it becomes aware of the bringing of any criminal proceedings against a client for, or the conviction of a client of, an offence which is or, if committed in the Island, would be triable on information.
- (3) In this rule "client" means—
 - (a) in the case of a licenceholder licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 4—
 - (i) a company which is a client of the licenceholder,
 - (ii) any officer of such a company, or
 - (iii) the beneficial owner of such a company;

- (b) in the case of a licenceholder licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 5, the trustee or settlor of any trust for which it provides services or the founder of any foundation established under the Foundations Act 2011 for which it is an enforcer.

7.21 Notification of default – deposit takers

- (1) This rule applies to licenceholders authorised to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1.
- (2) The licenceholder must notify the Commission immediately if an event occurs which would give rise to a claim under a scheme established by regulations under section 25 of the Act (compensation schemes).

PART 8 – RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Chapter 1 – General requirements

8.1 Application

- (1) This Chapter does not apply to any licenceholder ~~in relation to—~~
- ~~_____~~ (a) that is only licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) or 8(3)~~those who are licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8; and/or~~
 - ~~_____~~ (b) that is an individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of—
 - (i) paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company); and
 - (ii) paragraph (2), (5) or ~~(65)~~ of Class 5 (acting as trustee, ~~or~~ protector or enforcer).

~~(2)~~ Subject to paragraph (1), this Chapter applies to all licenceholders.

8.2 Interpretation

In this Chapter, in relation to any licenceholder, "the regulatory requirements" means the requirements of—

- (a) the conditions of the licenceholder's licence,
- (b) any direction issued to the licenceholder under section 14 of the Act; and
- (c) the following, so far as applicable to the licenceholder—
 - (i) any provision of the Act;
 - (ii) this Rule Book;
 - (iii) any other Rule Book under section 18 of the Act;
 - (iv) ~~the Criminal Justice (Money Laundering) Code 2008,~~ the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Code 2010, the Prevention of Terrorist Financing Code 2011, or any successor;
 - (v) any other relevant code of practice under ~~section 17F (money laundering codes) of the Criminal Justice Act 1990 or~~ section 157(1) of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2008

or section 27A of the Terrorism (Finance) Act 2009, as amended;

- (vi) any other provision having effect under or by virtue of the Act; ~~and~~
- (vii) any statutory provision referred to in section 43 of the Act; and

(viii) the Collective Investment Schemes Act 2008.

8.3 Corporate governance

- (1) The responsible officers of a licenceholder are responsible for the good governance of the licenceholder and compliance with the regulatory requirements.
- (2) A licenceholder must have in place arrangements for effective corporate governance which are appropriate to its size and the nature of its business.

8.4 Management controls

- (1) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) organise and control its internal affairs in a responsible manner, and
 - (b) promote high ethical standards in the conduct of its regulated activities.
- (2) The responsible officers of a licenceholder must establish and maintain appropriate internal and operational controls, systems, policies and procedures relating to all aspects of its business to ensure—
 - (a) effective communication between the licenceholder and its clients; and
 - (b) appropriate segregation of key duties and functions; and
 - (c) the fair treatment of clients; and
 - (d) effective maintenance of accounting and other records and the reliability of this information; and
 - (e) appropriate safeguards to prevent and detect any abuse of the licenceholder's services for money laundering, financial crime or the financing of terrorism; and
 - (f) appropriate safeguards to prevent and detect market manipulation or market abuse; and

(g) effective systems and controls and depth of resources to adequately deal with the risk profile of all clients especially those connected with a higher risk jurisdiction or where structures are established for clients in those higher risk jurisdictions.

- (3) A licenceholder must review the controls required by this rule annually, or more frequently if appropriate. These reviews should be documented.
- (4) Where the licenceholder employs staff or is responsible for regulated activities conducted by others, it must make adequate arrangements to ensure that they are suitable, adequately trained and properly supervised.
- (5) A licenceholder must ensure that the persons to whom this paragraph applies carry out their duties in a diligent and proper manner in accordance with the systems, controls, policies and procedures referred to in paragraph (2).
- (6) Paragraph (5) applies to—
 - (a) the licenceholder's key persons; and
 - (b) any other individual, whether or not employed by the licenceholder, who performs any regulated activity in the course of his employment, or under any contract, with the licenceholder.

8.5 Compliance with obligations

A licenceholder must comply with the regulatory requirements and have regard to any code or set of standards promulgated by any authority or body other than the Commission having responsibility in the public interest for the supervision or regulation of the licenceholder's activities, except to the extent that it is inconsistent with the regulatory requirements.

8.5A Continuing professional development ("CPD")

A licenceholder must ensure that all directors and key persons –

- (a) comply with any CPD requirements of their professional body;
or
- (b) where the professional body does not require CPD or the individual is not a member of a professional body, a minimum of 25 hours relevant CPD per annum should be undertaken.

8.6 Risk management

- (1) A licenceholder must by its responsible officers—
 - (a) establish and maintain comprehensive policies, appropriate to the nature and scale of its business and, where appropriate, its position in the group, for managing the risks specified in paragraph (2); and
 - (b) review those policies annually.
- (2) The risks referred to in paragraph (1)(a) are—
 - (a) all material risks associated with the licenceholder, including financial, legal, regulatory and other risks posed by a group company, which may affect the licenceholder;
 - (b) all operational risks associated with the licenceholder's activities;
 - (c) in the case of a licenceholder conducting regulated activities falling within Class 4 or Class 5, material regulatory and other risks to the licenceholder associated with the activities of its clients;
 - (d) any other risks which the Commission has, by notice in writing to the licenceholder, specified as additional risks for the purpose of this rule.
- (3) A notice under paragraph (2)(d)—
 - (a) shall remain in force until it is withdrawn by the Commission by a further notice in writing to the licenceholder; and
 - (b) may specify actions to be taken for the purpose of measuring, monitoring and controlling the additional risks;and the licenceholder must take such action as is specified under sub-paragraph (b).
- (4) The policies referred to in paragraph (1)(a) must include—
 - (a) clear arrangements for—
 - (i) delegating (where delegation is appropriate) and separating functions which involve committing the licenceholder, paying away its funds, and accounting for its assets and liabilities;

- (ii) reconciliation of those processes;
 - (iii) safeguarding its assets; and
 - (iv) appropriate independent internal audit and compliance procedures to test adherence to the regulatory requirements;
 - (b) appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling the risks specified in paragraph (2);
 - (c) arrangements for regular consideration of those risks by the responsible officers.
- (5) The licenceholder must—
- (a) ensure that the policies referred to in paragraph (1)(a) are complied with;
 - (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with those policies; and
 - (c) monitor the risks specified in paragraph (2) on a frequent and timely basis.

8.7 Conflicts of interest policy

- (1) A licenceholder must establish, implement and maintain an effective conflicts of interest policy which must be—
 - (a) in writing; and
 - (b) appropriate to its size and organisation and the nature, scale and complexity of its business.
- (2) Where the licenceholder is a member of a group, the policy must also take into account any circumstances of which it is or should be aware and which may give rise to a conflict of interest arising as a result of the structure and business activities of other members of the group.
- (3) Where the licenceholder's functions have been delegated (whether or not to a member of the same group) the policy must also take into account any circumstances of which it is or should be aware and which may give rise to a conflict of interest arising as a result of the delegation.
- (4) The policy must—

- (a) identify, with reference to the specific activities of the licenceholder, the circumstances which constitute or may give rise to a conflict of interest entailing a material risk of damage to the interests of one or more of its clients;
 - (b) specify procedures to be followed and measures to be adopted in order to manage such conflicts.
- (5) The procedures and measures referred to in paragraph (4)(b) must—
- (a) ensure that any relevant persons engaged in activities involving a conflict of interest of the kind specified in paragraph (4)(a) carry on those activities at a level of independence appropriate to—
 - (i) the size and activities of the licenceholder and (where appropriate) of the group to which it belongs, and
 - (ii) the materiality of the risk of damage to the interests of clients; and
 - (b) include such of the following as are necessary and appropriate for the licenceholder to ensure the requisite degree of independence—
 - (i) effective procedures to prevent or control the exchange of information between relevant persons who are engaged in activities involving a risk of a conflict of interest, where the exchange of that information may harm the interests of one or more clients;
 - (ii) the separate supervision of relevant persons whose principal functions involve carrying out activities on behalf of, or providing services to, clients whose interests may conflict, or who otherwise represent different interests that may conflict, including those of the licenceholder;
 - (iii) the removal of any direct link between the remuneration of relevant persons principally engaged in one activity and the remuneration of, or revenues generated by, different relevant persons principally engaged in another activity, where a conflict of interest may arise in relation to those activities;

- (iv) measures to prevent or limit any person from exercising inappropriate influence over the way in which a relevant person carries on regulated activities;
- (v) measures to prevent or control the simultaneous or sequential involvement of a relevant person in separate activities where such involvement may impair the proper management of conflicts of interest.

8.8 Conflicts of interest register

- (1) A licenceholder must maintain a register of conflicts of interest.
- (2) The register referred to in paragraph (1)—
 - (a) may be in summary form, provided that a full record of each conflict of interest and the measures adopted to manage it is kept elsewhere;
 - (b) must contain the following information relating to each conflict of interest—
 - (i) a description of the regulated activity in relation to which the conflict arises;
 - (ii) the name of the client, or the description of clients, whose interests are at a material risk of damage by reason of the conflict;
 - (iii) the nature of the conflict;
 - (iv) if the conflict arises by reason of the involvement of an officer, employee or tied agent of the licenceholder or of a person employed by them (in the latter case, the name of the person concerned);
 - (v) the measures adopted to manage the conflict;
 - (vi) the date when the conflict was first identified; and
 - (vii) if the conflict has ceased, the date when it ceased and the grounds for considering that it has ceased.
- (3) The information relating to a conflict of interest must be kept on the register until at least 6 years after the date mentioned in paragraph (2)(b)(vii).

8.9 Business plan

- (A1) A licenceholder must have a documented business plan.

- (1) A licenceholder must operate in accordance with its business plan.
- (2) Where—
 - (a) any matter to be notified by a licenceholder to the Commission under rule ~~8.108.10~~ involves a material change in its activities as set out in its business plan, or
 - (b) the licenceholder ceases to carry on any description of regulated activity,
the licenceholder must, before or as soon as practicable after the change takes place—
 - (i) draw up a fresh business plan incorporating any necessary amendments to take account of that change; and
 - (ii) provide the Commission with a copy of the plan.
- (3) In this rule “business plan” means a statement describing the licenceholder’s business or projected business, containing such details and projections as the Commission may reasonably require; and references to a licenceholder’s business plan are to—
 - (a) the statement most recently provided under paragraph (2)(b)(ii); or
 - (b) if none has been so provided, the statement submitted to the Commission with the licenceholder’s application for a licence.

Formatted: Fo

8.9A Contractual arrangements for management and administration

- (1) This rule applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 3(9) and Class 7.
- (2) There must be a written agreement between the licenceholder and the person to which it provides management or administration services.
- (3) A copy of the agreement must be provided to the Commission on request.

8.10 Changes to activities, services or products

A licenceholder must notify the Commission, not less than 20 business days in advance -

- (1) of any cessation of or change to any regulated activities which it carries on;
- (2) of any material cessation of, or material addition or change to, the services or products which it offers (whether or not their provision constitutes a regulated activity); and
- (3) of any material cessation of, or material addition or change to the sectors or jurisdictions in or to which it provides services or products (whether or not their provision constitutes a regulated activity).

8.11 Business resumption and contingency arrangements

A licenceholder must—

- (a) establish and maintain business resumption and contingency arrangements which are appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
- (b) test those arrangements at appropriate intervals.

8.12 Business continuity

A licenceholder must—

- (a) establish and maintain arrangements for safeguarding the interests of its clients, appropriate to the size and organisation and the nature, scale and complexity of its business, in the event of —
 - (i) the death, incapacity or sickness; and
 - (ii) holidays and other periods of absence,of the individuals responsible for controlling or carrying on its activities;
- (b) cover the arrangements referred to in subparagraph (a) with either a disaster recovery plan or a locum;
- (c) provide the Commission with details of those arrangements on request; and
- (d) notify the Commission of any substantial changes to those arrangements.

8.13 Delegation of function, outsourcing or inward-outsourcing

- (1) A licenceholder may not, without the consent in writing of the Commission—

- (a) delegate any material management or business function to another person (whether or not that person is another company within the same group as the licenceholder);
 - (b) make any material change to any such delegation.
- (2) Any such delegation shall not affect the ultimate responsibility of the licenceholder for the delegated functions.
- (3) The licenceholder must ensure that—
 - (a) the Commission has access to all records relating to the delegated functions;
 - (b) in the event of a breakdown in the delegation, the licenceholder is able to carry out or assume control of the delegated functions.
- (4) Any delegation or inward-outsourcing arrangement must be evidenced by a written agreement between the parties setting out clearly—
 - (a) their respective responsibilities and duties, including the monitoring of the delegated or inwardly-outsourced function by the licenceholder, and
 - (b) the provisions for terminating the delegation or inward-outsourcing arrangement.

8.14 Breaches of regulatory requirements

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of a material breach by the licenceholder of any of the regulatory requirements.
- (2) Where a licenceholder gives a notification under paragraph (1), it must also inform the Commission of the steps which it proposes to take to remedy the situation.
- (3) A licenceholder must maintain a register of all breaches.

8.15 Fraud or dishonesty

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as—
 - (a) it has reason to believe that a controller, director or employee of the licenceholder has been engaged in activities involving fraud or other dishonesty; or
 - (b) it becomes aware of any circumstances which may amount to fraud or serious mismanagement in the conduct of its business.

- (2) A notification under this rule, except in the case of a controller, director or key person, need not disclose the name of the individual concerned.

8.16 Investigation of member's conduct by professional body

A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of any action of the following kinds taken against a controller, director or key person by a professional body of which that person is a member –

- (a) an inquiry into that person's professional conduct;
- (b) the termination of that person's membership;
- (c) any disciplinary action against him;
- (d) any censure of his conduct.

8.17 Matters to be notified – general

- (1) Without prejudice to the specific requirements of any other rule, a licenceholder must notify the Commission of any relevant material change affecting its business, systems, controllers, responsible officers and key persons.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware that any of the following has occurred, whether within or outside the Island –
 - (a) the breakdown of administrative or control procedures relevant to any of the licenceholder's business (including breakdowns of computer systems or other accounting problems resulting, or likely to result in, failure to maintain proper records);
 - (b) any event which makes it impracticable for a licenceholder to comply with any of the regulatory requirements;
 - (c) the appointment of inspectors by a statutory or other regulatory authority to investigate the affairs of the licenceholder or any associated company;
 - (d) the imposition of disciplinary measures or sanctions on the licenceholder or any associated company, in relation to its business, by any statutory or other regulatory authority;

- (e) any event which may constitute market manipulation or market abuse by the licenceholder or any controller, director, key person or employee;
 - (f) an application by the licenceholder or its immediate parent or subsidiary for authorisation to carry on an activity in any country or territory outside the Island which, if carried on in the Island, would be a regulated activity;
 - (g) the refusal of any application mentioned in sub-paragraph (f);
 - (h) the revocation of any such authorisation of the licenceholder or an associated company as is mentioned in sub-paragraph (f);
 - (i) the material loss of consumer or other data; or
 - (j) an appeal made by the licenceholder to a Tribunal against any decision or action taken by the Commission.
- (3) Where a licenceholder gives a notification under paragraph (2)(a) or (b), it must also inform the Commission of the steps which it proposes to take to remedy the situation.

8.18 Compliance officer and money laundering reporting officer/ countering the financing of terrorism officer

- (1) A licenceholder must appoint the following officers—
- (a) —a compliance officer with responsibility for overseeing the licenceholder's compliance with the regulatory requirements, including those relating to money laundering and combating the financing of terrorism;
 - (b) —a money laundering reporting officer ("MLRO") as required by the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Code 2010 who will also fulfil the role of countering the financing of terrorism officer ("CFTO") as required by the Prevention of Terrorist Financing Code 2011; and
 - (c) —a deputy money laundering reporting officer ("Deputy MLRO") who will also fulfil the role of deputy countering the financing of terrorism officer ("Deputy CFTO") to cover for any absence of the ~~money laundering reporting officer~~MLRO/CFTO.
- (2) The same individual may be appointed as compliance officer and as ~~money laundering reporting officer~~MLRO/CFTO or

~~deputy money laundering reporting officer~~ Deputy MLRO/
CFTO.

- (3) A compliance officer must—
 - (a) have appropriate independence and direct access to the licenceholder's responsible officers;
 - (b) have unfettered access to all business lines and support departments;
 - (c) have appropriate status within the licenceholder to ensure that the directors and senior management react appropriately to recommendations;
 - (d) have sufficient time and resources to discharge properly the responsibilities of the position; and
 - (e) be resident on the Island.
- (4) A ~~an~~ MLRO/CFTO, or the Deputy MLRO/CFTO when deputising for the MLRO/CFTO, must have—
 - (a) unfettered access to all business lines and support departments; and
 - (b) sufficient time and resources to discharge properly the responsibilities of the position.
- (5) This rule does not apply to a licenceholder who is licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of—
 - (a) paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company), and
 - (b) paragraph (2) or (5) of Class 5 (acting as trustee or protector).

8.19 Functions of compliance officer

A compliance officer is responsible, in relation to the requirements referred to in rule ~~8.188.18~~(1)(a), for ensuring that—

- (a) the licenceholder has robust and documented arrangements appropriate to the nature and size of the business for compliance with those requirements;
- (b) the operational performance of those arrangements is suitably monitored;
- (c) prompt action is taken to remedy any deficiencies in arrangements; and

Formatted: F

- (d) the registers required by rules ~~8.88.8~~, ~~8.148.14~~ and ~~8.298.29~~ are maintained.

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

8.20 Isle of Man resident directors

- (1) This rule applies to a licenceholder which is incorporated in the Isle of Man.
- (2) Not less than two of the licenceholder's directors must be resident in the Isle of Man.

8.21 Isle of Man resident officers

- (1) A licenceholder must—
- (a) ensure that its business is effectively controlled on a day-to-day basis by at least 2 nominated individuals—
- (i) who are directors or key persons; and
- (ii) who are resident in the Island; and
- (iii) who have joint responsibility for overseeing the licenceholder's proper conduct; and
- (iv) whose functions are separated, where appropriate.
- (b) establish and maintain internal procedures to ensure that sub-paragraph (a) is complied with.
- (2) A nominated individual referred to in paragraph (1) is in this Rule Book referred to as an Isle of Man resident officer.

8.22 Absence of Isle of Man resident officers

- (1) A licenceholder must have appropriate arrangements in place so that, if it is at any time (other than standard holidays) unable to comply with rule ~~8.218.21~~, either temporarily or otherwise, a fit and proper person exercises the functions of the Isle of Man resident officer so that the licenceholder's regulated activities can continue without interruption.
- (2) A licenceholder must inform the Commission within 5 business days if the arrangements in paragraph (1) are implemented.

Formatted: F

8.23 Company secretary

The secretary of a licenceholder incorporated under the Companies Act 1931 to which section 19(4) of the Companies Act 1982 does not apply must be an individual who is—

- (a) qualified in accordance with that section; or

- (b) in the case of a licenceholder licensed to carry on activities of Class 1, an associate of the Chartered Institute of Bankers or an associate of the ifs School of Finance; or
- (c) approved by the Commission as suitable, by virtue of his knowledge and experience, to be secretary of the licenceholder.

8.24 Systems and controls for record keeping

- (1) A licenceholder must establish and maintain procedures to ensure that sufficient information is recorded and retained about the conduct of its business and its compliance with the regulatory requirements.
- (2) A licenceholder must establish and maintain adequate systems and controls over its general records, having regard to its size and the nature and complexity of its activities.
- (3) The systems and controls referred to in paragraph (2) must be—
 - (a) such as to enable the licenceholder to comply with the regulatory requirements; and
 - (b) adequately and correctly documented.
- (4) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) maintain records relating to its business transactions, financial position, internal organisation and risk management systems such as to demonstrate to the Commission that it complies with the regulatory requirements; and
 - (b) keep those records for at least 6 years after it ceases to hold a licence.

8.25 Clients' records

- (1) A licenceholder must keep and maintain proper records to show and explain transactions effected by it on behalf of its clients.
- (2) Those records must—
 - (a) be kept in English;
 - (b) be kept up to date;
 - (c) be in such a form as to demonstrate compliance with the regulatory requirements; and
 - (d) be kept for at least 6 years after the transaction.

8.26 Records kept by third parties

For the purpose of rules 8.248.24 and 8.258.25 a licenceholder may accept and rely on records supplied by a third party so long as those records-

- (a) are capable of being supplied in a timely manner; and
- (b) are capable of being, and are, reconciled with records created by the licenceholder.

8.27 Relations with regulators

A licenceholder must—

- (a) co-operate in an open and honest manner with the Commission and any other regulatory body to which it is accountable, and
- (b) keep them promptly informed of anything relevant to the exercise of their regulatory functions.

8.28 Compliance returns

- (1) A licenceholder must make a return (an "annual compliance return") to the Commission within 4 months of the licenceholder's annual reporting date.
- (2) The return must state the position as at the annual reporting date.

~~(3) For all licenceholders to which this part applies, except individuals licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within either or both of:~~

- ~~— (a) Class 4 paragraph (6) acting as an officer of a company; or~~
- ~~(b) Class 5 paragraph (2) acting as trustee (other than sole trustee) in relation to an express trust and/or paragraph (5) acting as a protector in relation to an express trust,~~

~~the~~ The return must ~~be in the form,~~ contain the information ~~and be accompanied by the documents~~ specified in Schedule 8.1.

- ~~(4) The following additional information must be submitted to the Commission within 4 months of the licenceholder's annual reporting date as part of the annual return -~~

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

- ~~(a) A group¹⁴ structure chart showing the name and jurisdiction of all companies and /or trusts within the group. A condensed version may be accepted for large groups, subject to the agreement of the Commission.~~
- ~~(b) A copy of the management and staff structure of the licenceholder in the Isle of Man and of its subsidiaries and, in the case of a licenceholder incorporated in the Isle of Man, any overseas branches. The structure must show "Key Persons" and their responsibilities.~~
- ~~(c) Where applicable, a cover note or broker's letter evidencing details of the most recent professional indemnity insurance policy taken out by the licenceholder and confirming that the cover is in compliance with the levels required by rule 8.548.54 and includes the requirements set out in rule 8.54(8).~~

Where a letter of comfort is in place to support professional indemnity insurance, please submit a copy of the latest audited financial statements of the entity providing the letter.

- ~~(5) A licenceholder licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4) must prepare a quarterly return as at the end of the period 3 months after each annual reporting date and as at the annual reporting date. The quarterly return must be in the form and contain the information specified in Schedule 8.2, and be submitted to the Commission within one month after the period to which it relates.~~

~~For individuals licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within either or both of—~~

- ~~(a) Class 4 paragraph (6) acting as an officer of a company; or~~
- ~~(b) Class 5 paragraph (2) acting as trustee (other than sole trustee) in relation to an express trust and/or paragraph (5) acting as a protector in relation to an express trust,~~

~~the return must be in the form, contain the information and be accompanied by the documents specified in Schedule 8.1.~~

¹⁴ Group is defined in the Financial Services Act 2008 as "in relation to a company, means that company, any other company which is its holding company or subsidiary and any other company which is a subsidiary of that holding company"

8.29 Complaints

- (1) A licenceholder must ensure, in relation to any written complaint received relating to its regulated activities, that—
 - (a) the complaint is recorded in a complaints register;
 - (b) where appropriate, further details in writing, with supporting evidence, are requested from the complainant;
 - (c) the complaint is brought to the attention of an officer or employee of the licenceholder with appropriate authority to deal with complaints;
 - (d) the complaint is investigated promptly and thoroughly within 12 weeks of receipt;
 - (e) appropriate action is taken and recorded; and
 - (f) the complainant is notified of the outcome of the investigation and of any action taken.
- (2) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) have documented procedures for dealing with complaints;
 - (b) make those procedures readily accessible on request; and
 - (c) ensure that any remedial action needed is taken promptly (including, where appropriate, correcting any failures or weaknesses in its systems and procedures and carrying out training of its staff).
- (3) Any procedures referred to in paragraph (2)(a) must—
 - (a) comply with paragraph (1); and
 - (b) include reference to the Financial Services Ombudsman Scheme where applicable.
- (4) The register referred to in paragraph (1)(a)—
 - (a) must contain the information detailed in (4)(b) but may be in summary form, provided that a full record of the complaint and action taken in relation to the complaint is kept elsewhere;
 - (b) must contain the following information relating to each complaint—
 - (i) the name of the complainant;

- (ii) the date when the complaint was received;
- (iii) the date when the complaint was reported to the person with authority to deal with complaints;
- (iv) the nature of the complaint;
- (v) whether the complaint involves a breach of the regulatory requirements;
- (vi) how and when the complaint was investigated;
- (vii) the action taken to resolve the complaint;
- (viii) the date the complaint is considered closed; and
- (ix) whether the licenceholder's professional indemnity insurers were informed, if applicable.

Chapter 2— Specific requirements for all deposit takers

8.30 Application

This Chapter applies to all licenceholders which are licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1.

8.31 Risk management policies

- (1) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policies referred to in rule ~~8.68.6~~(1)(a), and any substantial amendment of those policies, within 20 business days of the approval by the responsible officers of the policies or amendment.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission, within 4 months after the end of its financial year, that during the financial year the responsible officers reviewed and approved the policies referred to in rule ~~8.68.6~~(1)(a) and were satisfied that they were up to date and appropriate.

Chapter 3— Specific requirements for deposit takers incorporated in the Island

8.32 Application

- (1) This Chapter applies to all licenceholders which are licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1 and are incorporated in the Island.
- (2) This Chapter is without prejudice to the generality of rule ~~8.68.6~~.

8.33 Corporate governance

- (1) The directors of a licenceholder must ensure that its regulated activities are managed and controlled from the Island.
- (2) At least one director of a licenceholder must be of independent non-executive status.

8.34 Credit risk policy

- (1) A licenceholder must by its directors—
 - (a) establish and maintain a credit risk policy which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the approval by its directors of the policy or amendment.
- (3) The policy must include—
 - (a) limits on different types of lending (including geographical, economic and individual sectors),
 - (b) provisions in respect of connected and related party lending,
 - (c) provisions in respect of sanctioning limits and authorisation procedures,
 - (d) provisions as to permissible forms of security;
 - (e) monitoring and control procedures, and
 - (f) arrears and provisioning procedures.
- (4) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) ensure that the policy is complied with, and
 - (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the policy.

8.35 Large exposures policy

- (1) A licenceholder must by its directors—
 - (a) establish and maintain a large exposures policy which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually.

- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the approval by the directors of the policy or amendment.
- (3) The policy must include—
 - (a) exposure limits for customers, counterparties, countries and economic sectors,
 - (b) sanctioning limits and authorisation procedures,
 - (c) permissible forms of security or collateral,
 - (d) procedures where exposures are to a guarantor,
 - (e) monitoring and control procedures, and
 - (f) a regulatory reporting policy.
- (4) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) ensure that the policy is complied with, and
 - (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the policy.

8.36 Large exposure management

- (1) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) not incur an exposure which (including accrued interest) exceeds 25% of its large exposures capital base (“LECB”), unless the exposure is an exempt exposure; or
 - (b) not incur large exposures, excluding exempt exposures, exceeding in the aggregate 800% of its LECB.
- (2) A licenceholder must maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its large exposures on a daily basis.
- (2A) A licenceholder must obtain the Commission’s consent in writing before entering into an exposure falling within rule 8.38(g), and at least annually thereafter –
 - (a) assess the level and nature of that exempt exposure; and
 - (a)(b) provide evidence of that assessment to the Commission.
- (3) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) notify the Commission before entering into an exempt exposure, except—

- (i) an exposure falling within either or both rule ~~8.388-38(a)~~ or 8.38(b); or
 - (ii) an exposure which requires the Commission's consent under rule 8.36(2A); or
 - (iii) where the Commission has directed that the exposure need not be notified;
- (b) notify the Commission immediately when the total of its large exposures, excluding exempt exposures, exceeds or is likely to exceed 300% of its LECB;
 - (c) notify the Commission immediately of any breach of—
 - (i) the limit in paragraph (1)(a) or (b), or
 - (ii) any other counterparty limit agreed with the Commission for the purpose of this subparagraph;
 - (d) notify the Commission immediately if its adjusted capital base falls below its current LECB.
- (4) A licenceholder must report to the Commission as at each quarter-end, within one month of the quarter-end, all exposures (including exempt exposures) which have equalled or exceeded 10% of its LECB during that quarter; and for this purpose no account shall be taken of—
- (a) ~~accrued interest~~ collateral allowed under rule 8.37(2A); or
 - (b) any provision for bad and doubtful debts.

8.37 Calculation of exposures

- (1) A licenceholder must calculate any exposure as the gross amount at risk (subject to the provisions in rule 8.37(2) and 8.37(2A)) from—
- (a) claims, including—
 - (i) actual and potential claims which would arise from the drawing down in full of undrawn advised facilities (revocable or irrevocable, conditional or unconditional) which the licenceholder has committed itself to provide, and
 - (ii) claims which the licenceholder has committed itself to purchase or underwrite;
 - (b) contingent liabilities, including—

- (i) those which arise in the normal course of business, and
 - (ii) those which would arise from the drawing down in full of undrawn advised facilities (whether revocable or irrevocable, conditional or unconditional) which the licenceholder has committed itself to provide; and
- (c) assets, including those which the licenceholder has committed itself to purchase or underwrite—
- (i) whose value depends wholly or mainly on a counterparty performing its obligations, or
 - (ii) whose value otherwise depends on a counterparty's financial soundness but which do not represent a claim on the counterparty.
- (2) Except as provided in rule ~~8.368.36~~(4), in calculating an exposure a specific provision made against a loan should be set off against the gross amount of the exposure.
- (2A) Except as provided in rule 8.36(4), a licenceholder is permitted to recognise collateral for the purpose of the calculation of the value of an exposure, provided that-
- (i) the collateral complies with the eligibility requirements and other minimum requirements for the purposes of calculating the risk weighted exposure amounts under the standardised approach using the financial collateral simple method; or
 - (ii) the collateral complies with the eligibility requirements and other minimum requirements for the purposes of calculating the risk weighted exposure amounts under the standardised approach using the financial collateral comprehensive method.
- (3) If a third party has provided an express unconditional and irrevocable guarantee in respect of an exposure, a licenceholder may report the exposure as being to the guarantor.
- (4) A licenceholder must not net its claims and obligations in calculating its exposure to a counterparty unless—
- (a) there is a legally enforceable contract allowing the licenceholder to set off any claim against the counterparty; and

Formatted: F

- (b) it notified the Commission before it entered into the contract.

8.38 Exempt exposures

The following exposures are exempt exposures—

- (a) exposures of ~~under three months one year or less to credit institutions not related to the licenceholder which receive (unsecured) a 20% risk weighting under the standardised approach banks in Zone A countries (excluding multilateral development banks) not related to a licenceholder~~, provided that—
 - (i) ~~the exposure does not exceed 500% of a licenceholder's LECB;~~
 - (ii) ~~the placing is not subject to any form of charge or pledge, and~~
 - (iii) ~~the exposure is part of a licenceholder's normal treasury operations;~~
- (b) ~~exposures of more than three months but less than 12 months to credit institutions not related to the licenceholder which receive (unsecured) a risk weighting of 50% or less under the standardised approach, provided that—~~
 - (i) ~~the exposure does not exceed 200% of a licenceholder's LECB if the exposure is to a credit institution which receives (unsecured) a risk weighting of 20% under the standardised approach;~~
 - (ii) ~~the exposure does not exceed 100% of a licenceholder's LECB if the exposure is to a credit institution which receives (unsecured) a risk weighting of 50% under the standardised approach;~~
 - (iii) ~~the placing is not subject to any form of charge or pledge; and~~
 - (iv) ~~the exposure is part of a licenceholder's normal treasury operations.~~

~~For the purpose of the limits specified in rule 8.38(a) and 8.38(b) the maximum exposure to an individual counterparty or group of closely related counterparties must not exceed in aggregate the lower of 500% of a licenceholder's LECB or £100m.~~

- ~~(bc)~~ exposures to ~~or guaranteed by~~ central governments (including public sector entities), and central banks, international organisations or multilateral development banks which receive (unsecured) a 0% risk weighting under the standardised approach of Zone A countries;
- ~~(d)~~ exposures carrying the explicit guarantees of central governments (including public sector entities), central banks, international organisations or multilateral development banks where unsecured claims on the entity providing the guarantee would receive a 0% risk weighting under the standardised approach;
- ~~(ee)~~ exposures to central banks not falling within rule 8.38(c)~~governments of Zone B countries~~ which are in the form of required minimum reserves or statutory liquidity requirements held at those central banks which if they are denominated ~~in~~ local currency and funded in their national ~~by liabilities in the same~~ currency;
- ~~(df)~~ exposures secured by collateral in the form of either cash deposits (including certificates of deposit issued by the lending bank) held by the lender, ~~a guarantee by the central government of a Zone A country, or central bank securities,~~ provided that—

 - (i) the legal title of the lender is fully protected;
 - (ii) only the portion of an exposure which is fully secured by cash deposits or certificates of deposit or securities and over which a licenceholder has a full right of set-off is exempt for this purpose;
 - (iii) if the security is in a different currency from the exposure ~~or is in the form of securities~~, the amount of the collateral includes a margin to cover possible fluctuations in value;
 - (iv) an individual exposure (before the application of collateral) does not exceed 100% of the licenceholder's LECB;
- ~~(eg)~~ exposures to other group companies which are credit institutions ~~in Zone A countries~~provided that :-

 - (i) the group company is the parent, or a wholly owned subsidiary of the parent;
 - (ii) the group company is managing surplus liquidity across the group or takes on a treasury role on behalf of the group;

- (iii) both the group company and the licenceholder are included within the scope of consolidated supervision for the group by a competent authority;
- (iv) there is no current or foreseen material practical or legal impediment to the repayment of liabilities from the group company to the licenceholder;
- (fh) exposures with parental guarantees provided that -:
 - (i) the guarantee is from a group company which is the parent, or a wholly owned subsidiary of the parent, and is a credit institution;
 - (ii) an individual exposure covered by the guarantee does not exceed 10% of the guarantor's capital resources and that the aggregate of all individual exposures covered by the guarantee does not exceed 25% of the guarantor's capital resources;
 - (iii) an individual exposure covered by the guarantee does not exceed 100% of the licenceholder's LECB;
- (i) exposures arising from undrawn credit facilities which may be cancelled unconditionally at any time without notice, provided that an agreement has been concluded with the counterparty under which the facility may be drawn only if such drawing will not cause the standard limit of 25% of a licenceholder's LECB to be exceeded.

8.39 Arrears and provisions policy for bad and doubtful debts

- (1) A licenceholder must by its directors—
 - (a) establish and maintain a policy on arrears and provisions for bad and doubtful debts which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the approval by the directors of the policy or amendment.
- (3) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) ensure that the policy is complied with, and

- (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the policy.
- (4) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) hold an adequate level of provisions for specific bad and doubtful debts; and
 - (b) report to the Commission its arrears and provisions for bad and doubtful debts—
 - (i) as at each quarter-end, within one month of the quarter-end, or
 - (ii) at such other intervals as may be required by the Commission, within one month of the reporting date.

8.40 Liquidity policy

- (1) A licenceholder must by its directors—
 - (a) establish and maintain a prudent liquidity policy (including specific limits for liquidity) which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the approval by the directors of the policy or amendment.
- (3) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) ensure that the policy is complied with, and
 - (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the policy.
- (4) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) establish and maintain an appropriate liquidity contingency plan, and
 - (b) provide the Commission with a copy of the plan.

8.41 Liquidity management

- (1) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) maintain liquidity at the minimum level specified in paragraph (2); ~~and~~

- (b) measure and monitor liquidity, as frequently as is appropriate, by calculation of mismatch positions; and
 - (c) undertake appropriate stress testing of its liquidity position on at least an annual basis.
- (2) The level of liquidity referred to in paragraph (1)(a) is within—
- (a) such mismatch limits as the Commission may direct, or
 - (b) if no such direction is given, the ~~following~~ mismatch limit for both sight to 8 days and sight to 1 month is 0%.
~~sight to 8 days — 0%~~
~~sight to 1 month — 5%~~
- (3) A licenceholder must—
- (a) notify the Commission immediately of any breach of paragraph (1)(a);
 - (b) remedy any such breach and take action to prevent future breaches as soon as possible; and
 - (c) report its liquidity positions to the Commission as at each quarter-end, within one month of the quarter-end.

8.42 Foreign exchange risk

- (1) A licenceholder must by its directors—
- (a) establish and maintain a prudent foreign exchange risk management policy (including specific limits of risk) which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually, or more frequently if appropriate.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the approval by the directors of the policy or amendment.
- (3) A licenceholder must—
- (a) ensure that the policy is complied with, and
 - (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the policy.

- (4) A licenceholder must maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of measuring and monitoring its foreign exchange risks on a frequent and timely basis.
- (5) A licenceholder must report its foreign exchange risk positions to the Commission as at each quarter-end, within one month of the quarter-end.

8.43 Interest rate risk

- (1) A licenceholder must by its directors—
 - (a) establish and maintain a prudent interest rate risk management policy (including specific limits of risk) which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually, or more frequently if appropriate.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the approval by the directors of the policy or amendment.
- (3) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) ensure that the policy is complied with, and
 - (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the policy.
- (4) A licenceholder must maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of measuring and monitoring its interest rate risks on a frequent and timely basis.
- (5) A licenceholder must report its interest rate risk positions to the Commission as at each quarter-end, within one month of the quarter-end.

8.44 Annual review of certain policies

A licenceholder must notify the Commission, within 4 months after the end of its financial year, that during the financial year the directors reviewed and approved each of the following and were satisfied that they were up to date and appropriate—

- (a) its credit risk policy under rule [8.348.34](#);
- (b) its large exposures policy under rule [8.358.35](#);

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

- (c) its policy on arrears and provisions for bad and doubtful debts under rule 8.398.39;
- (d) its liquidity policy under rule 8.408.40;
- (e) its foreign exchange risk management policy under rule 8.428.42; and
- (f) its interest rate risk management policy under rule 8.438.43.

8.45 Capital charge for operational risk

- (1) A licenceholder must notify the Commission of its capital charge for operational risk, calculated in accordance with Form SR-1C in Schedule 2.1, as at each quarter-end.
- (2) A notification under paragraph (1) must be given within one month of the quarter-end.

Chapter 4 – Specific requirements for deposit takers incorporated outside the Island

8.46 Application

- (1) This Chapter applies to all licenceholders which are licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1 and are incorporated in a country or territory outside the Island.
- (2) This Chapter is without prejudice to the generality of rule 8.68.6.

8.47 Credit risk policy

- (1) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) establish and maintain a credit risk policy which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the adoption of the policy or amendment.
- (3) The policy must include—
 - (a) limits on different types of lending (including geographical, economic and individual sectors),
 - (b) limits on connected and related party lending,
 - (c) provisions in respect of sanctioning limits and authorisation procedures,

- (d) provisions as to permissible forms of security or collateral;
 - (e) monitoring and control procedures, and
 - (f) arrears and provisioning procedures.
- (4) A licenceholder must—
- (a) ensure that the policy is complied with, and
 - (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the policy.

8.48 Large exposures

- (1) A licenceholder must report to the Commission as at each quarter-end, within one month of the quarter-end—
- (a) the 10 largest exposures to banks and other credit institutions, and
 - (b) the 10 largest exposures other than those within subparagraph (a),
- which relate to its operations in or from the Island.
- (2) A licenceholder must have and comply with documented controls and procedures in accordance with the large exposures policy of its head office or parent company.

8.49 Arrears and provisions policy for bad and doubtful debts

- (1) A licenceholder must—
- (a) establish and maintain a policy on arrears and provisions for bad and doubtful debts which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the adoption of the policy or amendment.
- (3) A licenceholder must—
- (a) ensure that the policy is complied with, and
 - (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the policy.
- (4) A licenceholder must—

- (a) hold an adequate level of provisions for specific bad and doubtful debts; and
- (b) report to the Commission its arrears and provisions for bad and doubtful debts as at each quarter-end, within one month of the quarter-end.

8.50 Liquidity policy

- (1) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) establish and maintain a prudent liquidity policy (including specific limits for liquidity) which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually or more frequently if appropriate.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the adoption of the policy or amendment.
- (3) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) ensure that the policy is complied with, and
 - (b) maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of monitoring its compliance with the policy.
- (4) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) establish and maintain an appropriate liquidity contingency plan, and
 - (b) provide the Commission with a copy of the plan.

8.51 Liquidity management

- (1) A licenceholder must measure and monitor its liquidity, as frequently as appropriate, by calculation of mismatch positions.
- (2) A licenceholder must report its liquidity positions to the Commission as at each quarter-end, within one month of the quarter-end.
- (3) A licenceholder must undertake appropriate stress testing of its liquidity position on at least an annual basis.

8.52 Foreign exchange risk

- (1) A licenceholder must—

- (a) establish and maintain a prudent foreign exchange risk management policy (including specific limits of risk) which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually, or more frequently if appropriate.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the adoption of the policy or amendment.
 - (3) A licenceholder must maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of measuring and monitoring its foreign exchange risks on a frequent and timely basis.

8.53 Interest rate risk

- (1) A licenceholder must—
 - (a) establish and maintain a prudent interest rate risk management policy (including specific limits of risk) which is appropriate to the nature and scale of its business; and
 - (b) review that policy annually, or more frequently if appropriate.
- (2) A licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the policy, and any substantial amendment of that policy, within 20 business days of the adoption of the policy or amendment.
- (3) A licenceholder must maintain appropriate procedures and controls for the purpose of measuring and monitoring its interest rate risks on a frequent and timely basis.

Chapter 5— Specific requirements for investment businesses, CIS service, corporate service and trust service providers (except professional officers) and e-money issuers

8.54 Professional indemnity insurance

- (1) This rule applies to all licenceholders which are licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5 or Class ~~68(4)~~, but does not apply to -
 - (a) any such licenceholder which is also licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 1; and

- (b) individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of—
 - (i) paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as officer of company), and
 - (ii) paragraph (2), ~~(5)~~ or ~~(65)~~ of Class 5 (acting as trustee, ~~or~~ protector or enforcer).
- (2) Subject to paragraphs (4) to (7), unless the Commission otherwise directs, a licenceholder must maintain professional indemnity insurance which—
 - (a) is appropriate to the nature and size of its business;
 - (b) covers the activities of any subsidiaries; and
 - (c) in any event provides the minimum cover specified in paragraph (3), from the date at which cover commences.

The licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the cover note or broker's letter evidencing the insurance cover and confirming that the insurance covers the requirements detailed in paragraph (8). These details must be provided to the Commission within 4 months of the licenceholder's annual reporting date (see also rule 8.28).

- (3) The minimum cover required by paragraph (2)(b) is—
 - (a) for licenceholders incorporated in the Island, the greater of 3 times the licenceholder's annual turnover (which excludes dividends received) in the previous year ending on its annual reporting date; or
 - (i) subject to paragraph (4), for a licenceholder licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Classes 2, 3, 4 or 5, £1,000,000 in aggregate; or
 - (ii) for a licenceholder licensed to carry on activities falling within Class ~~68(4)~~, £5,000,000 in aggregate.
 - (b) for licenceholders incorporated outside the Island, the greater of 3 times the annual turnover (which excludes dividends received) of only the Isle of Man branch in the previous year ending on its annual reporting date, if this figure is confirmed by an auditor; or
 - (i) subject to paragraph (4), for a licenceholder licensed to carry on regulated activities falling

- within Classes 2, 3, 4 or 5, £1,000,000 in aggregate;
or
- (ii) for a licenceholder licensed to carry on activities falling within Class ~~68(4)~~, £5,000,000 in aggregate.
- (4) For a licenceholder licensed to carry on regulated activities falling only within paragraphs (3) and (7) of Class 2 and which has a restriction on its financial services licence limiting the range of products on which the licenceholder can advise to regulated products only, £500,000 in aggregate.
- (5) This rule has been revoked.
- (6) Where the licenceholder carries on 2 or more regulated activities in respect of which different minimum levels of cover are required by paragraph (3), the higher minimum amount must be maintained.
- (7) (a) A licenceholder licensed to carry on activities falling within Class 2 (3) and (7) or Class 3 (8) is not required to maintain cover exceeding £5,000,000 in aggregate.
- (b) Any other licenceholder to which this rule applies is not required to maintain cover exceeding £10,000,000 in aggregate.
- (8) The cover must include—
- (a) breach of duty by reason of negligent act, error and omission;
- (b) libel or slander (to include former employees);
- (c) dishonest or fraudulent acts or omissions by current and former employees; and
- (d) legal liability incurred by reason of loss of documents.
- (9) No account shall be taken of insurance provided by an insurer which has been notified by the Commission to the licenceholder as being unsatisfactory for the purpose of this rule.
- (10) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as practicable of—
- (a) any claim exceeding £10,000 on its insurance; and
- (b) any change in the insurance previously notified to the Commission.
- (11) (a) A licenceholder that intends to cease carrying on regulated activities or sell or otherwise transfer the

business or the company to a third party must arrange for appropriate “run off” professional indemnity insurance cover in respect of claims arising from past acts or omissions. Such cover must be for –

- (i) at least six years;
 - (ii) at the level outlined in sub-paragraphs (3) or (4) above; and
 - (iii) on terms considered to be appropriate by the Commission.
- (b) The licenceholder must provide the Commission with a copy of the cover note or broker’s letter evidencing the insurance cover prior to the surrender of the licence.
- (c) Where the business or the company has been sold or otherwise transferred to a third party, the licenceholder must provide the third party with details of the insurance company providing the cover.

8.55 Retention of client records

- (1) This rule applies to all licenceholders which are licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2.
- (2) Subject to paragraphs (4) and (5), a licenceholder must keep—
 - (a) the records which it is required by this Part to make;
 - (b) copies of the statements which it is required by rule 6.496.49 (contract note etc.) to provide; and
 - (c) any working papers which are created to assist in the preparation of the financial returns required to be prepared under Part 2;for at least 6 years after the date on which they are made or provided.
- (3) The documents referred to in paragraph (2) must be kept either—
 - (a) at a place where the licenceholder carries on business, or
 - (b) in such a manner that they can be produced at such a place within 24 hours of demand.
- (4) In the case of a transaction which relates to long-term business within the meaning of the Insurance Act 2008, a licenceholder

must keep the records referred to in paragraph (2) for the duration of the contract in question.

- (5) In the case of pension transfers, pension opt-outs or free-standing additional voluntary contributions a licenceholder must keep the records referred to in paragraph (2) indefinitely.

8.56 Inspection of records

- (1) This rule applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 2.
- (2) Subject to paragraph (3), a licenceholder must allow each of its clients during business hours to inspect, either personally or by his agent, any entry in a record kept by it of matters relating to the client—
 - (a) as soon as practicable, and
 - (b) in any event, not more than 10 business days after it receives a request to carry out such an inspection.
- (3) Paragraph (2) applies to records which do not relate exclusively to the client subject to any prohibition or limitation imposed by or under the Data Protection Act 2002.

8.57 Pricing errors

- (1) This rule applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within paragraphs (1), (2), (3), (4), (11) or (12) of Class 3.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware of a pricing error in relation to a collective investment scheme, where the error is more than 0.5% of the price of the unit.
- (3) Where a licenceholder makes a notification under paragraph (2), it must also inform the Commission of the steps which it proposes to take to remedy the error and prevent a repetition of the error.
- (4) A licenceholder must maintain a register of all pricing errors in relation to a collective investment scheme.
- (5) A licenceholder must report to the Commission, within 15 business days after the quarter-end, all pricing errors in relation to a collective investment scheme which occurred during that calendar quarter.

8.57A Notification of suspension or liquidation of a scheme

- (1) This rule applies to all licenceholders licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 3.
- (2) A licenceholder must notify the Commission as soon as it becomes aware that any collective investment scheme for which it acts has been suspended or put into liquidation.

8.58 Provision of officers

- (1) This rule applies to all licenceholders which are licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within Class 4.
- (2) Where a licenceholder carries on a regulated activity falling within paragraph (8) of Class 4 (providing officer of company) it must take reasonable steps to ensure that the person concerned—
 - (a) is a suitable and competent person to undertake the office in question, and
 - (b) understands the duties and responsibilities of the office.
- (3) Where the person concerned is a body corporate, the licenceholder's obligation under paragraph (2) relates to the directors of the body corporate.
- (4) Where the person concerned is an officer of or employed by the licenceholder, the licenceholder must take reasonable steps to ensure that the person concerned undertakes the office in a diligent and proper manner.

PART 9 – PROFESSIONAL OFFICERS

9.1 Application

This Part applies to all individuals licensed to carry on only activities falling within either or both of—

- (a) paragraph (6) of Class 4 (acting as director or alternate director of company); and
- (b) paragraph (2), ~~or~~ (5) or (6) of Class 5 (acting as trustee, ~~or~~ protector or enforcer).

9.2 Interpretation

In this Part, "the regulatory requirements" means the requirements of—

- (a) the conditions attached to the licence;
- (b) any direction issued under section 14 of the Act; and
- (c) the following, so far as applicable—
 - (i) any provision of the Act;
 - (ii) this Rule Book;
 - (iii) any other Rule Book under section 18 of the Act;
 - (iv) the Criminal Justice (Money Laundering) Code 2008, the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Code 2010 or any successor;
 - (v) any other relevant code of practice under section 17F (money-laundering codes) of the Criminal Justice Act 1990 or section 157(1) of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2008;
 - (vi) any other provision having effect under or by virtue of the Act; and
 - (vii) any statutory provision referred to in section 43 of the Act.

9.3 Relations with regulators

A professional officer must—

- (a) co-operate in an open and honest manner with the Commission and any other regulatory body to which he is accountable; and
- (b) keep the Commission promptly informed of anything relevant to the exercise of its regulatory functions.

9.4 Skill, care and responsible behaviour

A professional officer must —

- (a) act with integrity and avoid misleading or deceptive representations or practices;
- (b) act with due skill, care and diligence in carrying on regulated activities;
- (c) carry on any regulated activity in a professional, open and fair manner;
- (d) comply with any applicable law or regulations relating to that activity in the country or territory in which it is carried on;
- (e) comply with any applicable code or standard which is imposed or endorsed by —
 - (i) any professional body of which the professional officer is a member; or
 - (ii) the Commission where a code or standard has been specified in writing to the professional officer, for the purpose of this rule;
- (f)
 - (i) comply with any continuing professional development (“CPD”) requirements of his professional body; or
 - (ii) where his professional body does not require CPD, or he is not a member of a professional body, undertake a minimum of 25 hours relevant CPD per annum.
- (g) disclose to any affected parties any private benefit; and
- (h) avoid offering or receiving any gift or other benefit which might affect the recipient’s judgement.

9.5 Action likely to bring the Island into disrepute

A professional officer must not carry on business in a manner that may bring the Island into disrepute or damage its standing as a financial centre.

9.6 Independence

- (1) A professional officer must only claim that he is independent or impartial -
 - (a) if he is independent; and
 - (b) if he clearly specifies any limitation to that independence and impartiality.
- (2) Without prejudice to paragraph (1), a professional officer must not represent himself as acting independently if he has any relationship or arrangement with any other person which—

- (a) may distort the way in which he conducts his business; or
- (b) results in an advantage to the professional officer, or a disadvantage to the other person.

9.7 Advertisements – general

If a professional officer advertises his services in respect of regulated activities, he must not publish or cause or permit to be published any advertisement –

- (a) for a product or service which does not contain a fair and accurate indication of the product or service;
- (b) which might damage the reputation of the Island; or
- (c) which does not state the name of the professional officer, his principal business address in the Island and that the professional officer is licensed by the Commission.

9.8 Reference to licensing

- (1) Except when carrying on the regulated activity of acting in the capacity of a company director or in a personal capacity, a professional officer must state in a prominent position in all documents issued or published that he is licensed by the Commission.
- (2) The documents in (1) include business cards, e-mails, websites and business agreements.
- (3) Subject to paragraphs (4) and (5), the statement under paragraph (2) must be in the following form –
"Licensed by the Financial Supervision Commission of the Isle of Man".
- (4) The statement may use the term "Isle of Man Financial Supervision Commission" instead of "Financial Supervision Commission of the Isle of Man".
- (5) Existing stocks of stationery which contain a statement that was compliant with rule 6.14 of the Financial Services Rule Book 2008 may be used until those stocks are depleted.

9.9 ~~Details~~isplay of licence

- (1) ~~A professional officer must prominently display the first page, or a copy of the first page, of his licence in his principal place of business in the Island. This rule has been deleted.~~
- (2) A professional officer must provide on request, to any current, past or potential client –

- (a) information regarding the conditions attached to his licence; and
- (b) details of any exception or modification of any rule applicable to him.

9.10 Business agreement

- (1) A professional officer must not carry on any regulated activity unless the services provided have been agreed in writing and a copy retained on file.
- (2) The agreement must set out the professional officer's remuneration or the basis of its calculation.

9.11 Client money

- (1) Professional officers must not hold or receive client money.
- (2) Where a professional officer does receives client money ~~it he~~ must ~~immediately pay the money into a client bank account~~return it as soon as possible.
- (3) The professional officer must also, on the date of receipt or the next working day, notify the Commission of the facts, including—
 - ~~(a) the date of reason for the receipt of the money; and the date it was returned.~~

9.12 Business governance and controls

- ~~(1) The professional officer is responsible for the good governance of his business and compliance with the regulatory requirements.~~
- ~~(2) A professional officer must have in place arrangements for effective governance which are appropriate to the size and nature of his business.~~

~~9.13 Controls~~

- ~~(21)~~ A professional officer must organise and control his affairs in a responsible manner.
- ~~(32)~~ A professional officer must establish and maintain ~~and~~ operational controls, systems, policies and procedures appropriate to the nature, scale and complexity of his business to ensure—
 - (a) effective communication;

- (b) effective maintenance of accounting and other records and the reliability of this information;
- (c) appropriate consideration is given to risks of money laundering, financial crime or the financing of terrorism; and
- (d) appropriate consideration is given to risks of market manipulation or market abuse.

(43) A professional officer must review the controls required by this rule annually, or more frequently if appropriate.

9.13 ~~Controls~~ This rule has been merged with Rule 9.12.

9.14 ~~This rule has been deleted~~ ~~Systems and controls for record keeping~~

~~A professional officer must establish and maintain procedures to ensure that sufficient information is recorded and retained about the conduct of his business and his compliance with the regulatory requirements.~~

9.15 Compliance

A professional officer must-

- (a) comply with the regulatory requirements and also have regard to any code or set of standards promulgated by any authority or body other than the Commission, having responsibility in the public interest for the supervision or regulation of the professional officer's activities, except to the extent that it is inconsistent with the regulatory requirements;
- (b) take reasonable steps to ensure that any company or trust for which he carries on any regulated activity complies with such statutory obligations as are applicable to that activity.

9.16 Business plan

- (1) A professional officer must have a documented business plan and must operate in accordance with his business plan.
- (2) A professional officer must notify the Commission, not less than 20 business days in advance of any cessation of, or material change to, any of his regulated activities; and
 - (a) incorporate any relevant amendments into the business plan; and
 - (b) provide the Commission with a copy of the amended plan.

- (3) In this rule "business plan" means a statement describing the professional officer's business or projected business, containing such details and projections as the Commission may reasonably require.

9.17 Change of name or address

A professional officer must notify the Commission, not less than 20 business days in advance, of a change in—

- (a) his name;
- ~~(a)(b)~~ his address; and
- (c) his principal place of business, if any.

9.18 Annual reporting date

- (1) A professional officer must notify the Commission of their annual reporting date.
- (2) A professional officer may not change his annual reporting date without the prior consent in writing of the Commission.

9.19 Compliance returns

- (1) A professional officer must make a return (an "annual compliance return") to the Commission within 4 months of the professional officer's annual reporting date.
- (2) The return must state the position as at the annual reporting date.
- (3) The return must be in the form, contain the information and be accompanied by the documents specified in Schedule 9.1.

(4) The following additional information must be submitted to the Commission within 4 months of the professional officer's annual reporting date as part of the annual return -

- (a) Professional offers authorised to carry on Class 5(2) regulated activity must confirm that they are in compliance with the level required by rule 9.28(1)(a) and the requirements set out in rule 9.28(1)(b).
- (b) All other professional officers must provide details of the insurance cover in place and how this is appropriate to his regulated activities.

9.20 Provision of statistical information

A professional officer must provide to the Commission ~~on a quarterly basis~~—such statistical information relating to his activities as the Commission may require.

9.21 Appointment of alternate directors

A professional officer must maintain records to show alternate director(s) nominated by him and the dates and meetings at which the alternate director(s) act in his stead.

9.22 ~~This rule has been deleted~~ ~~Introductions to overseas businesses etc.~~

~~(1) — A professional officer who introduces a person to an overseas financial business must —~~

~~(a) — disclose to the person that the business will not be regulated under the Act; and~~

~~(b) — inform the person of the system of regulation of financial services applying to the business in the country or territory where it is located.~~

~~(2) — In this rule “overseas financial business” means a person carrying on, in a country or territory outside the Island, an activity which would be a regulated activity if it were carried on in the Island.~~

9.23 Risk management

(1) A professional officer must —

(a) establish and maintain policies, appropriate to the nature and scale of his business for managing the risks specified in paragraph (2); and

(b) update those policies as appropriate.

(2) The risks referred to in paragraph (1)(a) are —

(a) all material risks associated with the professional officer, including financial, legal and regulatory risks;

(b) all operational risks associated with the professional officer’s activities.

(3) The professional officer must ensure that the policies referred to in paragraph (1)(a) are complied with.

9.24 Systems and controls for record keeping

(1) A professional officer must establish and maintain procedures to ensure that sufficient information is recorded and retained about

the conduct of his business and his compliance with the regulatory requirements.

- (24) A professional officer must establish and maintain adequate systems and controls over his general records to ensure that they comply with the regulatory requirements.
- (32) ~~If a~~A professional officer holds any original records must maintain records relating to his ~~business transactions~~regulated activities, he must maintain these for at least 6 years after he ceases to hold a licence. ~~Those records must be kept in English and be kept up to date. The records may be retained by a third party as long as those records-~~
- ~~(a) — are capable of being supplied in a timely manner; and~~
- ~~(b) — where necessary, are reconciled with records created by the professional officer.~~

9.25 Conflicts of interest

- (1) A professional officer must establish, implement and maintain an effective conflicts of interest policy which must be—
- (a) in writing; and
- (b) appropriate to the nature, scale and complexity of his business.
- (2) The policy must—
- (a) identify the circumstances which constitute or may give rise to a conflict of interest entailing a material risk of damage to the interests of any person for whom the professional officer undertakes regulated activities;
- (b) specify procedures to be followed and measures to be adopted in order to manage such conflicts.
- (3) A professional officer must-
- (a) so far as possible, avoid any conflict of interest;
- (b) so far as any conflict of interest cannot be avoided, disclose the conflict to any affected parties.
- (4) For the avoidance of doubt, any borrowing by the professional officer from any person connected to the regulated activity amounts to a conflict of interest.
- (5) A professional officer must maintain a register of conflicts of interest.

- (6) The register —
 - (a) may be in summary form, provided that a full record of each conflict of interest and the measures adopted to manage it is kept elsewhere;
 - (b) must contain the following information relating to each conflict of interest—
 - (i) a description of the conflict which arose;
 - (ii) the name of the person whose interests are at a material risk of damage by reason of the conflict;
 - (iii) the measures adopted to manage the conflict;
 - (iv) the date when the conflict was first identified; and
 - (v) if the conflict has ceased, the date when it ceased and the grounds for considering that it has ceased.
- (7) The information relating to a conflict of interest must be kept on the register until at least 6 years after the date the conflict ceased.

9.26 Complaints

- (1) A professional officer must ensure, in relation to any written complaint received relating to his regulated activities, that—
 - (a) the complaint is recorded in a complaints register;
 - (b) the complaint is investigated promptly and thoroughly within 12 weeks of receipt;
 - (c) appropriate action is taken and recorded; and
 - (d) the complainant is notified of the outcome of the investigation and of any action taken;
 - (e) any remedial action needed is taken promptly (including, where appropriate, correcting any failures or weaknesses in ~~its~~his systems and procedures).
- (2) A professional officer must—
 - (a) have documented procedures for dealing with complaints; and
 - (b) make those procedures readily accessible on request.
- (3) The register referred to in paragraph (1)(a)—
 - (a) must contain the information detailed in (3)(b) but may be in summary form, provided that a full record of the

complaint and action taken in relation to the complaint is kept elsewhere;

- (b) must contain the following information relating to each complaint—
 - (i) the name of the complainant;
 - (ii) the date when the complaint was received;
 - (iii) the nature of the complaint;
 - (iv) whether the complaint involves a breach of the regulatory requirements;
 - (v) how and when the complaint was investigated;
 - (vi) the action taken to resolve the complaint;
 - (vii) the date the complaint is considered closed; and
 - (viii) whether the professional officer's professional indemnity insurers or Directors and Officers insurers were informed, if applicable.

9.27 Business resumption and contingency arrangements

A professional officer must—

- (a) establish and maintain business resumption and contingency arrangements which are appropriate to the nature and scale of his business;
- (b) test those arrangements at appropriate intervals;
- (c) incorporate the arrangements into a disaster recovery plan; and
- (d) provide a copy of the disaster recovery plan to the Commission upon request.

9.28 Professional indemnity insurance

Trustees

- (1) A professional officer ~~acting as a trustee~~ licensed to conduct Class 5(2) activity must ensure that professional indemnity insurance is maintained in respect of all of his regulated activities within Class 5 ~~in accordance with paragraphs (2), (3) and (4) as follows:~~
 - (a2) ~~t~~The minimum cover provided must be £500,000; ~~or three times the professional officer's annual turnover, whichever is the greater.~~ and
 - (b3) ~~t~~The cover must include—

- (~~ai~~) breach of duty by reason of negligent act, error and omission;
 - (~~bi~~) libel or slander; and
 - (~~ci~~) legal liability incurred by reason of loss of documents.
- (~~ai2~~) A professional officer ~~to whom (1) applies and~~ who intends to cease carrying on regulated activities must arrange for appropriate “run off” professional indemnity insurance in respect of claims arising from past acts or omissions as follows:-
- (a) ~~the~~ ~~Such~~ cover must be for six years and on terms considered to be appropriate by the Commission; ~~and-~~
 - (b) The professional officer must provide the Commission with a copy of the cover note or broker’s letter evidencing the insurance cover prior to the surrender of the licence.

Non-trustees

- (~~235~~) A professional officer licensed to conduct Class 4, Class 5(5) or Class 5(6) activity~~acting in a capacity other than a trustee~~ must maintain insurance cover appropriate to his regulated activities which may include “run-off” cover.

All professional officers

- (~~36~~) No account shall be taken of insurance provided by an insurer which has been notified by the Commission to ~~any~~the professional officer as being unsatisfactory for the purpose of this rule.
- (~~47~~) All professional officers~~s~~ must notify the Commission as soon as practicable of—
- (a) any claim exceeding £10,000 on the insurance described in paragraphs (1) and (4); and
 - (b) any change in the insurance previously notified to the Commission.

9.29 Breaches of regulatory requirements

- (1) A professional officer must notify the Commission as soon as he becomes aware that he has materially breached any regulatory requirements.

(2) Where a professional officer gives a notification under paragraph (1), he must also inform the Commission of the steps which he proposes to take to remedy the situation.

(3) A professional officer must maintain a register of all breaches.

9.30 Matters to be notified – general

(1) Without prejudice to the specific requirements of any other rule, a professional officer must notify the Commission of any relevant material change affecting his business.

(2) A professional officer must notify the Commission as soon as he becomes aware that any of the following has occurred in relation to his regulated activities, whether within or outside the Island—

(a) the breakdown of his administrative or control procedures (including breakdowns of computer systems or other accounting problems resulting, or likely to result in, failure to maintain proper records);

(b) any event which makes it impracticable for him to comply with any of the regulatory requirements;

(c) the imposition of disciplinary measures by any statutory or other regulatory authority;

(d) any event which may constitute market manipulation or market abuse;

(e) the material loss of data; or

(f) an appeal made by him to a Tribunal against any decision or action taken by the Commission.

(3) Where a professional officer gives a notification under paragraph (2)(a) or (b), he must also inform the Commission of the steps which he proposes to take to remedy the situation.

9.31 Surrender of licence

(1) Where a professional officer intends voluntarily to surrender his licence, he must notify the Commission of—

(a) his intention to do so; and

(b) whether he will continue to carry on the regulated activity under an exemption in the Financial Services (Exemptions) Regulations 2009; or

(c) the date on which he will cease to carry on a regulated activity.

- (2) A notification under paragraph (1) must be given not less than 30 business days before the surrender of the licence.
- (3) If the requisite amount of notice under paragraph (2) is not given, the surrender will not take effect until 30 business days after the notice was received by the Commission.

9.32 Cessation of regulated activities

- (1) Where a professional officer intends voluntarily to cease carrying on a regulated activity of any description, he must notify the Commission of his intention to do so.
- (2) A notification under paragraph (1) must be given—
 - (a) if practicable, not less than 20 business days before the event; or
 - (b) otherwise, as soon as practicable.

9.33 Resignation of professional officer as a director

~~(1)~~—If a professional officer intends to cease carrying on regulated activities for or on behalf of a company~~any party~~, he must notify that party~~company~~ in writing.

~~(2)~~—Where a professional officer ceases to carry on regulated activities for or on behalf of a c for any reason, he must preserve any records relating to that regulated activity in a readily realisable format for at least 6 years from the date they were made.

9.34 Resignation of professional officer as a trustee, protector or enforcer

~~This rule only applies to professional officers who are trustees, protectors or enforcers.~~ If a professional officer ceases to carry on regulated activities in relation to a trust or foundation, he must take whatever steps are appropriate and necessary—

- (a) to facilitate the transfer of that business-regulated activity to another licenceholder or another person who is to provide those or similar services, and
- (b) to secure the appointment of a replacement trustee, protector or enforcer, as the case may be, and

and co-operate with the new trustee, protector or enforcer to ensure a smooth and timely transition.

9.35 Investigation of member's conduct by professional body

A professional officer must notify the Commission as soon as he becomes aware of any action of the following kinds taken against him by a professional body of which the professional officer is a member—

- (a) an inquiry into his professional conduct;
- (b) the termination of his membership;
- (c) any disciplinary action against him;
- (d) any censure of his conduct.

9.36 Disqualification as a director etc.

A professional officer must notify the Commission as soon as he becomes aware of his disqualification or any application for his disqualification under—

- (a) sections 4, 5 or 9 of the Company Officers (Disqualification) Act 2009¹⁵; or
- (b) any equivalent provision having effect in a country or territory outside the Island.

9.37 Notice of action etc.

- (1) A professional officer must notify the Commission as soon as he becomes aware of any action specified in paragraph (3) against him.
- (2) A professional officer must notify the Commission as soon as he becomes aware of any action specified in paragraph (3) against any person for whom he undertakes any regulated activity, either currently or within the previous 6 years, unless the action has been reported to the Commission by that person.
- (3) The actions referred to in paragraph (1) are—
 - (a) the service of any notice under section 24 of the Criminal Justice Act 1990;
 - (b) the service of any summons or issue of any warrant under section 21 or section 22 of the Criminal Justice Act 1991;
 - (c) the making of any order or the issue of any warrant under section 52 or section 53 of the Drug Trafficking Act 1996;

¹⁵ 2009 c.4

- (d) the making of any order or the issue of any warrant under Schedule 5 to the Anti-Terrorism and Crime Act 2003; or
- (e) the issue of a warrant under section 169 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2008.

9.38 Legal proceedings

- (1) A professional officer must notify the Commission as soon as he becomes aware of any actual or intended legal proceedings taken, or to be taken, by or against:
 - (a) the professional officer; or
 - (b) a person for whom he undertakes regulated activities;where the amount claimed or disputed is likely to exceed £100,000 sterling or its equivalent in another currency.
- (2) Nothing in this rule requires a professional officer to disclose any matter subject to legal professional privilege.

9.39 Criminal proceedings and convictions

- (1) In respect of an offence to which this rule applies, as soon as he becomes aware of the bringing of any criminal proceedings against, or the conviction of, himself or any person for whom he undertakes regulated activities, a professional officer must notify the Commission.
- (2) This rule applies to—
 - (a) an offence which is triable on information, or, which would be triable on information if committed in the Island;
 - (b) an offence relating to a regulated activity or an activity which, if carried on in the Island, would be a regulated activity;
 - (c) an offence under the Companies Acts 1931 to 2004 or the Companies Act 2006, or any legislation having similar effect in any country or territory outside the Island;
 - (d) an offence relating to the formation, management or administration of companies in any country or territory;
 - (e) an offence under the Purpose Trusts Act 1996 or any legislation having similar effect in any country or territory outside the [Island of Man](#);
 - (f) an offence relating to trusts in any country or territory;

- (g) an offence relating to insolvency; ~~or~~
- (h) an offence involving fraud or dishonesty; or
- (i) an offence under the Foundations Act 2011 or any legislation having similar effect in any country or territory outside the Island.

(3) Nothing in this rule requires a professional officer to disclose any matter subject to legal professional privilege.

9.40 **Bankruptcy, etc.**

A professional officer must notify the Commission as soon as he becomes aware of any of the following (whether occurring in the Island or elsewhere)—

- (a) the making of any composition or arrangement with his creditors;
- (b) the commencement of proceedings for his bankruptcy;
- (c) the appointment of an inspector by a statutory or other regulatory authority to investigate his affairs.

9.41 **Fraud or ~~dishonesty~~ serious mismanagement**

A professional officer must notify the Commission as soon as he becomes aware of any circumstances which may result in fraud or serious mismanagement in any person for whom he undertakes any regulated activity.

Rule ~~1.21.2~~

Formatted: F

Schedule 1.1 – Interpretation

accommodation address facilities	has the same meaning as in the Order;
accounting records	means the records kept in accordance with rule 2.142.14 or 2.182.18 ;
the Act	means the Financial Services Act 2008;
adjusted capital base ("ACB")	in relation to a licenceholder, means a measurement of its capital available to cover its risk weighted assets, calculated in accordance with Form SR-2A in Schedule 2.1;
administrator	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
advocate	includes a person who is registered under the Legal Practitioners Registration Act 1986;
agent	includes an attorney and a nominee;
annual compliance return	means a return made in accordance with rule 8.288.28 ;
annual financial return	means a return made in accordance with rule 2.92.9 ;
annual financial statements	has the meaning given by rule 2.82.8 ;
annual reporting date	in relation to any person, means the end of that person's financial year;
asset manager	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
associated company	means – (a) any company in which the licenceholder holds more than 20% of the equity shares; or (b) a company, other than a subsidiary, over which the licenceholder is able to exercise a significant influence, and in which the licenceholder's interest is either – (i) effectively that of a partner in a joint venture or consortium; or (ii) both long-term and substantial;
attorney	means the donee of a power of attorney acting under that power;

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

business day	means a day other than — (a) a Saturday or Sunday, or (b) a day which is a bank holiday under the Bank Holidays Act 1989;
business plan	means a statement in writing provided by a licenceholder to the Commission setting out the licenceholder's proposed activities for a future period of not less than 2 years, including a budget for that period;
certificates representing securities	has the same meaning as in the Order;
charge	means a charge referred to in section 79 of the Companies Act 1931 or section 138 of the Companies Act 2006, and includes, in the case of a company incorporated in a country or territory outside the Island, a charge required to be registered under any equivalent provision having effect in that country or territory;
the CIS Act	means the Collective Investment Schemes Act 2008;
client	includes a customer (and vice versa);
client agreement	means an agreement referred to in rule 6.386.38 or rule 6.63;
client company (in relation to a corporate service provider)	means a company for which the corporate service provider carries on any regulated activity falling within Class 4;
client money	has the meaning given by rule 3.33.3 ;
collateral	means any form of real security;
collective investment scheme	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
the Commission	means the Financial Supervision Commission;

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

company	<p>includes any body corporate, whether constituted under the law of the Island or elsewhere; <u>and for the purposes of all rules applying to Class 4 regulated activities also includes —</u></p> <p>(a) <u>a <i>Stiftung</i> (foundation) established under the law of Austria, Germany or Liechtenstein;</u></p> <p>(b) <u>an <i>Anstalt</i> (institution) established under the law of Liechtenstein;</u></p> <p>(c) <u>a foundation or similar entity established under the law of a country or territory outside the Island;</u></p> <p>(d) <u>a foundation established under the Foundations Act 2011.</u></p>
contract note	means a note of the essential features of a transaction carried out for a client;
controlling interest	should be interpreted by reference to the definition of "controller" in the Financial Services Act 2008;
corporate officer	means a company whose business consists solely of acting as a director or secretary;
corporate service provider ("CSP")	means a person who carries on regulated activities falling within Class 4;
corporate trustee, enforcer or protector	means a company whose business consists solely of acting as a trustee, enforcer or protector;
counterparty	means another party to a transaction to which the licenceholder is a party;
custodian	<p>(a) in relation to regulated activities falling within Class 2, means a person carrying on regulated activities falling within paragraphs (2) and (5) of that class;</p> <p>(b) in relation to regulated activities falling within Class 3, has the meaning given in section 26 of the CIS Act;</p>
dealing	has the same meaning as in the Order;
debenture warrant	has the same meaning as in the Order;
debentures	has the same meaning as in the Order;

deposit	has the same meaning as in the Order;
deposit taker	means a person carrying on regulated activities falling within Class 1;
deposit taking return	means a return required by rule 2.242.24 or 2.282.28 ;
Depositors Compensation Scheme	means the scheme for the time being having effect under section 25 of the Act;
designated exchange	means an investment exchange (not being a recognised exchange) for the time being notified by the Commission in writing to licenceholders as being a designated exchange;
designated stock	means stock listed on a recognised or designated exchange;
<u>director</u>	<u>has the same meaning as in the Act but also includes, in relation to a foundation established under the Foundations Act 2011, a member of the council of a foundation;</u>
discretionary management agreement	means a client agreement which includes additional statements required by rule 6.426.42 (exercise of discretion in management of investments);
discretionary portfolio manager	means a person carrying on regulated activities falling within paragraphs (3), (4), (5), (6) and (7) only of Class 2;
disposal	has the same meaning as in the Order;
electronic money	has the same meaning as in the Order;
<u>e-money</u>	<u>has the same meaning as electronic money;</u>
enforcer	has the same meaning as in section 1(1)(d) of the Purpose Trusts Act 1996 <u>in relation to a purpose trust, or has the same meaning as in section 14 of the Foundations Act 2011 in relation to a foundation established under that Act;</u>
equity balance	has the meaning given by rule 3.21(10);
exchange	means — (a) a recognised exchange, (b) a designated exchange, or (c) a recognised clearing house;

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

execution only	means, in relation to arranging a deal for a client, a deal arranged in circumstances where the licenceholder can reasonably assume that the client is not relying upon the licenceholder to advise him on or to exercise any judgement on his behalf as to the merits of or the suitability for him of that transaction;
exempt exposure	means an exposure referred to in rule 8.388.38 ;
exempt scheme	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
existing licence	means a licence or authorisation under an enactment repealed by the Act which, by virtue of paragraph 2 of Schedule 8 to the Act, has effect as a licence under the Act;
exposure	means a claim on an individual counterparty or group of closely related counterparties;
express trust	has the same meaning as in the Order
fiduciary	means a licenceholder who carries on activities falling within Class 4 or Class 5;
fiduciary custodian	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
financial adviser	means a licenceholder who carries on activities falling within paragraphs (3) and (7) of Class 2;
financial return	means any return, statement or account required to be made, provided or submitted to the Commission by Part 2;
Financial Services Ombudsman Scheme	means the Scheme contained in Schedule 4 to the Act;
governing body	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
government security	has the same meaning as in the Order;
group company	in relation to a licenceholder, means a company, trust or foundation which is a member of the same group as the licenceholder;
group of closely related counterparties	means individual counterparties which are related in such a way that the financial soundness of any one of them may affect the financial soundness of the others and as such they constitute a single risk;
illiquid investment	means an investment which, either generally or under certain market conditions, may be difficult or impossible to realise;

Formatted: Fo

instrument	has the same meaning as in the Order;
interim financial return	means a statement prepared in accordance with rule <u>2.422.42</u> ;
intermediate broker	in relation to a margined transaction, means any person through whom the licenceholder undertakes that transaction;
internal capital adequacy assessment process ("ICAAP")	in relation to a licenceholder, means procedures for assessing the adequacy of its capital and financial resources;
international collective investment scheme	has the meaning given in the section 26 of the CIS Act;
investment	has the same meaning as in the Order;
investment adviser to retirement benefit schemes	means a licenceholder licensed to carry on activities falling within paragraphs (3) and (6) of Class 2;
Isle of Man resident director	in relation to a licenceholder, means a director who is resident in the Island;
Isle of Man resident officer	in relation to a licenceholder, means an individual nominated in accordance with rule <u>8.218.21</u> ;
items subject to legal privilege	has the meaning given by section 13 of the Police Powers and Procedures Act 1998;
joint enterprise	has the same meaning as in the Order;
large exposure	in relation to a licenceholder, means any exposure which is 10% or more of the licenceholder's large exposures capital base;
large exposures capital base ("LECB")	in relation to a licenceholder, means the adjusted capital base calculated annually on the licenceholder's latest audited financial statements;
large exposures policy statement	means a statement of a bank's policy on treatment of large exposures;
licenceholder	includes the holder of an existing licence;
limited advice	means, in relation to advising on and arranging a deal for a client, where limited information relating to his circumstances has been provided to the licenceholder in relation to an identified specific need.

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

liquidity	means the risk of non-availability of liquid assets;
management letter	means a letter from a licenceholder's auditor highlighting possible weaknesses in the licenceholder's systems and internal controls, and making recommendations to remedy the weaknesses;
margined transaction	has the meaning given in rule 3.21(10);
market counterparty	means - <ul style="list-style-type: none"> (a) another licenceholder; (b) a trading member of an exchange, but only in respect of the kinds of investments traded on that exchange, or any related derivatives; (c) an overseas person which regularly deals in investments off-exchange, but only in respect of investments of that kind, or any related derivatives; (d) an inter-dealer broker, but only in respect of activities undertaken as inter-dealer broker; (e) as regards debt investments and money market investments: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> (i) a country; (ii) an international banking or financial institution whose members are countries (or their central banks or monetary authorities); (iii) an institution with a Part IV permission under Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (an Act of Parliament) which includes accepting deposits; and (iv) a credit institution recognised under the BCD Regulations; (f) a central bank or other monetary authority of any country;
minimum net tangible asset requirement	in relation to a licenceholder, means the amount specified in column 6 of Schedule 2.2;

mismatch	in relation to liquidity, means the difference between the cumulative totals of assets and liabilities in specified time-bands, expressed as a percentage of total deposit liabilities;
net tangible assets	in relation to a licenceholder, means the amount calculated in accordance with Part A of Schedule 2.3;
OECD	means the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development;
open-ended investment company	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
the Order	means the Regulated Activities Order 20 11 09;
overseas person	has the same meaning as in the Order;
overseas scheme	means schemes established outside the Isle of Man;
participant	in relation to a collective investment scheme, has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
payment account	has the same meaning as in the Order;
payment institution	has the same meaning as in the Order;
payment service provider	has the same meaning as in the Order;
payment transaction	has the same meaning as in the Order;
payment service user	has the same meaning as in the Order;
professional officer	means an individual licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within either or both of: (a) Class 4 paragraph (6) acting as an officer of a company; or (b) Class 5 paragraph (2) acting as trustee (other than sole trustee) in relation to an express trust and/or paragraph (5) acting as a protector in relation to an express trust and or paragraph (6) acting as an enforcer (within the meaning of the Purpose Trusts Act 1996) in relation to a purpose trust or acting as an enforcer (within the meaning of the Foundations Act 2011) in relation to a foundation;
promoter	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;

property	has the same meaning as in the Order;
protector	means a person other than a trustee who, as the holder of an office created by or under the terms of an express trust, is authorised or required to participate in the administration of the trust;
quarter	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • for Class 1 licenceholders, means a period ending on a quarter-end; and • for all other licenceholders, means a 3 month period based on the licenceholder's accounting year end.
quarter-end	means 31st March, 30th June, 30th September or 31st December;
recognised clearing house	means a body for the time being declared to be a recognised clearing house by an order of the Financial Services Authority under section 290 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (an Act of Parliament);
recognised collective investment scheme	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
recognised exchange	means a body for the time being declared to be a recognised investment exchange by an order of the Financial Services Authority under section 290 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (an Act of Parliament);
regulated activity	has the same meaning as in the Order;
regulatory authority	has the same meaning as in the Order;
<u>relevant funds</u>	<u>as the meaning given in rule 3.31;</u>
relevant person	in relation to a licenceholder, means any of its officers, employees and tied agents and persons employed by them
responsible officers	in relation to a licenceholder, means — (a) in the case of a licenceholder incorporated in the Island, its directors; (b) in any other case, its senior management.
<u>restricted funds</u>	<u>has the meaning given in rule 3.33;</u>
retail investor	in relation to a licenceholder carrying on an activity of Class 2, means a client who is required by rule 6.396.39 to be treated as a retail investor;

risk-asset ratio ("RAR")	means a ratio of adjusted capital base to risk-weighted assets;
risk-weighted assets	means assets weighted by risk (calculated in accordance with the requirements applicable to Form SR-2C referred to in rule 2.242-24 or 2.282-28);
scheme	means a collective investment scheme;
securities	has the same meaning as in the Order;
<u>segregated payment account</u>	<u>means an account which complies with rule 3.33;</u>
senior management	means, in relation to a licenceholder — (a) its chief executive in the Island, (b) its Isle of Man resident directors; and (c) its Isle of Man resident officers;
set of deposit-taking returns	means a set of returns required by rule 2.242-24 or 2.282-28 ;
share	has the same meaning as in the Order;
share warrant	has the same meaning as in the Order
stockbroker	means a person carrying on regulated activities falling within all of paragraphs (1) to (7) of Class 2;
tied agent	means an agent or intermediary who is permitted by his terms of employment or agency to recommend only products marketed by one or more specified companies;
trust	has the same meaning as in the Order;
trust bank account	has the same meaning as in the Order;
trust corporation	has the meaning given in section 65A(b) of the Trustee Act 1961;
trust money	has the meaning given by rule 3.33-3 ;
trust service provider ("TSP")	means a licenceholder licensed to carry on regulated activities falling within paragraphs (1), (2), (3), (5) and (6) of Class 5;
unit trust scheme	has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
units	in relation to a collective investment scheme, has the same meaning as in the CIS Act;
warrant	has the same meaning as in the Order;

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Formatted: F

Zone A country	means— (a) a country which is a full member of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; (b) a country which has concluded special lending arrangements with the International Monetary Fund associated with the Fund's general arrangements to borrow; (c) the Island; (d) the Bailiwick of Jersey; (e) the Bailiwick of Guernsey; (f) Gibraltar; or (g) Bermuda;
Zone B country	means any country which is not a Zone A country.

Rules ~~2.242-24~~ and ~~2.282-28~~

Formatted: F
12 pt

Formatted: F
12 pt

Schedule 2.1 – Deposit Taking Returns

Form SR-1A - Balance Sheet Assets, Liabilities and Off Balance Sheet Items

All sterling and other currency denominated balances must be reported. All monetary balances must be reported in sterling (including those of currency denominated balances) to the nearest round thousand without decimal points.

Balance Sheet Assets

Cash

- Notes and coins
- Cash items in the course of collection
- Gold

Loans to Banks

- Loans to parent
- Loans to fellow banking subsidiaries
- Loans to other banks - 1 year or less to maturity
- Loans to other banks - greater than 1 year to maturity

Marketable Assets

- ~~Zone A~~ Government debt
- ~~Zone A~~ PSE debt
- CDs, CP and FRNs of less than 1 year to maturity, split as:
 - Parent issued
 - Other group bank issued
 - Other banks
 - Other marketable CP
- Other Marketable Bank Debt, split as:
 - Parent issued
 - Other group bank issued
 - Other banks
- Other Marketable Assets, split as:
 - Other marketable debt - group non-banking entities
 - Other marketable debt - corporate
 - Other marketable debt - securitisation exposures - non equity
 - Other marketable debt - sovereign
 - Other marketable PSE debt or Marketable bank equity holdings
 - Marketable corporate equity holdings
 - Marketable securitisation exposures - equity tranche holdings

Loans and Advances

- Group non-banking entities
- Sovereigns
- PSEs
- Corporate lending
- Retail lending
- Residential mortgages
- Capital connected lending

Investments

- Non marketable Sovereign Debt
- Non marketable PSE Debt
- Non marketable debt - parental
- Non marketable debt - other group bank
- Non marketable debt - other bank issued
- Non marketable debt - group non-banking entities
- Non marketable debt - corporate
- Non marketable securitisation exposures - non capital
- Investments requiring deduction
- Capital investments in subsidiaries and other associated companies
- Capital investments in other banks
- Equity - corporate
- Securitisation exposures - equity tranches

Other Financial

- Items in suspense
- Settlement balances
- Debtors and prepayments
- Operating leases
- All past due assets

Other

- Premises owned and occupied by the licenceholder
- Other land and property owned by the licenceholder
- Plant, equipment, leasehold premises, and motor vehicles
- Intangible assets, including goodwill

Balance Sheet Liabilities

Deposits due to:

- Parent / Holding Company or Group
- Associated Banking Companies
- Fellow Subsidiaries
- Other Deposit Takers. Retail Customers
- Corporate / Trust / Fiduciary
- All Other

CDs and Other Debt

- Certificates of deposit issued
- Promissory notes, bills and other short term paper issued
- Non-capital term debt issued

Creditors, accruals and provisions

- Interest payable
- Creditors and accruals
- Current taxation
- Other taxation
- Settlement balances
- Items in suspense
- Provisions
- Dividends payable
- Other liabilities

Capital (for licenceholders incorporated in the Isle of Man only)

- Tier 1 capital items, before deductions
- Tier 2 capital items, before deductions
- Capital items falling outside of regulatory capital

Capital (for licenceholders which are incorporated outside the Isle of Man only - i.e. branches)

- Retained profits
- General/collective provisions
- Capital issued by the branch
- Capital items - other working capital

Off Balance Sheet Items

Off balance sheet commitments

- Direct credit substitutes
- Transaction related contingencies
- Trade related contingencies
- Asset sales with recourse
- Forward asset purchases
- Partly paid up shares and securities
- Forward deposits placed
- Note issuance and revolving underwriting facilities
- Other commitments with original maturity of less than 1 year
- Other commitments with original maturity of 1 year and over
- Commitments that are unconditionally cancellable without prior notice

OTC contracts

- Interest rate contracts
- Foreign exchange and gold contracts
- Equity contracts
- Other precious metal contracts

- Other commodity contracts

Netted exposures

Form SR-1B - Credit risk

(does not apply to licenceholders incorporated outside the Isle of Man)

All monetary balances must be reported in sterling to the nearest round thousand without decimal points.

The following information must be reported for amounts before and after credit risk mitigation as appropriate.

The licenceholder must report using either the standardised approach or the simplified standardised approach to credit risk (indicating which approach has been used).

On balance sheet items

- Claims on Sovereigns, split as:
 - Claims on Isle of Man
 - Claims on other Sovereigns (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 50%, 100% and 150%)
 - Claims on Multilateral Development Banks and other relevant international organisations
- Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSEs), split as:
 - Claims on Isle of Man PSEs
 - Claims on other PSEs (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 50%, 100% and 150%)
- Claims on Corporates (risk weighted at 20%, 50%, 100% and 150%)
- Claims on Banks - except guarantees, split as:
 - Maturity more than 3 Months (risk weighted at 20%, 50%, 100% and 150%)
 - Maturity less than 3 Months (risk weighted at 20%, 50%, 100% and 150%)
- Claims on Banks - secured by guarantees from banks, split as:
 - Maturity more than 3 Months (risk weighted at 20%, 50%, 100% and 150%)
 - Maturity less than 3 Months (risk weighted at 20%, 50%, 100% and 150%)
- Securitisations (risk weighted at 20%, 50%, 100% and 350%)
- Cash, split as:
 - Notes and coins
 - Cash items in the course of collection
 - Gold
 - Claims collateralised by Cash deposits
- Retail Exposures, split as:

- Claims in regulatory retail portfolio
- Claims falling outside the regulatory retail portfolio
- Residential Mortgages (risk weighted at 35%, 50%, 75% and 100%)
- Past Due Exposures, split as:
 - Secured (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%)
 - Unsecured (risk weighted at 50%, 100% and 150%)
- Capital Deductions, split as:
 - Investments in Subsidiaries
 - Capital connected lending
 - Holdings of Financial Service Business' Capital Instruments
 - Goodwill
 - Securitisations - Equity Tranches
 - Other
- Other Balance Sheet Exposures, split as:
 - Tangible Assets
 - Equity
 - High Risk Assets
 - Other, including Prepayments and Debtors (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%)

Off Balance Sheet

- Direct credit substitutes (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100%, 150%, other at average weight, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Transaction related contingencies (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Trade-related contingencies (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Asset sales with recourse (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Forward asset purchases (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Partly paid up shares and securities (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Forward deposits placed (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Note issuance and revolving underwriting facilities (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Other commitments with original maturity of less than 1 year (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Other commitments with original maturity of 1 year and over (risk weighted at 0%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100% and 150%, or items requiring capital deduction)
- Commitments that are unconditionally cancellable without prior notice

Off Balance Sheet - Over the Counter (OTC) Derivatives

The nominal amount underlying the contract and any positive mark to market value of OTC derivative contracts are recorded on a maturity ladder as follows:

- Less than 1 year
- Over 1 year, less than 5 years
- 5 years and over

Returns are required in respect of:

- Interest rate contracts
 - Foreign exchange and gold contracts
 - Equity contracts
 - Other precious metal contracts
 - Other commodity contracts
 - Netted Exposures (no maturity analysis)
-

Form SR-1C - Operational risk

(does not apply to licenceholders incorporated outside the Isle of Man)

All monetary balances must be reported in sterling to the nearest round thousand without decimal points.

The licenceholder must report using only one of the approaches shown below (indicating which approach has been used).

Basic Indicator Approach ("BIA")

- BIA as agreed approach
- Income, split as:
 - Net Interest Income (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - Net Non-Interest Income (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- BIA Calculation, showing:
 - Average income, where positive
 - Alpha (set at 15%)
- BIA Requirement - Capital Charge and RWA Equivalent

Standardised Approach to Operational Risk ("SAO")

- SAO as agreed approach
- Income, split as:
 - Corporate Finance (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - Trading and sales (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - Retail banking (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - Commercial banking (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - Payment and settlement (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - Agency services (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - Asset management (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - Retail brokerage (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- Capital Charge, split as:

- Corporate Finance (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- Trading and sales (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- Retail banking (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- Commercial banking (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- Payment and settlement (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- Agency services (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- Asset management (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- Retail brokerage (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
- SAO Requirement - Capital Charge and RWA Equivalent

Alternative Standardised Approach ("ASA")

- ASA as agreed approach
 - Retail / Commercial Lending - Volume (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - Income, split as:
 - Retail / Commercial Lending (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - All other income (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior) .
 - Capital Charge, split as:
 - Retail / Commercial Lending (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - All other income (for last year, 1 year prior and 2 years prior)
 - ASA Requirement - Capital Charge and RWA Equivalent
-

Form SR-2A - Capital, Current Period's Profit and Loss, Provisions and Non-performing Assets

All monetary balances must be reported in sterling to the nearest round thousand without decimal points.

Capital

(does not apply to licenceholders incorporated outside the Isle of Man)

Tier 1 Capital

- Ordinary shares / Common stock
- Perpetual non-cumulative preferred stock
- Reserves - share premium account
- Reserves - disclosed prior year reserves
- Reserves - FX translation differences
- Reserves - Current period's profit verified by external audit
- Current period's losses (if appropriate)
- Minority interests in tier 1 capital

Less deductions:-

- Goodwill and other intangible assets
- Securitisations - gains on sale

Tier 2 Capital

- Fixed asset revaluation reserve
- Reserves / fair value gains of securities not held for trading
- General / collective provisions
- Hybrid debt/equity instruments
- Subordinated term debt
- Minority interests in tier 2 capital

Less deductions:-

- Excess general / collective provisions
- Amortisation on tier 2 subordinated debt
- Excess tier 2 subordinated debt .
- Excess tier 2

Deductions from capital

- Investments in subsidiaries
- Capital connected lending
- Holdings of licenceholder's capital instruments
- Securitisations - equity tranches
- Off balance sheet items of a capital nature
- IRB deductions, including deduction for excess expected losses
- Other

Capital after deductions

- Tier 1 capital
- Deductions pro rata
- Net tier 1 capital
- Tier 2 capital
- Deductions pro rata
- Net tier 2 capital
- Adjusted Capital Base

Current period's profit and loss

The profit and loss account should cover the period from the end of the previous financial year end to the date of the return.

Income

- Banking Income, split as:
 - Interest income
 - Interest expense
 - Profit / loss on foreign exchange dealing and currency positions
 - Profit / loss on investments held for dealing
 - Net income from banking fees, charges and commissions
 - Increase / decrease in book value of investments .
- Non-Banking Income (related to customers / clients), split as:

- Investment management fees
- Trust and company administration fees
- Trustee / Custodian fees
- Fund management fees
- Investment dealing profits and commissions
- Other
- Dividends and Other Income, split as:
 - Dividends / share of profits (or losses) from subsidiaries and associated companies
 - Other income

Expenses

- Operating expenses, split as:
 - Staff costs
 - Occupancy
 - Audit and Legal fees
 - Directors Remuneration
 - Group management / administration charge
 - Other
- Other expenses, split as:
 - Interest paid and payable on subordinated debt
 - Net charge / credit for specific/individual and general/collective bad debt provisions
 - Other expenses

Profit or Loss

- Profit / loss before taxation, extraordinary items and dividends
- Extraordinary items
- Taxation
- Profit after extraordinary items and taxation
- Dividends
- Retained profit

Provisions and non-performing assets

Provisions against bad and doubtful debts

- Gross value of loans against which specific/individual provisions made
- Amounts written off in the period - specific/individual provisions only
- Recoveries of amounts previously written off - specific/individual provisions only

Non-performing assets and loans

- Loans and other assets - 60 days past due date
- Loans and other assets - 90 days past due date

Form SR2-B - Large Exposures Reporting

Exposures to be reported are split between exposures to non-credit institutions and exposures to credit institutions.

All monetary balances must be reported in sterling to the nearest round thousand without decimal points.

Exposures to non-credit institutions

- Licenceholders incorporated in the Isle of Man must report all such exposures of 10% or above of their LECB.
- Licenceholders incorporated outside the Isle of Man must report their ten largest such exposures.

For each exposure, or group of closely related exposures, the following information is required:

- The name of the customer / counterparty
- Whether the customer / counterparty is connected to the licenceholder
- The value of the exposure at the reporting date (whether drawn down or otherwise) gross of specific / individual provisions and collateral
- Specific / individual bad debt provisions
- Maturity date(s)
- Currency denomination
- Where the exposure is reported on Form SR-1A
- The facility limit
- The maximum exposure in the quarter
- The nature of the security
- The date a large exposure card was submitted to the Commission (does not apply to licenceholders incorporated outside the Isle of Man)

Exposures to credit institutions

- Licenceholders incorporated in the Isle of Man must report all such exposures of 10% or above of their LECB.
- Licenceholders incorporated outside the Isle of Man must report their ten largest such exposures.

For each exposure, or group of closely related exposures, the following information is required:

- The name of the credit institution
- Where the exposure is reported on Form SR-1A
- Maturity date(s)
- The limit (maximum amount that can be put at risk)
- The current amount at risk

Form SR-2C - Risk Asset Ratio and Memorandum Items

All monetary balances must be reported in sterling to the nearest round thousand without decimal points.

Risk Asset Ratio

(does not apply to licenceholders incorporated outside the Isle of Man)

- Credit risk - Risk Weighted Asset ("RWA") Equivalent, split as appropriate between:
 - Simplified standardised approach ("SSA")
 - Standardised approach ("SAC")
 - Foundation International Ratings Based Approach ("FIRB")
 - Advanced Internal Ratings Based Approach ("AIRB")
- Operational risk - RWA Equivalent, split as appropriate between:
 - Basic Indicator Approach ("BIA")
 - Standardised Approach ("SAO")
 - Alternative Standardised Approach ("ASA")
 - Advanced Modelling Approach ("AMA")
- Market risk - RWA Equivalent - FX and Gold
- Market risk - RWA Equivalent - Commodities
- Settlement risk - RWA Equivalent
- Adjusted Capital Base (total eligible capital)
- Total Risk Weighted Assets (Pillar 1)
- Actual Risk Asset Ratio
- Agreed Minimum Risk Asset Ratio
- Eligible Capital required to support Pillar 1 risks
- Eligible Capital required to support Pillar 2 risks
- Surplus Eligible Capital

Memorandum Items

- Amounts due to parties connected to the licenceholder, showing where reported under Form SR-1A, the amount drawn and the facility limits, split between:
 - Other group companies - credit institutions
 - Other group companies - others
 - Directors, controllers and their associates
 - Non-group companies, trusts and other bodies with which directors and controllers are associated
- Amounts due from parties connected to the licenceholder, showing where reported under Form SR-1A, the amount drawn and the facility limits, split between:
 - Other group companies - credit institutions
 - Other group companies - others
 - Directors, controllers and their associates
 - Non-group companies, trusts and other bodies with which directors and controllers are associated
- Quoted investments: Market Valuation (split between sterling and other currencies)

- Unquoted investments: Directors' valuation (split between sterling and other currencies)
 - Encumbered Assets (split between sterling and other currencies)
 - Fiduciary Deposits (split between sterling and other currencies)
 - Number of staff employed - full time versus part time
 - Number of accounts at the reporting date (sterling and other currency denominated)
 - Deposits/loans received from other Isle of Man credit institutions (split between sterling and other currencies)
-

Form SR-3A - Liquidity Risk

All monetary balances must be reported in sterling to the nearest round thousand without decimal points.

The licenceholder must report the following information as at the end of each calendar quarter:-

Assets and liabilities, including off balance sheet items, by maturity date as follows:

- Sight less than 8 days
- 8 days less than 1 month
- 1 month less than 3 months
- 3 months less than 6 months
- 6 months less than 12 months
- 1 year less than 3 years
- 3 years less than 5 years
- Over 5 years

The following information is required in relation to assets and liabilities:

Assets

- Deposits with, and CDs issued by, group credit institutions
- Deposits with credit institutions
- Deposits with credit institutions incorporating embedded options (including group)
- CDs, FRNs and bills of exchange purchased
- Bonds and other instruments purchased incorporated embedded options (including group)
- Bonds issued by ~~Zone A~~ governments which are risk weighted at 0%
- Bonds issued by ~~Zone B~~ governments which are not risk weighted at 0%
- Other investments
- Loans and overdrafts
- Residential mortgages
- All other assets
- Foreign exchange cash inflows
- Undrawn committed standby facilities

- Other known future cash inflows
- Behavioural Adjustments

Liabilities

- Demand and notice accounts - Retail
- Demand and notice accounts - Other
- Fixed term deposits - Retail
- Fixed term deposits - Other
- Structured deposits, deposits and deposit bonds issued that incorporate embedded options
- Total capital and reserves
- All other liabilities
- Foreign exchange cash outflows
- Undrawn commitments
- Other known future cash outflows
- Behavioural Adjustments

Mismatches

From the assets and liabilities reported, figures for:

- Net adjusted mismatch position
- Cumulative mismatch position
- Cumulative mismatch position as a percentage of total deposit liabilities

Analysis of the ten largest depositors (including credit institutions)

Information is to be reported by:

- Customer / Counterparty name
- Amount
- Maturity Date(s)
- Currency

Analysis of non-credit institution depositors

Information is to be reported on a geographical basis by:

- Isle of Man - individuals
 - Isle of Man - other
 - United Kingdom
 - Republic of Ireland
 - Other EU countries
 - European non EU countries
 - Middle East
 - Far East (including Japan)
 - North America (including Canada) . Other
-

Form SR-3B - Interest Rate Risk

(does not apply to licenceholders incorporated outside the Isle of Man)

All monetary balances must be reported in sterling to the nearest round thousand without decimal points.

The licenceholder must report the following information as at the end of each calendar quarter, for sterling denominated balances and any other currency that represents in excess of 25% of the licenceholder's deposit liabilities. Other currencies should be calculated individually and aggregated. Currencies that constitute less than 5% of total deposit liabilities may be ignored:-

Assets and liabilities, including off balance sheet items, by maturity date / interest re-determination date as follows:

- Non-interest bearing
- Sight less than 1 month
- 1 month less than 3 months
- 3 months less than 6 months
- 6 months less than 12 months
- 1 year less than 2 years
- 2 years less than 4 years
- 4 years less than 10 years
- Over 10 years

The following information is required in relation to assets and liabilities:

Assets

- Deposits with credit institutions
- Deposits with credit institutions incorporating embedded options (including group)
- CDs, FRNs and bills of exchange purchased
- Bonds and other instruments purchased incorporating embedded options (including group)
- Other investments
- Loans and overdrafts
- Residential mortgages - floating and variable rate
- Residential mortgages - fixed rate
- All other assets
- Forward foreign exchange purchases
- Other interest rate related contracts
- Other off balance sheet assets

Liabilities

- Demand and notice accounts
- Fixed term deposits
- Deposit bonds issued
- Structured deposits, deposits and deposit bonds issued incorporating embedded options

- All other liabilities
- Forward foreign exchange sales
- Other interest rate related contracts
- Other off balance sheet liabilities

Amount at Risk

From the assets and liabilities reported, figures for:

- Net Position
- Weighted Position
- Amount at Risk

Interest Rate Risk - Summary of All Currencies

Carried forward "Amounts at Risk" are required for:

- Sterling currency
 - All specified currencies
 - All other currencies combined
 - Total Amount at Risk
-

Form SR-4 - Market Risk (FX and gold, commodities) and Settlement Risk

(does not apply to licenceholders incorporated outside the Isle of Man)

All monetary balances must be reported in sterling to the nearest round thousand without decimal points.

The licenceholder must report the following information as at the end of each calendar quarter:-

FX and Gold

The following information is required in relation to a licenceholder's foreign currency and gold exposure:

- Spot balance sheet assets
- Spot balance sheet liabilities
- Forward gross purchases
- Forward gross sales

Returns are required in respect of:

- Sterling (if the licenceholder's accounting currency is non-sterling)
- US Dollars
- Euro
- Swiss Francs
- Japanese Yen
- Other currencies - long
- Other currencies - short

- Gold

Commodities

The following information is required in relation to a licensee's commodity positions:

- Gross long position
- Gross short position

Returns are required in respect of:

- Precious metals (excluding gold)
- Base metals
- Energy contracts
- Other contracts

Settlement Risk

Delivery versus Payment (DvP)

The following information is required in relation to failed DvP transactions across a range of working days after settlement date of 5-15, 16-30, 31-45 and 46 or more:

- Number of trades
- Nominal of trades
- Loss if trade fails

Free Delivery

The following information is required in relation to free delivery transactions for 4 days or less since delivery, split between counterparty risk weightings of 0%, 20%, 50%, 100% and 150%:

- Number of trades
- Mark to market receivable

The following information is required in relation to free delivery transactions for over 4 days since delivery:

- Number of trades
- Mark to market receivable

Rule ~~2.372-37~~

Form

Schedule 2.2 – Minimum Share Capital Requirement etc.

Description of activity				Minimum Share Capital Requirement	Minimum Net Tangible Assets Requirement
Class	Paragraph(s)	Description	Qualification or exception		
		Investment business			
2	(3) and (6) only	Investment adviser to retirement benefits schemes		£15,000	£15,000
2	(3) and (7) only	Financial adviser		£10,000	£10,000
2	(3) to (7) only	Discretionary portfolio manager		£25,000	£75,000
2	All	Stockbroker		£25,000	£175,000
2	(2) and (5) only	Custodian		£25,000	£175,000
2	Any (except as specified above)	Other		£25,000	£75,000
		Services to collective investment schemes			
3	(1) or (2) (or both) only	Manager or administrator	except where schemes are exempt schemes or exempt-type schemes (or both)	£25,000	£75,000
3	(3), (4) or (5) only	Trustee, fiduciary custodian or custodian	except where scheme is an authorised scheme or full international scheme	£25,000	£175,000
3	(3) or (4) only	Trustee or fiduciary custodian	where scheme is an authorised scheme or full international scheme	£3.5 million	£3.5 million
3	(6)	Asset manager		£25,000	£75,000

3	(7)	Investment adviser		£25,000	£50,000
3	(8)	Promoter (where regulated promoter is required)		£10,000	£10,000
3	(9)	Provider of management or administration services to another manager or administrator		£25,000	£175,000
3	(10)	Provider of administration services to overseas manager or administrator		£25,000	£50,000
3	(11)	Manager, administrator, trustee, fiduciary custodian or custodian of more than one exempt scheme or an exempt-type scheme		£25,000	£25,000
3	(12)	Provider of administration services to exempt manager etc. of certain schemes		£25,000	£25,000
		Corporate services			
4	Any	Corporate service provider	except where only activities within paragraph (6) (officers) are licensed	£10,000	£10,000
		Trust services			
5	Any	Trust service provider	except where (a) licenceholder is an individual and (b) only activities within paragraphs (2), (5) and (6) (trustee, or protector or enforcer) are licensed	£25,000	£25,000
		E-money issuer			
6	N/A	E-money issuer		£150,000	£150,000

		<u>Money transmission services</u>			
8	<u>(2)(a) or (4) (or both)</u>	<u>Payment institution or issuer of electronic money</u> <u>Where annual Isle of Man turnover related to this regulated activity is:</u> <u>a) up to and including £1 million;</u> <u>b) over £1 million and up to and including £5 million;</u> <u>c) over £5 million.</u>		<u>£10,000</u> <u>£15,000</u> <u>£25,000</u>	<u>£10,000</u> <u>£15,000</u> <u>£25,000</u>

Schedule 2.3 – Financial Resources Statement

Part A - Calculation of Net Tangible Assets

Net Tangible Assets Calculation	£	£
Capital and Reserves (see Note 1)		X
Less:		
Goodwill and other intangible assets (see Note 2)	X	
Current year's loss (if a loss has been incurred) (see Note 1)	X	
Dividend(s) paid (if they were not provided for in the most recent audited financial statements)	X	
Any accumulated losses of subsidiaries or associated companies (see Note 3)	X	
		X
Add:		
Qualifying subordinated loans (see Note 4)	X	
Current year's profits (if verified by auditors)	X	
NET TANGIBLE ASSETS FOR MINIMUM NET TANGIBLE ASSET REQUIREMENT (Part E) <u>AND LIQUID CAPITAL CALCULATION (Part B)</u>		X
Add:		
Current year's profits (if not verified by auditors)		X
NET TANGIBLE ASSETS FOR LIQUID CAPITAL CALCULATION (Part B)		X

Note 1	<p>Capital and Reserves. Capital and reserves are to be based on <u>the balance sheet (reporting) date</u> unconsolidated audited balance sheets prepared so as to give a true and fair view <u>calculated</u> in accordance with accounting standards generally accepted in the UK, International Financial Reporting Standards, Statement of Recommended Practice or other internationally accepted accounting standards.</p> <p>A licenceholder may include freehold and leasehold land and buildings at a valuation taken as its open market value on an existing use basis, if it has been valued by a qualified surveyor or valuer within the preceding 18 months, or in other cases its net book value. The Commission may require evidence of the valuation or request that a valuation be carried out at the licenceholder's expense.</p> <p><u>Where the licenceholder is licensed to carry on Class 8(2)(a) or 8(4) regulated activity – (a) relevant funds must not be included in the calculation of financial resources; but</u></p>
--------	---

	<p><u>(b) any restricted funds may be included in the calculation of financial resources.</u></p> <p>A licenceholder must, if required by the Commission, or may, if agreed with the Commission, adjust its capital and reserves figure where there has been a significant change since the audited balance sheet was prepared.</p>
Note 2	Goodwill and other intangible assets. Disallowed.
Note 3	<p>Shortfall in attributable net assets of a subsidiary or associated company compared with the book value of the investment in that subsidiary or associated company.</p> <p>The shortfall should be calculated as the accumulated losses of the subsidiary or associated company not the net liability figure. Provision should be made for this deficiency or (in the case of an associated company) the portion attributable to the licenceholder as well as deducting the full book value of the investment as a fixed asset investment.</p> <p>Where an adjustment has been made to the book value of an investment in a subsidiary or associated company in calculating the net tangible assets only the adjusted amount should be deducted to avoid double counting, but where there is a deficiency of net tangible assets in a subsidiary or associated companies, this must not be added back.</p>
Note 4	<p>Qualifying subordinated loans. A loan to a licenceholder may be treated as a qualifying subordinated loan for the purposes of this Rule provided that it is in the same form as the model issued by the Commission and it is signed by authorised signatories of all of the parties. <u>For the purpose of this calculation, only the amount of the loan actually advanced and outstanding may be counted as a qualifying subordinated loan.</u></p> <p>A licenceholder must obtain the prior written approval of the Commission before the repayment, prepayment or termination of a subordinated loan.</p>

Part B - Calculation of Liquid Capital

Liquid Capital Calculation	£	£
Net Tangible Assets for Liquid Capital Calculation		X
Less:		
Tangible fixed assets	X	
Fixed asset investments	X	
Stock/Inventories (excluding stocks of investments)	X	
Disallowed Debtors > 90 days Adjustment (see Table I below and Note 5)	X	
Work in progress > 90 days (see Note 5)	X	
Prepayments > 90 days (see Note 5)	X	
Amounts due from related parties (see Note 5)	X	
Any other relevant items (see Note 5)	X	
Market Value Adjustments (see Table II below and Note 6)	X	
Amounts given as guarantees or charges over assets (see Note 7)	X	
Counterparty Risk Requirement (if applicable : see rule 2.44)	X	
Term deposits > 90 days maturity	X	
		X
Add:		
Bank loans and lease obligations > 1 year Qualifying secured liabilities (see Note 8)	X	
Non refundable deferred income (see Note 9)	X	
Tax obligations > 1 year	X	
Any other relevant items (see Note 10)	X	
		X
Liquid Capital		X

Table I – Disallowed Debtors Adjustment	£	£
Loans owing to licenceholder (including related party and group loans)		X
Total debtors, WIP, accrued income and prepayments		X
		X
Less:		
Debtors/WIP/accrued income due and receivable within 3 months	X	
Prepaid expenses for 3 months or less	X	
Amounts due from related parties that have a fixed repayment term of 3 months or less or arise in the normal course of business and are settled at least every 60 days (unless proven to the FSC that the counterparty has liquid	X	

funds that will enable it to repay within 3 months if necessary)		
		X
Total disallowed debtors and loans		X

Table II - Market Value Adjustments	Market Value	MV Adj %	Market Value Adj	MV less MV Adj	Book Value	MV < BV
Certificates of Deposit	X	0%	(X)	X	X	(X)
UK Treasury Bills	X	5%	(X)	X	X	(X)
Quoted fixed rate securities	X	10%	(X)	X	X	(X)
Quoted floating rate and index-linked securities	X	15%	(X)	X	X	(X)
Units in CIS authorised or recognised in IOM or UK	X	15%	(X)	X	X	(X)
Designated stocks	X	20%	(X)	X	X	(X)
Inv on recognised exchange not covered above and ICIS units (Not EIFs/PIFs, SFs/QFs, Exempt ICIS)	X	30%	(X)	X	X	(X)
Other current asset investments	X	100%	0	X	X	(X)
Total market value adjustment						(X)
Settlement adjustments					£	£
Valuation adjustment for creditors outstanding for >30 days after settlement date - Excess of MV over Creditor amount					X	
Valuation adjustment for amount paid in advance where delivery has been outstanding for more than 5 days					X	
Total settlement adjustments						(X)
Total Investment adjustment						(X)

Note 5	<p><u>Disallowed Debtors > 90 days Adjustment</u> Debtors <u>which are more than 90 days overdue and Work in Progress must be treated as illiquid and be are disallowed unless they are due and receivable within 3 months and there is no reason to doubt that payment will be made within that period.</u></p> <p><u>Work in progress > 90 days</u> <u>WIP not billable and collectable within 90 days must be treated as illiquid and be disallowed.</u></p> <p><u>Prepayments > 90 days</u> <u>Any pPrepayments relating to a period after 90 days must be treated as illiquid and be disallowed.</u> <u>should be for 3 months or less.</u></p> <p><u>Amounts due from related parties</u> <u>All amounts due from related parties (including shareholders, directors and connected companies) are considered to be illiquid and must be are disallowed unless:</u></p>
--------	---

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • they have a fixed repayment term of 3 months or less; or • they arise in the normal course of business and are settled every 60 days; or • the licenceholder can provide audited financial statements of the related party, made up to the same year end as the licenceholder's own financial statements, which demonstrate that the related party has liquid funds that would enable it to repay the loan within 3 months if necessary. <p><u>Amounts due from related parties cannot be netted-off against amounts due to related parties unless there is a legally enforceable netting agreement in place, and with the prior consent of the Commission.</u></p> <p><u>Any other relevant items</u> <u>A licenceholder must exercise appropriate judgement to include any items here that may not be covered by the defined categories of illiquid asset adjustments but nevertheless would be considered illiquid.</u></p>
<p>Note 6</p>	<p>Market Value adjustments The percentages in Section 4<u>Table I</u> shall be applied to calculate the amount by which the market value less the investments adjustment is lower than the book value of current asset investments. This calculation is to be provided to the Commission and any exceptions to the above percentages must be agreed in writing by the Commission.</p> <p>Settlement adjustments Unless calculating a CRR requirement (See below), a valuation adjustment must be calculated for creditors arising from purchases of investments outstanding for more than thirty days from contractual settlement date, the extent (if any) to which the market value of the underlying investments exceeds the amount of each creditor.</p>
<p>Note 7</p>	<p>Amounts given as guarantees or charges over assets. Where a licensed entity has obtained approval from the Commission to enter into a guarantee arrangement or give a charge over its assets, the amount of the guarantee and/or charge should be deducted from the Liquid Capital as follows -</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • In respect of a mortgage or charge over assets in respect of a loan: the amount of the capital and interest outstanding; • In respect of a floating charge: the amount secured by the charge; • In respect of a guarantee for a specific amount: the amount guaranteed; • In respect of an unlimited guarantee in respect of borrowings: the amount of existing loans drawn down, over which the guarantee is in force. <p>A contingent liability in respect of a Government grant for a specific expense is not regarded as a guarantee or charge for the purposes of the calculation.</p>
<p>Note 8</p>	<p>Qualifying secured liabilities<u>Bank loans and lease obligations > 1 year.</u> <u>All such longer term liabilities can be added back. — A liability secured against freehold or leasehold land and buildings, where the property is the sole security for the liability, may be treated as a qualifying secured liability to the extent of the lower of:</u> <u>A — the total of the secured liability due more than one year after the balance sheet</u></p>

	<p>date; or B—80% of the value of the property on which the liability is secured. For the purposes of the above, the value of the property shall be taken as its open market value on an existing use basis, if it has been valued by a qualified surveyor or valuer within the preceding 18 months, or in other cases its net book value. The Commission may require evidence of the valuation or request that a valuation be carried out at the licenceholder's expense.</p>
Note 9	<p>Non refundable deferred income. Where the licenceholder has received income (e.g. in the form of annual fees billed in advance) which is non-refundable under the terms of the contract this amount should be added back.</p>
<u>Note 10</u>	<p><u>Any other relevant items</u> <u>A licenceholder must obtain the Commission's consent to add back any other items here that may not be covered by the defined categories of adjustments (excluding subordinated loans already added back in the calculation of net tangible assets).</u></p>

Part C - Calculation of Annual Audited Expenditure

Calculation of Annual Audited Expenditure ("AAE") and Expenditure Based Requirement ("EBR") (See Note 110)			
		£	£
Operating expenses (see Note 124)		X	
Interest payable (see Note 132)		X	
Tax expense		X	
Other expenses (see Note 143)		X	
Total Audited Expenditure			X
Audited expenditure			X
Adjustments to Expenditure			
Discretionary bonuses/profit share (see Note 154)		X	
Depreciation / Amortisation		X	
Bad debt expense (see Note 165)		X	
Exceptional costs (see Note 176)		X	
Total Adjustment to Expenditure			X
Annual Audited Expenditure (AAE)			X
Expenditure Based Requirement = AAE x 1/4			X

Note 110	Calculation of Annual Audited Expenditure ("AAE") and Expenditure Based Requirement ("EBR")	<p>Where the relevant audited financial statements are for a period other than a year, the annual audited expenditure shall be calculated on a proportional basis in accordance with the following calculation -</p> $\frac{\text{(annual audited expenditure)} \times 12}{\text{length of period of financial statements in months}}$ <p>A licenceholder must, if required by the Commission, or may, if agreed with the Commission, adjust its relevant annual expenditure where:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> (a) there has been a significant change in the circumstances or activities of the licenceholder; or (b) the licenceholder has a material proportion of its expenditure incurred on its behalf by third parties and such expenditure is not fully recharged to the licenceholder; or (c) it is a licenceholder's first period of account. <p>The Expenditure Based Requirement shall be determined by reference to the Annual Audited Expenditure. (See also Note 124)</p>
Note 124	Operating expenses	<p>Per audited financial statements.</p> <p>All expenses should be included in operating expenses</p>

		<p>except where:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • commissions are paid to third parties but only where this is based on a percentage of earned commission or other income by the licenceholder and included in turnover. In such instances, the commissions or other income paid/payable must be treated as a “cost of sale” rather than an operating expense within the Profit and Loss or the Income and Expenditure Account; and/or • another regulated company (in the same group) provides client related services to the licenceholder under a formal agreement and the fees paid / payable to that group company are reasonable and directly attributable to the fees earned by the licenceholder. In such circumstances the fees paid / payable may be treated as a “cost of sale” rather than an overhead expense within the Profit and Loss or the Income and Expenditure Account. <p><u>The Commission expects licenceholders and their auditors to break down operating expenses appropriately for the regulated activity being undertaken. If items are consolidated, the Commission may request a further detailed breakdown.</u></p> <p>Fees, brokerage and other charges paid to clearing houses, exchanges, approved exchanges and intermediate brokers for the purposes of executing, registering or clearing transactions may be treated as a “cost of sale”.</p>
Note 1213	Interest payable	‘Netting off’ is not permitted under any circumstances, for example, interest payable must not be “netted off” against interest receivable. Interest payable must be treated as an expense.
Note 1314	Other expenses	As agreed in advance with the Commission.
Note 1415	Discretionary bonuses etc	Any form of discretionary (i.e. not contractual) profit related bonus payable to employees, Directors, Partners or Proprietors made can be deducted from operating expenses for the purposes of the expenditure based requirement.
Note 1516	Bad debt expense	Where a bad debt provision relates to a debtor that has been disallowed in the calculation of liquid capital, the related expense may be included as an adjustment when arriving at the Annual Audited Expenditure.
Note 1617	Exceptional costs	Exceptional items either as defined in UK FRS 3, or IAS 1. Examples given in IAS1 include asset write downs, restructuring costs, profit or loss on disposal of assets, discontinuing operations and reversal of provision. Litigation settlements would not be acceptable as deductions unless the litigation concluded during the relevant financial year and there are no ongoing costs.

Part D - Calculation of Liquid Capital Requirement

Liquid Capital Requirement		
Expenditure Based Requirement (AAE x ¼) (from Part C)	X	
Excess on PI Insurance (if applicable) (see Note 1718)	X	
Other (see Note 1819)	X	
Total Liquid Capital Requirement		X

Note 1718	Excess on PI insurance x 1	The licenceholder should maintain liquid capital to be able to fund the excess on one potential claim on the PI insurance policy, except where a letter of support is in place from a group company when an amount of zero may be entered.
Note 1819	Other	As determined by the Commission (e.g. a deduction for contingent liabilities if required).

Part E - Calculation of Financial Resources

Minimum Share Capital Requirement	
Paid up Share Capital /Share Premium	X
Less Minimum Share Capital/Share Premium Requirement (see Schedule 2.2)	X
Surplus/Deficit	X

Minimum Net Tangible Asset Requirement	
Net Tangible Assets (from Part A)	X
Less Minimum Net Tangible Asset Requirement (see Schedule 2.2)	X
Surplus/Deficit	X
110% of Net Tangible Asset Requirement	X
Notification Level Reached	Yes/No

Liquid Capital Requirement	
Liquid Capital (from Part B)	X
Liquid Capital Requirement (from Part D)	X
Excess/Shortfall of Liquid Capital	X/(X)
110% of Total Liquid Capital Requirement	X
Notification Level Reached	Yes/No

Schedule 2.4 – Calculation of Counterparty Risk Requirement

Frequency of calculation.

1. A licenceholder must calculate its counterparty risk requirement ("CRR") at least once each business day; for the purposes of the relevant calculations the licenceholder may use prices of investments and physical commodities as at the close of business on the previous day.

Negative amounts.

2. A licenceholder must not include any CRR if it is a negative amount.

Instruments for which no CRR has been specified.

3. Where a licenceholder is in doubt as to the classification of an item for the purposes of CRR, it must promptly seek advice from the Commission and until the Commission informs the licenceholder of the correct treatment in the CRR calculation, the licenceholder must add to its CRR the whole of the exposure on the item concerned.

Provisions.

4. A licenceholder may reduce the exposure on which its CRR is calculated to the extent that it makes provision for a specific counterparty balance.

Associated companies and subsidiaries.

5. For the avoidance of doubt, a licenceholder must calculate a CRR as appropriate on exposures to or from associated companies and subsidiaries.

Basis of valuation.

6. For the purposes of valuing instruments and physical commodities at market value in the calculation of CRR, a licenceholder must be consistent in the basis it chooses and may use either mid market value or bid and offer prices (as appropriate).

Acceptable collateral.

7. A licenceholder may reduce the exposure to a counterparty on which its CRR is calculated to the extent that it holds acceptable collateral from that counterparty.

Nil weighted counterparty exposures.

8. A licenceholder may disregard any counterparty exposure calculated in accordance with paragraphs 2 to 9, if the counterparty is or the contract is

guaranteed by or is subject to the full faith and credit of a sovereign government or province or state thereof (or a corporation over 75% owned by such government, province or state), which is a member of the OECD and the government, province, state or corporation has not defaulted, or entered into any rescheduling or similar arrangement, or announced the intention of so doing, in respect of itself or its agency's debt within the last five years.

Cash against documents transactions

9. (1) A licenceholder which enters into a transaction on a cash against documents basis must calculate the market risk for transactions still unsettled 16 calendar days after settlement date as set out in (2) below and must then multiply this by the appropriate percentage set out in Table A below to calculate a CRR for each separate unsettled transaction.

Table A

Percentage to be applied to the market risk

Calendar days after settlement day	Percentage
0 – 15	Nil
16 – 30	25%
31 – 45	50%
46 – 60	75%
Over 60	100%

- (2) Market risk calculation:
- (a) Where a licenceholder has neither delivered securities nor received payment when purchasing securities for, or selling securities to, a counterparty, the market risk is the excess of the contract value over the market value of the securities.
- (b) Where a licenceholder has neither received securities nor made payment when selling securities for, or purchasing securities from, a counterparty, the market risk is the excess of the market value over the contract value of the securities.
- (3) The sum of the amounts calculated in accordance with (1) and (2) above is the licenceholder's total CRR for cash against documents transactions.

Free deliveries of securities

10. (1) When a licenceholder makes delivery to a counterparty of securities without receiving payment or pays for securities without receiving the certificates of good title, the licenceholder must calculate the free delivery value for each transaction.
- (2) A licenceholder must calculate the free delivery value for each transaction as set out below and multiply this value by the

appropriate percentage in Table B below for free deliveries of securities as follows –

- (a) if the licenceholder has delivered securities to a counterparty and has not received payment, the free delivery amount is the full amount due to the licenceholder (i.e. the contract value);
- (b) if the licenceholder has made payment to a counterparty for securities and not received the certificates of good title, the free delivery amount is the market value of the securities.
- (3) The sum of the amounts calculated in accordance with (1) and (2) above is the licenceholder's total CRR for free deliveries of securities.

Table B

Percentage to be applied to free deliveries relating to securities

Nature of counterparty to whom free delivery is made		Business days since delivery		
		0- 3	4 - 15	over 15
1	A counterparty to whom securities have been delivered or to whom payment for securities has been made	Nil	100% of contract or market value	100% of contract or market value
2	A regulated financial institution or regulated banking institution to whom securities have been delivered or payment made with the expectation that market practice will result in a settlement day longer than three days from delivery date	15% of contract or market value		100% of contract or market value
2A	A counterparty to whom securities have been delivered which settle through the Crest or to whom payment for such securities has been made.	15% of contract or market value		100% of contract or market value
3	A Manager, underwriter, sub-underwriter or member of a selling syndicate or issuer to whom payment for securities has been made; or a manager of a regulated collective investment scheme to whom units of the scheme have been delivered or payment for units of the scheme has been made.	Nil		100% of contract or market value or, if the issue is a country approved by the Commission, 15% of contract or market value.

Options purchased for a counterparty

11. (1) **Single premium options. Where a licenceholder has purchased a single premium option on behalf of a counterparty and the counterparty has not paid the full option premium cost within three business days after trade date, a licenceholder must calculate a CRR as the amount by which the option premium owed to the**

licenceholder exceeds the market value of the option or acceptable collateral.

- (2) Traditional options. Where a licenceholder has purchased a traditional option for its own account or a counterparty and paid the option premium, it must calculate a CRR equal to the value of the option premium.**
- (3) The sum of the amounts calculated in accordance with (1) and (2) above is the licenceholder's CRR in respect of purchased options.**

Rule 3.7

Schedule 3.1 - Client Money Information Sheet

[Notes to licenceholders—

- 1) This information sheet may be incorporated as part of a two-way customer agreement.
- 2) The table below indicates which paragraphs must be included in the information sheet depending on the Class of financial services licence held and the types of account operated—

Class	Paragraphs					
	A	B	C	D	E	F
2	Yes	#	Yes	Opt	Opt	Opt
4	Yes	#	Yes	Opt	No	No
5	Yes	#	Yes	Opt	No	No

KEY

- Yes This paragraph must be included.
- Opt This paragraph should only be included if this type of client account is operated.
- No This type of account is not available to the Class of activity and the paragraph must not be included.
- # If more than one type of client account is operated then the paragraph must be included but if only general client bank accounts are operated then this paragraph is not required.]

A. What is a client bank account?

A client bank account is a bank account held by, and in the name of, [name of licenceholder] (“us” or “we”) in which we will hold your money on trust for you while it remains in the account. All money held in a client bank account is referred to as client money.

A client bank account is specially created by us for the purpose of holding your money and the money of other clients. The client bank account is segregated from any other bank account in our name holding money which is our money.

All client bank accounts are held at recognised banks. A recognised bank is a bank which holds a licence issued by the Isle of Man Financial Supervision Commission for deposit taking or is authorised under the law of another

acceptable country or territory to carry on activities corresponding to deposit taking (see rule 3.2 of the Financial Services Rule Book 2009 for the full definition).

In relation to fiduciary services, please note that an account held in the name of your company, or as trustee of your trust, is not a client bank account. It is mandated to your company or the trustee of your trust and the company or the trustee is the legal owner of the money held in that account. As the money in these accounts is not classed as client money the details relating to pooling of money in client bank accounts (as detailed below) do not apply.

B. What different types of client bank accounts are there and what are the differences between them?

There are different types of client bank account. The main difference between the types of client bank account is what happens in the event of a bank failure (i.e. where, as a result of the failure, the client money held by us is insufficient to pay the claims of all clients).

It is therefore important that you understand the risks associated with the different types of client bank account and ensure that we are made aware of your preferences (if any) in this regard.

C. General client bank account

A general client bank account usually holds money of several clients. The money may be held at one bank or the money may be in multiple bank accounts spread across several banks.

In the event of a default of a bank where we have a general client bank account, client monies held in all of our general client bank accounts will be pooled (even if money is held in more than one general client bank account and the accounts are held in more than one bank). In this situation, each client who has money in the general client bank account will lose an equal proportion of their money, whether or not the bank your client money is held with is in default. This loss will be adjusted by any compensation arrangements in place.

D. Specified client bank account

A specified client bank account is a client bank account where —

- (i) you have chosen the bank where your money will be held; or
- (ii) we have chosen the bank for you and have let you know the name of the bank and the fact that the account is a specified client bank account within 5 business days of the account being opened.

A specified client bank account is intended to hold client money in a bank selected by you and by other clients. The account will be segregated from any

other account holding client money. It will have the word “specified” (or an appropriate abbreviation) in its title.

If your money is held in a specified client bank account and the bank at which that money is held goes into default, the monies will not be pooled with client money held in any other client bank account and you could potentially lose the total amount held at the bank (subject to any compensation arrangements in place). Under the liquidation, or any compensation scheme in place at that time, you may be entitled to claim against the money in the specified client bank account. However, you would not be entitled to claim against any other client bank account (at that or any other bank) in respect of that money.

On the other hand, if your money is held in a specified client bank account at a bank other than the bank which is in default, your money will not be pooled with client money held in any other client bank account (at that or any other bank) and so in the event of default of another bank you would not lose any of your money.

If you want your money to be held in a specified client bank account, you must ask us to open one for you. You may select the bank at which it is opened or, if you would prefer, we may select a bank for you.

E. Client settlement accounts

A client settlement account is a client bank account which is used by us solely to hold the net balance required for the settlement of transactions for clients.

In the event of a default of a bank where we have a client settlement account, client monies held in all of our client settlement accounts will be pooled in a separate pool from other client money. In this situation, if your money is held in a client settlement account you will lose an equal proportion of your money as every other client with money in our client settlement accounts, whether or not the bank that your client money is held with is in default.

Under the liquidation, or any compensation scheme in place at that time, you may be entitled to claim against the money in the client settlement accounts. However, you would not be entitled to claim against any other type of client bank account (at that or any other bank) in respect of your money.

F. Client free money accounts

When we hold your money pending future investment, the money will be held in a client free money account.

A client free money account is a client bank account which is segregated from any account holding clients’ money which is not held for future investment.

In the event of a default of a bank where we have a client free money account, client monies held in all of our client free money accounts will be pooled in a

separate pool from other client money. In this situation, if your money is held in a client free money account you will lose an equal proportion of your money as every other client with money in our client free money accounts, whether or not the bank that your client money is held with is in default.

Under the liquidation, or any compensation scheme in place at that time, you may be entitled to claim against the money in the client free money accounts. However, you would not be entitled to claim against any other type of client bank account (at that or any other bank) in respect of your money.

Schedule 6.1 – Personal account notice

1. **A licenceholder must ensure that the personal account notice identifies the compliance officer or a specifically designated employee of the licenceholder to be responsible for receiving reports and granting permissions in respect of activities undertaken by its employees in accordance with the personal account notice.**
2. The personal account notice must require that an employee –
 - (a) does not deal for his own account in investments in which the licenceholder carries on investment business to any material extent, or in any related investments, without the permission of the licenceholder (such permission may be general or specific);
 - (b) does not deal in investments for his own account with any of the licenceholder’s customers without the prior consent of the licenceholder;
 - (c) reports promptly to the licenceholder in writing any transaction for his own account for which permission is required under (a) above which he enters into otherwise than through the licenceholder unless he has arranged for the licenceholder to receive promptly a copy of the contract or similar note issued in respect of the transaction;
 - (d) does not deal for his own account in an investment in circumstances where he knows or should know that the licenceholder intends to publish a written recommendation, or a piece of research or analysis, in respect of that investment or any related investment which could be reasonably expected to affect the price of that investment;
 - (e) does not deal for his own account at a time or in a manner which he knows or should know is likely to have a direct adverse effect on the particular interests of any customer of the licenceholder; and
 - (f) does not accept any gift or inducement from any person which is likely to conflict with his duties to any customer of the licenceholder.
3. The personal account notice must specify that the references to an employee dealing for his own account include an employee –
 - (a) dealing in his capacity as a personal representative of an estate or as a trustee of a trust, in which estate or under which trust there is a significant interest held by the employee, or any associate of the employee, or any company or partnership controlled by him or by any associate of the employee;
 - (b) otherwise dealing in his capacity as a personal representative or a trustee, unless he is relying entirely on the advice of another person from whom it is appropriate to seek advice in the circumstances; or

- (c) dealing for the account of another person unless he does so in the course of his employment with the licenceholder.
4. The personal account notice must further state that, if an employee is precluded from entering into a transaction for his own account, he must not (except in the proper course of his employment):—
- (a) procure any other person to enter into such a transaction; or
 - (b) communicate any information or opinion to any other person if he knows, or has reason to believe, that the person will, as a result, enter into such a transaction, or counsel or procure some other person to do so.
5. Paragraphs 2 and 3 do not apply to —
- (a) any transaction by an employee for his own account in a packaged product; and
 - (b) any discretionary transaction entered into for, and without prior communication with the employee, provided that the discretion is not exercised by the licenceholder.

Schedule 6.2 – Risk disclosure statement

Part 1 – Unregulated collective investment schemes

- I. This notice is provided to you as a retail investor in compliance with the Rule Book issued by the Financial Supervision Commission of the Isle of Man. Retail investors are afforded greater protection under those Rules than those classed as professional investors, and you should ensure that the licenceholder with whom you are dealing tells you what this protection is.
- II. This notice does not disclose all of the risks relating to unregulated collective investment schemes. Nor does it attempt to define all the relevant terms used, and you should ensure that any terms which you do not understand are fully explained to you before completing this risk disclosure statement. You should not deal in unregulated collective investment schemes unless you understand the extent of your exposure to risk. You should also be satisfied that such investments are suitable for you in the light of your circumstances and financial position.
- III. Retail investors, investing in unregulated collective investment schemes should understand the features and risks attendant to investing in an unauthorised and unapproved scheme and should have read and fully understood the offering document, including in particular the information on the risks associated with the fund, before deciding to invest in the fund.
- IV. Retail investors must personally accept all the risks associated with investment in unregulated collective investment schemes, in particular that the investment involves risks that could result in a loss of a significant proportion or the entire sum invested.
- V. Where appropriate, retail investors should take independent advice on the suitability of investment in unregulated collective investment schemes.

[Name of licenceholder]

[on duplicate for signature by client]

I / we have read and understood the risk disclosure statement set out above.

Date _____

Signature _____

Signature _____
(joint account holders)

[Notes to licenceholders -

- 1) This statement may be incorporated as part of a two-way customer agreement, except that the customer must sign separately that he has read and understood the risk warnings.
- 2) Licenceholders may also include further descriptions of the types of investments covered by this statement, provided such descriptions do not lessen the effect of the risk warnings provided.

Part 2 – Derivatives

- I. This notice is provided to you as a retail investor in compliance with the Rule Book issued by the Financial Supervision Commission. Retail investors are afforded greater protection under those Rules than those classed as professional investors, and you should ensure that your Licenceholder tells you what this protection is.

This notice does not disclose all of the risks and other significant aspects of derivatives products such as futures, options and contracts for differences. Nor does it attempt to define all the relevant terms used, and you should ensure that any terms which you do not understand are fully explained to you before completing this risk disclosure statement. You should not deal in derivatives unless you understand the nature of any such contracts that you may be entering into or which may be entered into on your behalf, and the extent of your exposure to risk. You should also be satisfied that such contracts are suitable for you in the light of your circumstances and financial position.

- II. Whilst derivatives can in certain circumstances be used for the management of investment risk, some such investments are unsuitable for many investors. Further, strategies intended to reduce risk may be impossible to complete in some market conditions, and so the intended level of protection will not be obtained. You should establish whether this will be a possibility. Your Investment Management Agreement should make it clear whether your Licenceholder may use derivatives on your behalf for speculative purposes, or whether they may only be used to effect an investment strategy of reducing risk.
- III. Certain strategies using a combination of instruments, such as those described as “spreads” or “straddles”, may be as risky as - or more risky than - simple “long” or “short” positions. Investors may not only lose their entire capital, but be liable to pay much more. Different instruments involve different levels of exposure to risk, and in deciding whether to trade such instruments you should be aware of the following points:—

Futures

Transactions in futures involve the obligation to make, or to take, delivery of the underlying asset of the contract at a future date, or in some cases to settle a position with cash. They carry a high degree of risk. The “gearing” or “leverage” often obtainable in futures trading means that a small deposit or down-payment can lead to large losses as well as gains. It also means that a relatively small market movement can lead to a proportionately much larger movement in the value of an investment, and this can work against you as well as for you. Futures transactions carry a

contingent liability, and you should be aware of the implications of this, in particular the margining requirements which are set out in paragraph f) below.

Options

There are many different types of options, with different characteristics and subject to different conditions. You should ensure that these characteristics are appropriate to your circumstances; you should also be aware of the relevant expiry dates, after which the rights attached to your options can no longer be exercised.

Buying options: Buying options involves less risk than writing options, because you can simply allow your option to lapse if the price of the underlying asset moves against you. The maximum loss is limited to the cost of the option (the “premium”) you have paid, plus any commission or other transaction charges. However, if you buy a call option on a futures contract, and you later exercise the option, you will acquire the future. This will expose you to the risks described under “Futures” and “Contingent Liability Transactions”.

Writing Options: If you write an option, the risk involved is considerably greater than that involved in buying options. By writing an option, you accept a legal obligation to purchase or sell the underlying asset if the option is exercised against you, however far the market price has moved away from the exercise price. You may be liable for margin to maintain your position, and a loss may be sustained well in excess of any premium received. If you already own the underlying asset which you have contracted to sell (this is known as dealing in “covered call options”) the risk is reduced. If you do not own the underlying asset (i.e. you are dealing in “uncovered call options”) the risk can be unlimited. Such transactions are not generally suitable for retail investors and so only experienced persons should contemplate writing uncovered options, and then only after securing full details of the applicable conditions and potential risk exposure.

Traded options are options which are traded on an exchange. There is therefore a market in them and this can be helpful in valuing or liquidating (“closing out”) positions.

Traditional Options: A further type of option known as a “traditional option” is written by certain London Stock Exchange firms under special exchange rules. These may involve greater risk than other options (e.g. Traded Options above). Two way prices are not usually quoted in them, and there is no exchange market on which to close out an open position or to effect an equal and opposite transaction to reverse an open position. It may be difficult to assess the option’s value, or for the seller of such an option to manage his exposure to risk. Certain options markets operate on a margined basis, under which buyers do not pay the full premium on their option at the time they purchase it. In this situation you may subsequently be called upon to pay margin on the option up to the level of your premium. If you fail to do so as required, your position may be closed or liquidated in the same way as a futures position.

Contracts for Differences

Futures and options contracts can also be referred to as “Contracts for Differences”. These can include options and futures on the FTSE100 index or any other index, as well as currency and interest rate swaps. However, unlike other futures and options, these contracts can only be settled in cash. Investing in a contract for differences carries the same risk as investing in a future or an option and you should be aware of these as set out in paragraphs A and B respectively. Transactions in contracts for differences may also have a contingent liability and you should be aware of the implications of this as set out in paragraph F below.

Off-exchange Transactions in Derivatives

It may not always be apparent whether or not a particular derivative is effected on or off-exchange. Your Licenceholder must make it clear to you if you are entering into an off-exchange derivative transaction, and may only enter into off-exchange transactions which have a contingent liability (see paragraph (6)) with your express permission.

While some off-exchange markets are highly liquid, transactions in off-exchange or “non-transferable” derivatives may involve greater risk than investing in on-exchange derivatives because there is no exchange market on which to close out an open position. It may not be possible to liquidate an existing position, to assess the value of the position arising from an off-exchange transaction or to assess the exposure to risk. Bid and offer prices need not be quoted, and, even where they are, they will be established by dealers in these instruments and consequently it may be difficult to establish what is a fair price.

Foreign Markets

Foreign markets will involve different risks from UK markets. In some cases the risks will be greater, and moreover timely and accurate information may be harder to obtain. On request, your Licenceholder must provide an explanation of the relevant risks and protections (if any) which will operate in any relevant foreign markets, including the extent to which he will accept liability for any default of a foreign broker through whom he deals. The potential for profit or loss from transactions on foreign markets or in foreign currency denominated contracts will be affected by fluctuations in exchange rates, which may more than wipe out any profits made through the underlying investment.

Contingent Liability Transactions

Contingent liability transactions which are “margined” require you to make a series of payments against the purchase price, instead of paying the whole purchase price immediately.

If you trade in futures, contracts for differences or options, you may sustain a total loss of any margin your Licenceholder has deposited on your behalf to establish or maintain a position. If the market moves against you, you may be called upon to pay substantial additional margin at short notice to maintain the position. If you fail to do so within the time required, your position may be liquidated at a loss and you will be liable for any resulting deficit. You should ascertain from your Licenceholder whether he will be liable for any such deficit in the event that he fails to make such payments on your behalf; otherwise, you yourself will be liable.

Even if a transaction is not margined, it may still carry an obligation to make further payments in certain circumstances over and above any amount paid when you entered the contract.

Except in specific circumstances, your Licenceholder may only carry out margined or other contingent liability transactions with or for you if they are traded on or under the rules of a Recognised or Designated Investment Exchange. Contingent liability transactions which are not traded on or under the rules of a Recognised or Designated Investment Exchange may expose you to substantially greater risks.

Collateral

If you deposit collateral as security, the way in which it will be treated will vary according to the type of transaction involved and where it is traded. There could be significant differences in the treatment of your collateral depending on whether you are trading on a Recognised or Designated Investment Exchange, with the rules of that exchange (and associated clearing house) applying, or traded off-exchange. Deposited collateral may lose its identity as your property once dealings on your behalf are undertaken. Even if your dealings should ultimately prove profitable, you may not get back the same assets that you deposited and you may have to accept payment in cash instead. You should ascertain from your Licenceholder how your collateral will be dealt with.

Commissions

Before you begin to trade, your Licenceholder should explain to you in writing details of all commissions and other charges for which you will be liable. If any charges are not expressed in money terms (but, for example, as a percentage of the contract value), this should include a clear written explanation, including appropriate examples, to establish what such charges are likely to mean in specific money terms. In the case of futures, when commission is charged as a percentage, it will normally be as a percentage of the total contract value and not simply as a percentage of your initial payment.

Suspensions of Trading

Under certain trading conditions it may be difficult or impossible to liquidate a position. This may occur, for example, at times of rapid price movement if the price

rises or falls in one trading session to such an extent that under the rules of the relevant exchange, trading is suspended or restricted. Placing a “stop-loss” order will not necessarily limit your losses to the intended amounts, because market conditions may make it impossible to execute such an order at the stipulated price.

Clearing House Protections

On many exchanges, the performance of a transaction by your Licenceholder (or the third party with whom he is dealing on your behalf) is “guaranteed” by the exchange or its clearing house. However, this guarantee is unlikely in most circumstances to cover you, the retail investor, and may not protect you if the Licenceholder or another party defaults on its obligations to you. On request, your Licenceholder must explain any protection provided to you under the clearing agreement applicable to any on-exchange derivatives in which you are dealing. There is no clearing house for traditional options, nor normally for off-exchange instruments which are not traded on or under the rules of a Recognised or Designated Investment Exchange.

Insolvency

The Rule Book provides for the segregation of Client Money and Clients Investments from the “own funds” of a Licenceholder acting on behalf of clients. Nonetheless, your Licenceholder’s insolvency or default, or that of any broker involved with your transaction, may lead to positions being liquidated or closed out without your consent. In certain circumstances, you may not get back the actual assets which you lodged as collateral and you may have to accept any available payment in cash (which may not cover the sum in full). On request, your Licenceholder must provide an explanation of the extent to which he will accept liability for any insolvency of, or default by, any brokers involved with your transactions.

[Name of licenceholder]

[on duplicate for signature by client]

I / we have read and understood the risk disclosure statement set out above.

Date _____

Signature _____

Signature _____
(joint account holders)

[Notes to licenceholders -

- 1) This statement may be incorporated as part of a two-way customer agreement, except that the customer must sign separately that he has read and understood the risk warnings.

- 2) Licenceholders may also include further descriptions of the types of investments covered by this statement, provided such descriptions do not lessen the effect of the risk warnings provided.
- 3) Paragraphs A to G may be deleted, as appropriate, where they relate to business which will not be carried out with or for the investor. Paragraphs 1 to 4 and H to K are mandatory and may not be deleted.]

Part 3 — Warrants

This notice is provided to you as a retail investor in compliance with the Rule Book issued by the Financial Supervision Commission. Retail investors are afforded greater protection under those Rules than those classed as professional investors, and you should ensure that your Licenceholder tells you what this protection is.

This notice does not disclose all of the risks and other significant aspects of warrants; nor does it attempt to define all the relevant terms used, and you should ensure that any terms which you do not understand are fully explained to you before completing this Risk Disclosure Statement. You should not deal in warrants unless you understand the nature of any transaction that you may enter, or which may be entered into on your behalf, and the extent of your exposure to potential loss.

You should also consider carefully whether warrants are suitable for you in the light of your circumstances and financial position. In deciding whether or not to trade, you should be aware of the following matters : -

Warrants

A warrant is a right to subscribe for shares, debentures, loan stock or government securities, and is exercisable against the original issuer of the securities. Warrants often involve a high degree of gearing, so that a relatively small movement in the price of the underlying security results in a disproportionately large movement in the price of the warrant. The prices of warrants can therefore be very volatile. You also need to take into account the fact that warrants have expiry dates, after which the rights attached to them can no longer be exercised.

You should not buy warrants unless you are prepared to sustain a total loss of the money you have invested plus any commission or other transaction charges.

Some other instruments are also called warrants, but are actually options; for example, a right to acquire securities which is exercisable against someone other than the original issuer of the securities (often called a “covered warrant”).

Off-exchange Transactions

Transactions in off-exchange warrants may involve greater risk than those in exchange-traded warrants because there is no exchange market on which to liquidate your position, to assess the value of the warrant or to assess the exposure to risk. Bid and offer prices need not be quoted, and, even where they are, they will be established by dealers in these instruments and consequently it may be difficult to establish what is a fair price.

Your Licenceholder must make it clear to you if you are entering into an off-exchange transaction and advise you of any risks involved.

Foreign Markets

Foreign markets will involve different risks from UK markets. In some cases the risks will be greater and further, timely and accurate information may be harder to obtain. On request, your Licenceholder must provide an explanation of the relevant risks and protections (if any) which will operate in any relevant foreign markets, including the extent to which he will accept liability for any default of a foreign broker through whom he deals. The potential for profit or loss from transactions on foreign markets or in foreign currency denominated contracts will be affected by fluctuations in exchange rates, which may more than wipe out any profits made through the underlying investment.

Commissions

Before you begin to trade, your Licenceholder should explain to you in writing details of all commissions and other charges for which you will be liable. If any charges are not expressed in money terms (but, for example, as a percentage of the transaction value), this should include a clear written explanation, including appropriate examples, to establish what such charges are likely to mean in specific money terms.

[Name of licenceholder]

[on duplicate for signature by client]

I / we have read and understood the risk disclosure statement set out above.

Date _____

Signature _____

Signature _____
(joint account holders)

[Notes to licenceholders -

- 1) This notice may be incorporated as part of a two-way customer agreement, except that the customer must sign separately to confirm that he has read and understood the risk warnings.
- 2) Licenceholders may also include further descriptions of the types of investments covered by this statement, provided such descriptions do not lessen the effect of the risk warnings provided.]

Rule 8.288-28

Formatted: F

Schedule 8.1

Annual compliance return for all licenceholders except Class 8(1), 8(2)(b) and 8(3) and professional officers

The annual compliance return should be completed as appropriate for each class of regulated activity. following information should

1. DETAILS OF LICENCEHOLDER

- 1.1 Name of licenceholder
- 1.2 Business name(s) of licenceholder including type (R/N/T/P)¹
- 1.3 Reporting date
- 1.4 Principal business address in the Isle of Man (if different from above)
- 1.5 Telephone numbers
- 1.6 Fax numbers
- 1.7 Website
- 1.8 E-mail addresses

2. CONTROLLERS, DIRECTORS AND KEY PERSONS

2.1 The names of the directors; secretary; Isle of Man resident officers²; compliance officer; money laundering reporting officer/countering the financing of terrorism officer; deputy money laundering reporting officer/ deputy countering the financing of terrorism officer and key persons of the licenceholder together with the date of appointment.

The names of the controllers of the licenceholder together with the number of shares owned.

Where directorships³ or secretaryships of client companies are provided through the licenceholder by its key staff or directors or trustee, protector or enforcer roles are provided, the name of the person and the number of appointments.

Professional Associates - The name of the person and the number of directorships held.

¹ Please indicate whether the business name(s) is related to regulated activity (R) or not (N) and whether used as a trading name (T) or registered to protect the name (P)

² Please note that "Isle of Man resident officer" refers to the individuals nominated under rule 8.21.

³ Director includes acting as a council member of a foundation.

- 2.2 Has the licenceholder carried out anti-money-laundering training and countering the financing of terrorism training for all relevant staff as required by the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Code 2010 and the Prevention of Terrorist Financing Code 2011?
- 2.3 Has the licenceholder carried out other training as required by rule 8.48.48.4(4)?
- 2.4 Please state the number of disciplinary actions taken against staff during the year notifiable under rule 7.107.10 and confirm that all have been notified to the Commission.
- 2.5 Total number of staff directly employed by the licenceholder.
- 2.6 Total number of staff not directly employed by the licenceholder but contracted through a service agreement etc.

3. COMPLIANCE

- 3.1 Can the licenceholder demonstrate that it carried out regular and adequate monitoring of its arrangements for compliance with the regulatory requirements as specified in rule 8.198.19?
- 3.2 Have the responsible officers been made aware of compliance monitoring findings and/or of any issues of a compliance nature on a regular basis?
- 3.3 Has adequate action been taken to correct any deficiencies found?

4. COMPLAINTS

- 4.1 ~~To be completed by Class 1, 2 and 3 licenceholders only~~—Please state how many complaints have been referred under the Financial Services Ombudsman Scheme during the year.
- 4.2 ~~To be completed by Class 4 and 5 licenceholders only~~Please state how many complaints have been recorded in the complaints register during the year in compliance with rule 8.298.29.
- 4.3 ~~To be completed by all licenceholders~~Have any material changes to procedures, systems or staff training been identified as a consequence of any complaints and if so have they been implemented?
- 4.4 ~~To be completed by all licenceholders~~Is the licenceholder satisfied that the complaints register is complete and accurate and complies with rule 8.298.29?

5. BREACHES AND PRICING ERRORS

- 5.1 Have breaches during the year been recorded in the breaches register in accordance with rule 8.148.14(3)?
- 5.2 ~~To be completed by Class 3 licenceholders only~~— Have details of pricing errors during the year been recorded in the pricing errors register in accordance with rule 8.578.57(4)?
- 5.3 Have any of the breaches or pricing errors been repeated?
- 5.4 Have any material changes to procedures, systems or staff training been identified as a consequence of any breaches or pricing errors and if so have they been implemented?

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

6. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

- 6.1 Have all conflicts of interest been logged during the year in compliance with rule ~~8.88.8~~?
- 6.2 Is the licenceholder satisfied that any conflicts of interest have been disclosed and handled appropriately?

Formatted: F
11 pt

7. BUSINESS RESUMPTION PLAN

- 7.1 Have the licenceholder's business resumption and contingency arrangements been reviewed during the year and assessed as being appropriate in compliance with rule ~~8.118.11~~?
- 7.2 Were the business resumption and contingency arrangements tested during the year? If yes, state whether fully or partially tested and the date(s), and whether there were any problems. If there were problems, ~~please give provide brief~~ details ~~on a separate sheet~~, including whether they are now resolved.
- 7.3 Were the business resumption and contingency arrangements activated or partially activated during the year? If yes, ~~give please provide brief~~ details ~~on a separate sheet~~, including the circumstances of the implementation, and state whether the arrangements were satisfactory.

Formatted: F
11 pt

8. OTHER REGULATORY ACTION

- 8.1 To the best of its knowledge, has the licenceholder, or its immediate or ultimate parent ~~company~~ (if any), been the subject of any disciplinary action or had its affairs investigated by any other regulatory body as set out in rule ~~8.178.17~~?

Formatted: F
11 pt

9. LEGAL ACTION

- 9.1 To the best of its knowledge, has there been any legal action within the limits imposed by rule ~~7.187.18~~ or ~~7.197.19~~ taken against the licenceholder during the year, or is there any pending?

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

10. RISK MANAGEMENT

- 10.1 Has the licenceholder maintained risk management policies in accordance with rule ~~8.68.6~~?
- 10.2 ~~To be completed by Class 1 licenceholders incorporated in the Island only~~ Has the licenceholder maintained risk management policies in accordance with rules 8.31, 8.34, ~~8.358.35~~, ~~8.398.39~~, ~~8.408.40~~, 8.42, ~~8.438.43~~ and 8.44?
- 10.3 ~~To be completed by Class 1 licenceholders incorporated in the Island only~~ Has the licenceholder maintained its internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) in accordance with rule ~~2.232.23~~?

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

- 10.4 ~~To be completed by Class 1 licenceholders incorporated outside the Island only~~—Has the licenceholder maintained risk management policies in accordance with rules ~~8.478.47, 8.498.49, 8.508.50, 8.528.52 and 8.538.53?~~

~~Part 2—To be completed by licenceholders authorised to conduct regulated activities of Class 2, Class 3, Class 4 or Class 5 (except professional officers)~~

11. NOMINEE COMPANIES

- 11.1 ~~Please provide the names of List below~~ any companies which are subsidiaries of the licenceholder and which are taking advantage of the nominee services, corporate officers or corporate trustees ~~exemptions contained in the Financial Services (Exemption) Regulations 2011, together with their place of incorporation, names of directors, and the specific activity being undertaken. Where appropriate, provide the number of appointments per company.~~

- 11.2 ~~Please provide the name of any companies which are subsidiaries of the licenceholder and which are taking advantage of the~~ enforcers and protectors exemptions contained in the Financial Services (Exemption) Regulations 2011~~09 together with their place of incorporation, names of directors, and the specific activity being undertaken. Where appropriate, provide the number of appointments per company.~~

12. CLIENTS' MONEY AND INVESTMENTS

- 12.1 Has the licenceholder complied with the requirements of Part 3 (client money) of the Rule Book? Please answer yes/no/not applicable. If no, please provide brief details on a separate sheet.
- 12.2 Has the licenceholder complied with the requirements of Part 4 (clients' investments) of the Rule Book? ~~Please answer yes/no/not applicable.~~ If no, please provide brief details on a separate sheet.
- 12.3 Has the licenceholder carried out the reconciliations required by rule ~~3.133.13~~, as appropriate, and corrected any discrepancies arising within the periods specified in this rule? ~~Please answer yes/no/not applicable.~~ If no, please give provide brief details on a separate sheet.
- 12.4 Has the licenceholder carried out the reconciliations required by rule 3.29, as appropriate, and corrected any discrepancies arising within the periods specified in this rule? ~~Please answer yes/no/not applicable.~~ If no, please give provide brief details on a separate sheet.
- 12.5 Has the licenceholder carried out the reconciliations required by rule ~~4.84.8~~, as appropriate, and corrected any discrepancies arising within the periods specified in this rule? ~~Please answer yes/no/not applicable.~~ If no, please give provide brief details on a separate sheet.

Licenceholders which have been granted consent to adopt the rolling stock check method of reconciliation of clients' investments under rule ~~4.84.8~~

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

should indicate whether the system of internal control has ensured as far as reasonably practicable that an up-to-date record is maintained.

13. CLAIMS ON PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY ("PI") INSURANCE

- 13.1 Does your PI insurance include all of the extensions required by Rule 8.54(8)?
- 13.2 How many matters has the licenceholder referred to its PI insurers during the year?
- 13.3 How many claims have been made by the licenceholder on the PI insurance during the year? If claims have been made please provide details (including amounts) ~~on a separate sheet.~~
- 13.4 Have any claims been settled by the PI insurers during the year?
If yes, please provide details ~~on a separate sheet.~~
- 13.5 How many claims are outstanding? (Please provide details of amounts).
- 13.6 Have you identified any implications for your internal controls or procedures as a result of any of the claims?

~~*Part 3 – To be completed by licenceholders authorised to conduct regulated activities of Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5 (except professional officers)*~~

14. CLIENTS' MONEY AND INVESTMENTS AND RELEVANT FUNDS

- 14.1 Has the licenceholder complied with the requirements of Part 3 (client money or relevant funds) of the Rule Book? ~~Please answer yes/no/not applicable.~~
If no, please provide details ~~on a separate sheet.~~
- 14.2 Has the licenceholder complied with the requirements of Part 4 (clients' investments) of the Rule Book? ~~Please answer yes/no/not applicable.~~
If no, please provide details ~~on a separate sheet.~~
- 14.3 Has the licenceholder carried out the reconciliations required by rule ~~3.133-13~~, as appropriate, and corrected any discrepancies arising within the periods specified in this rule? ~~Please answer yes/no/not applicable.~~ If no, please ~~give~~ provide brief details ~~on a separate sheet.~~
- 14.4 Has the licenceholder carried out the reconciliations required by rule 3.29, as appropriate, and corrected any discrepancies arising within the periods specified in this rule? ~~Please answer yes/no/not applicable.~~ If no, please ~~give~~ provide brief details ~~on a separate sheet.~~
- 14.5 Has the licenceholder carried out the reconciliations required by rule ~~4.84.8~~, as appropriate, and corrected any discrepancies arising within the periods specified in this rule? ~~Please answer yes/no/not applicable.~~ If no, please ~~give~~ provide brief details ~~on a separate sheet.~~

Licenceholders which have been granted consent to adopt the rolling stock check method of reconciliation of clients' investments under rule ~~4.84.8~~ should indicate whether the system of internal control has ensured as far as reasonably practicable that an up-to-date record is maintained.

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

Formatted: F
11 pt

~~Part 3—To be completed by licenceholders authorised to conduct regulated activities of Class 2~~

15. BUSINESS PROFILE

- 15.1 State the maximum indemnity commission liability of the licenceholder, based on the assumption that all policies sold on an indemnity basis lapsed on the accounting reference date.
- 15.2 State the average persistency rate (lapsed or cancelled policies) over the period.
- 15.3 ~~To be completed by Class 2 (3), (6) and/or (7) licenceholders only~~—State the number of clients at the end of the period.
- 15.4 ~~To be completed by Class 2 (3), (6) and/or (7) licenceholders only~~—State, both as a percentage and in monetary terms including totals, the split of business between investments; savings (regular and lump sum); life policies; pensions; and any other (which should be specified) undertaken over the period.

16. COMPANIES AND TRUSTS

- 16.1 ~~In relation to Class 4 activities~~—As at the date of this return, state the number of companies etc. in respect of which the licenceholder carries on regulated activities:
- (1) Isle of Man companies incorporated under the Companies Act 1931;
 - (2) Isle of Man companies incorporated under the Companies Act 2006;
 - (3) overseas companies not registered under Part XI of the Companies Act 1931;
 - (4) overseas companies registered under Part XI of the Companies Act 1931 (commonly referred to as the “F Register”);
 - (5) partnerships;
 - (6) limited liability companies under the Limited Liability Companies Act 1996; and
 - (7) foundations (including under the Foundations Act 2011 as well as Stiftungen, Anstalten and similar entities).
- Please also break down the above into:
- (8) Isle of Man public limited companies;
 - (9) public limited companies incorporated elsewhere; and
 - (10) companies with more than 50 shareholders, which are not public limited companies.
- 16.2 ~~In relation to Class 5 activities~~—State the number of trusts or foundations in respect of which the licenceholder carries on regulated activities.
- 16.3 ~~In relation to Class 5 activities~~—State the name ~~number~~ of, ~~and list below, the~~ any companies which are taking advantage of exemption 5.6 (private trust companies) in Schedule 1 to the Financial Services (Exemption) Regulations 2011~~09~~, which are operated by the licenceholder, together with the place of

incorporation; name of the directors and the number of trusts for which the company acts. (the list may be appended if preferred).

- 16.4 ~~In relation to Class 5 activities – State List below~~ the name of any companies which have taken advantage of exemption 5.6 (private trust companies) in Schedule 1 to the Financial Services (Exemption) Regulations 2011~~09~~, but which have ceased to be operated by the licenceholder since the last Annual Compliance Return. ~~If, stating whether~~ the company has been transferred to another licenceholder for administration, state that name of the new licenceholder, or if the company has been dissolved the date of dissolution (the list may be appended if preferred).

~~Part 5 – To be completed by licenceholders authorised to conduct regulated activities of Class 6~~

17. PAYMENT SERVICES AND E-MONEY ISSUERS

- 17.1 During the period did your systems cease to function for a period longer than 15 minutes?
- 17.2 If yes, how many times did this occur? Please give details of how this was dealt with. ~~on a separate sheet.~~

~~Part 6 – To be completed by all licenceholders except professional officers~~

18. DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE

The licenceholder must confirm that during the past year the business of the licenceholder has been conducted in accordance with -

- ✦ the Financial Services Act 2008 (“FSA”);
- ✦ all relevant Parts of the Rule Book issued under the FSA;
- ✦ any licence conditions imposed by the Commission;
- ✦ any directions issued by the Commission;
- ✦ the Collective Investment Schemes Act 2008 (“CISA”); and
- ✦ any orders or regulations made under the CISA.

If this cannot be confirmed, the licenceholder must confirm that all material breaches of the above have been notified to the Commission in writing. If this cannot be confirmed, further details should be provided.

The licenceholder must confirm that the Commission has been notified in writing of all matters which may influence the continuance of the licence. If this cannot be confirmed, further details should be provided.

OTHER DOCUMENTATION WHICH FORMS PART OF THIS RETURN

~~The following documents must accompany this return, where appropriate:~~

~~Structure chart: A group structure chart showing the name and jurisdiction of all companies within the group. A condensed version may be accepted for large groups, subject to the agreement of the Commission.~~

~~Management and staff structure: A copy of the management and staff structure of the licenceholder in the Isle of Man and of its subsidiaries and, in the case of a licenceholder incorporated in the Isle of Man, any overseas branches. The structure must show "Key Persons" and their responsibilities.~~

~~Professional indemnity insurance policy: Where applicable, a cover note or broker's letter evidencing details of the most recent professional indemnity insurance policy taken out by the licenceholder and confirming that the cover is in compliance with the levels required by rule 8.54 and includes the requirements set out in rule 8.54(8).~~

~~Where a letter of comfort is in place to support professional indemnity insurance, please submit a copy of the latest audited financial statements of the entity providing the letter.~~

~~Have you remembered to sign and date the Declaration of Compliance at section 17 of the form? The declaration forms part of this return and should be signed by two persons, each of whom must be an Isle of Man director or an Isle of Man resident officer of the licenceholder.~~

Under section 40 of the Financial Services Act 2008 a person commits an offence if he knowingly or recklessly gives any information to the Commission which is false or misleading in a material particular, and is liable:-

- (a) on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding £5,000 or to a term of custody not exceeding 6 months, or to both;**
- (b) on conviction on information, to a fine or to a term of custody not exceeding 2 years, or to both.**

Rule 8.28(5)

SCHEDULE 8.2

QUARTERLY RETURN FOR CLASS 8(2)(a) and 8(4) LICENCEHOLDERS

2. Name of licenceholder.
3. Details of each segregated payment account including recognised bank, account number, title of account and currency.
4. For each segregated payment account, the balance on the first day of the quarter, the total number and value of credits during the quarter, the total number and value of debits during the quarter and the balance on the last day of the quarter.
5. The average period of time that monies remained in the segregated payment account for customers before a payment was made during the quarter.
6. The longest period of time that monies remained in the segregated payment account for customers before a payment was made during the quarter together with the value.
7. The number of active payment users or e-money holders during the quarter.
8. Cumulative Isle of Man turnover related to regulated activity of Class 8(2) payment services.

Rule 9.19

SCHEDULE 9.1

ANNUAL COMPLIANCE RETURN FOR PROFESSIONAL OFFICERS

1. DETAILS OF LICENCEHOLDER

- 1.1 Name of licenceholder.
- 1.2 Home address.
- 1.3 Principal place of business (if different from home address).
- 1.4 Telephone numbers.
- 1.5 Fax numbers.
- 1.6 E-mail addresses.
- 1.7 Annual reporting date.

2. TRAINING

- 2.1 Has the licenceholder undertaken anti-money-laundering training and countering the financing of terrorism training as required by the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Code 2010 and the Prevention of Terrorist Financing Code 2011 ?
- 2.2 Has the licenceholder undertaken any other training or continuing professional development during the period? If yes, give brief details ~~on a separate sheet.~~

3. BREACHES

- 3.1 Have breaches during the year been recorded in the breaches register in accordance with rule 9.29(3)?

4. COMPLAINTS

- 4.1 Please state how many complaints have been recorded in the complaints register during the year in compliance with rule 9.26.
- 4.2 Is the licenceholder satisfied that the complaints register is complete and accurate and complies with rule 9.26? If the answer is no please give provide details ~~on a separate sheet.~~

5. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

- 5.1 Have all conflicts of interest been logged during the year in compliance with rule 9.25?
- 5.2 Is the licenceholder satisfied that any conflicts of interest have been disclosed and handled appropriately?

6. OTHER REGULATORY ACTION

- 6.1 To the best of its knowledge, has the licenceholder, been the subject of any disciplinary action or had its affairs investigated by any other regulatory body as set out in rule 9.30? If yes, please provide brief details ~~on a separate sheet~~.

7. LEGAL ACTION

- 7.1 To the best of its knowledge, has there been any legal action within the limits imposed by rule 9.38 taken against the licenceholder during the year, or is there any pending? If yes, give please provide brief details ~~on a separate sheet~~.

8. CLIENTS' MONEY

- 8.1 Has the licenceholder held received clients' money during the year? If yes, give please provide details ~~on a separate sheet~~ of the circumstances under which the clients' money was held received.

Was the clients' money held returned in accordance with rule 9.11?

9. CLAIMS ON PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY ("PI") INSURANCE OR DIRECTORS & OFFICERS ("D&O") INSURANCE

- 9.1 How many matters has the licenceholder referred to the PI or D&O insurers during the year?
- 9.2 How many claims have been made on the PI or D&O Insurance during the year? If claims have been made please provide details (including amounts).
- 9.3 Have any claims been settled by the PI or D&O insurers during the year? If yes, please provide details ~~on a separate sheet~~.
- 9.4 How many claims are outstanding? Please provide details of amounts ~~on a separate sheet~~.
- 9.5 Have you identified any implications for your internal controls or procedures as a result of any of the claims?
- 9.6 Have the PI or D&O Insurers refused cover in respect of any claims or prospective claims during the year?

10. COMPANIES AND TRUSTS

- 10.1 State the total number of entities companies of for which the licenceholder provides regulated activities ~~is a director~~.

A breakdown should be provided between –

- the number of directorships; and

- the number of and types of roles provided to foundations (council member or enforcer);
- the number of and types of roles provided to trusts (trustee, protector or enforcer).

In relation to companies, the breakdown should also distinguish between –

- Isle of Man companies (split between Companies Act 1931, Companies Act 2006 and Limited Liability Companies Act 1996);
- Overseas companies (split between those which are registered under Part XI of the Companies Act 1931 and those which are not);
- private or public companies;
- whether they are regulated by the Financial Supervision Commission, the Insurance and Pensions Authority or other regulator;
- whether the companies are domestic companies; or
- whether they are nominee companies.

11. DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE

The licenceholder must confirm that during the past year the business of the licenceholder has been conducted in accordance with -

- ✦ the Financial Services Act 2008 (“FSA”);
- ✦ all relevant Parts of the Rule Book issued under the FSA;
- ✦ any licence conditions imposed by the Commission;
- ✦ any directions issued by the Commission;
- ✦ the Collective Investment Schemes Act 2008 (“CISA”); and
- ✦ any orders or regulations made under the CISA.

If this cannot be confirmed, the licenceholder must confirm that all material breaches of the above have been notified to the Commission in writing. If this cannot be confirmed, further details should be provided.

The licenceholder must confirm that the Commission has been notified in writing of all matters which may influence the continuance of the licence. If this cannot be confirmed, further details should be provided.

OTHER DOCUMENTATION WHICH FORMS PART OF THIS RETURN

	Document attached
<p>The following documents must accompany this return, where appropriate:</p> <p>Professional indemnity insurance policy:</p> <p>In the case of a trustee, a cover note or broker's letter confirming that the licenceholder is in compliance with the level required by rule 9.28 and includes the requirement statements set out in rule 9.28(3).</p> <p>In the case of a professional officer acting in a capacity other than a trustee, details of the insurance cover in place and how this is appropriate to his regulated activities.</p>	
<p>Have you remembered to sign and date the Declaration of Compliance at section 10 of the form? The declaration forms part of this return and should be signed by the licenceholder.</p>	

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Rule Book)

This Rule Book contains detailed rules to be complied with by the holders of licences under the Financial Services Act 2008 in carrying on regulated activities. It replaces the Financial Services Rule Book 2009, as amended.

Part 1 is introductory. Part 2 imposes requirements with respect to financial resources and reporting. Part 3 requires client money, trust money and relevant funds to be kept separate from a licenceholder's money. Part 4 deals with the safeguarding and safekeeping of clients' investments. Part 5 provides for the audit of licenceholders' accounts. Part 6 lays down standards for the conduct of business by licenceholders. Part 7 imposes requirements with regard to their administration, and Part 8 with risk management and internal control. Part 9 contains the rules for professional officers.